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Strategic Report
Credit Suisse (UK) Limited at a glance

Business Model

Entity Structure

Credit Suisse (UK) Limited (the ‘Bank' and ‘CSUK") is a private company limited by shares, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Credit Suisse AG ('CSAG') and an indirect subsidiary of Credit Suisse Group AG (‘CSG’). CSUK is authorised in the
United Kingdom (‘UK') by the Prudential Regulation Authority ('PRA") and is regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority (‘(FCA') and the PRA. CSUK is a bank domiciled in the United Kingdom ('UK").

CSG is a global financial service provider with a global Wealth Management (‘WM’) business, global Investment Bank
('IB") focused on advice and solutions, a Swiss Bank (‘SB'), and a multi-specialist Asset Management (‘AM’) business.
It is the ultimate parent of a worldwide group of companies (collectively referred to as the ‘CS group'). CSG prepares
financial statements under US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘US GAAP'). These financial statements are
publicly available and can be found at hitps://www.credit-suisse.com/about-us/en/investor-relations.html

CS group serves wealthy individuals and entrepreneurs, corporations, and institutions worldwide. In its home market,
Switzerland, it also serves a broader range of private, corporate, and institutional clients.

Until 31 December 2022, the CS group was organised into four divisions, WM, SB, AM and IB. Effective 1 January
2023, CS group is organised into five divisions ~ WM, SB, AM, IB and a new Capital Release Unit (‘CRU'). In 2023, CS
group's financial reporting will be presented as these five divisions together with the Corporate Centre.

CSUK is a Wealth Management business within the WM Division. CSUK offers comprehensive advisory services and
tailored investment and financing solutions to wealthy private clients and external asset managers in the UK, Continental
Europe, the Middle East and Africa, and Emerging Europe. CSUK has access to the broad spectrum of CS group global
resources and capabilities as well as a wide range of products and services. The UK has been identified as a growth
market for WM division.

Financial Statements

The CSUK Financial Statements are presented in Great British Pounds ('GBP’ and ‘S') which is the functional currency
of the Bank. They have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted intemational accounting standards (‘UK-adopted
IFRS) and the applicable legal requirements of the Companies Act 20086. In addition to complying with UK-adopted
IFRS, the consolidated financial statements also comply with intemational financial reporting standards adopted pursuant
to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union (‘EU-adopted IFRSs'). The Directors present
their Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 25 April 2023.

Strategy

Merger of CSG and UBS Group AG (‘UBS’)

On 19 March 2023, Credit Suisse Group AG and UBS Group AG entered into an agreement and plan of merger (‘the
merger'), to be completed at a date yet to be determined.

The strategic review announced by CSG on 27 October 2022 will not go ahead. CSUK's viability is dependent on the
finalisation of the merger and on decisions around the future plans for CSUK as part of the combined financial institution.

Prior to the merger, CSUK maintained its objective to be the wealth manager of choice to High Net Worth and Ultra
High Net Worth individuals whilst keeping to its core principles to grow the business in a sustainable and compliant way.



CSUK remains committed to build on the collaboration with 1B, leveraging the Bank's capabilities to service sophisticated
clients. CSUK undertakes its operations with heightened attention to ensuring compliant business conduct focused on
generating growth-through active and disciplined risk management.

CSUK continues to focus on a number of strategic priorities, including:

Fulfiling and delivering client value;

Continued focus on mandate sales;

Meeting clients' lending needs through a range of products including Lombard loans and mortgages; and
Offering sustainable client solutions.

o o o o

Operating Environment

CSUK is impacted by a range of political, macroeconomic, social, environmental, regulatory and accounting
developments. The operating environment continues to evolve rapidly resulting in the need for CSUK to continue
evaluating, assessing and adapting its strategy.

Political and Economic Environment
2022

Global economic activity has slowed to the extent that the global economy is close to falling into recession. Higher
interest rates, disruptions caused by Russia's invasion of Ukraine, and the after effects of the COVID-19 pandemic all
weigh heavily on the global economic outlook. These events have led to a squeeze on real incomes which have adversely
affected consumer sentiments and business investment around the world. The consequences of these developments
have increased the risk of recession within major economies including the UK and European Union ('EU").

The Bank of England ('BoE’) Monetary Policy Committee (‘MPC') sets monetary policy with the aim of meeting the 2%
inflation target, to help sustain growth and employment. The inflation rate at the end of December 2022 was 10.5%. To
control inflation, the MPC voted to increase the Bank's base rate by 0.6% to 4.0% on 2 February 2023 and by a further
0.25% to 4.25% on 23 March 2023 (31 December 2021: 0.25%).

As of 31 December 2022, the GBP exchange rate index against the USD was 120.56, a decrease of 10.7% since 31
December 2021. Nominal gross domestic product (‘'GDP') rose by 1.3% in Quarter 4 2022.

Looking forward

On 30 January 2023, the International Monetary Fund (‘IMF') forecasted the global economy to grow by 2.9% in 2023
and 3.1% in 2024, this is 0.3% lower for 2023 than forecasted at Q2 2022. The World Bank in January 2023 reports
estimates that the global economy is projected to grow by 1.7% in 2023 down from the 3% it predicted six months ago,
the sharp downtumn in growth is expected to be widespread across advanced and developing economies.

CSUK will continue to monitor developments in this dynamic operating environment.
Regulatory Environment

The Bank continues to monitor and adapt to ongoing changes in the regulatory environment, in particular it is working to
address:
® Managing the financial and non-financial risks from climate change to ensure that climate risk is established in

business strategies, decision-making, risk management frameworks and risk-taking.

* The new Consumer Duty Act, which is a strategic priority for the FCA, and imposes a higher and more exacting
standard of conduct in relation to a firm's retail market business. It has a broad application and requires the
Bank to act to continue delivering good outcomes for retail clients, thereby ensuring higher standards of
consumer protection.



There were a number of new regulatory requirements that the Bank adhered to during 2022 including:

The Central Securities Depositories Regulation (CSDR) went live from February 2022 and, as custodians of
European securities, required the Bank to improve securities settlement and increase standardisation across
depositories.

The PRA's supervisory statement on outsourcing and third-party risk management went live from March 2022
and required extensive uplift of intra-group and extemal otitsourcing processes with robust controls, oversight
and governance. :

The FCA's policy statement on building operational résilience went live from March 2022.

The first requirements for the FCA's policy statement on strengthening our financial promotion rules for high-
risk investments and firms approving financial promotions went live from December 2022 and required
enhanced risk warnings for financial promotion materials.

All London interbank offered rate ('LIBOR') referencing facilities were contractually migrated in 2021, with the final
facilities rolling onto Altemative Reference Rates ('ARR') rates by the end of Q1 2022.



Performance

Key Performance Indicators (‘KPls’)

The Bank uses a range of KPls that are critical to the successful management of its business and the achievement of its
objectives. The KPls incorporate both financial and non-financial measures and can be mapped to each of the Bank's
strategic priorities.

2022 2021
Earnings and Profitability
Profit before tax (€ m) 21.4 10.9
Provision for Expected Credit Losses ('ECL") for Loans (£ m) 45 8.8
Cost-to-Income Ratio 81% 90%
Capital
Risk Weighted Assets ('RWA") (€ m)' 1,124 1,336
Tier 1 and Common Equity Tier 1 ('CET1!) Capital (£ m) 330 336
Tier 1 and CET1 Capital Ratio® ' 29.39% 25.17%
Liquidity
Liquidity Buffer’ (£ m) 568 1,077
Liquidity Coverage Ratio ('LCR') 216.40% 215.61%
Net Stable Funding Ratio ('NSFR") 131.72% 121.97%
Business volumes :
Net New Assets ('NNA') (& m) ) -1,332 1,782
Assets under Management ('AuM') (€ m) 10,153 12,985
Credit Volume® (€ m) 3,276 3,947
Non-financial
Number of Relationship Managers® 35 49
Mandate Penetration® (%) 38 37
Female representation in leadership team (%) 37 40

1 2021 RWA is restated, with 2021 audited profits included within the Operational Risk RWA calculation.

2 CET1 and Tier1 Capital ratio includes the audited profits each for 2021 and 2022. Capital ratios for 2021 are restated for (1) above.
3 Liquidity Buffer as at the end of the reporting period fully comprises High Quality Liquid Assets ("HQLA').

4 Credit Volume includes gross loans (mainly Mortgage and Lombard loans) managed by CSUK Relationship Managers.

6 Number of Relationship Managers as at the end of the reporting period. The average number of employees can be found in Note 26.

6 Represents the percentage of AuM that is in a discretionary or advisory mandate.

Earnings and Profitability

CSUK reported profit before tax of £21.4m for the year ended 31 December 2022, increased 96% compared to 2021,
mainly due to fully impairing the goodwill balance of £13.8m in 2021.

Overall net CSUK revenues are £112.5m in 2022 versus £107.9m in 2021. Revenues increased primarily due to net
interest income driven by higher GBP interest rate margins, however on a deleveraged loan portfolio. During the year,
CSUK continued to leverage the capabilities of the CS group with £10.7m of commission and fee income from other
IWM businesses across the CS group (2021: £11m) and £6.1m from collaboration with the IB (2021: £5.5m).

Operating expenses in 2022 are £91.1m versus £97.0m in 2021. Excluding the goodwill write off of £13.8m, operating
expenses increased by £7.9m, primarily due to higher professional service charges and IT costs.

The Bank’s total ECL provision as at 31 December 2022 is £4.5m (2021: £8.8m) against £1.7bn (2021: £2.0bn) of
loans. The ECL on credit impaired Stage 3 loans is £2.9m (2021: £7.2m) on total loans of £106m (2021: £177.5m).
This reflects the low credit risk of the underlying loan book, due to the strength of the collateral and the low Loan to
Value ('LTV') ratios across the portfolio. The Bank incurred the following taxes in the UK during 2022: Bank Levy of



£0.6m (2021: £0.6m), Employer's Social Security of £4.6m (2021: £5.0m) and irrecoverable UK Value Added Tax of
£2.3m (2021: £2.1m). CSUK has not paid, or received a refund, of corporation tax in 2022 (2021: tax refund £1.1m).

Capital

The CET1 ratio as at 31 December 2022 of 29.39% remains well in excess of minimum requirements. RWAs
decreased year on year primarily on account of repayments in exposures secured by mortgages and lombard credit
during 2022. The Bank's leverage ratio as at 31 December 2022 is 11.40% (2021: 9.30%), well in excess of minimum
requirements,

The Bank is required at all times to monitor and demonstrate compliance with the relevant regulatory capital
requirements of the PRA. The Bank has in place robust processes and controls to monitor and manage the Bank's
capital adequacy. In addition, CSUK has an established risk appetite for capital approved by the Board that ensures an
appropriate buffer is maintained over and above the minimum regulatory requirements at all times.

An Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ('ICAAP') is undertaken to assess the adequacy of the Bank's
capitalisation in respect of its principal risks, and this process includes stress testing using a number of challenging
scenarios, reverse stress testing and scenario analysis. The results of the ICAAP are approved by the Board.

The Bank's capital structure during 2022 is set out in Note 21 - Share Capital and Share Premium. Pillar 3 disclosures
required under Capital Requirement Regulation ('CRR') for CSUK can be found separately at www.credit-suisse.com,
including detail of the leverage ratio calculation. '

Liquidity
The Bank's liquidity position is monitored and managed in accordance with a variety of liquidity risk metrics. The Bank
ensures it meets the requirements of the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (‘LCR’) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (‘NSFR"),

which have liquidity horizons up to 30 and 365 days, respectively. These regulatory minimum requirements are
supplemented by an internal liquidity risk model, which establishes internal liquidity requirements at various time horizons.

Overall, HQLA decreased to £0.6bn as at 31 December 2022 in response to lower Client deposits and in support of
Parent liquidity. Cash holdings increased to £37m. The Bank's average NSFR as at 31 December 2022 is 131.72%
(2021: 121.97%). The Bank's average LCR as at 31 December 2022 was 216.40% (2021: 215.61%).

Liquidity risk management and the Bank's funding are assessed through the annual Internal Liquidity Adequacy
Assessment Process ('ILAAP'). The purpose of the ILAAP is to identify and measure liquidity and funding risks across
different time horizons and stress scenarios, including an assessment of the adequacy of contingent funding
arrangements, consistent with the risk appetite established by CSUK's management and approved by the Board.

CSUK maintains a strong liquidity position and also has a letter of intent from CSAG, dated 30 March 2023, ensuring
CSUK can meet its debt obligations and maintain a sound financial position over the next 18 months.

Business volumes

Assets under Management ('AuM') decreased by £2.8bn largely due to negative NNA (‘Net New Assets') of £1.3bn,
foreign exchange and structural impact of £0.9bn and the balance due to market movements. The decrease in Credit
Volume is due to the both Lombard and Mortgage loan repayments.



Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Material Risks

CSUK has established a risk framework designed to manage the full range of risks inherent in its business strategy.
Within that framework, two of the most material risks for the Bank are credit risk and operational (or non-financial) risk
and they attract the majority of our regulatory capital requirements. The other material risks for CSUK are business risk,
capital risk, group risk, model risk, reputational risk, sustainability (including climate) risk, treasury and liquidity risk. All of
the material risks are covered in the following table and further risk drivers deemed to be significant in 2022 are covered
in the second table. As part of the Risk Appetite framework, the Bank manages and monitors its risks though specific
risk appetites.

Under the Basel framework, we are required to maintain a robust and comprehensive framework for assessing capital
adequacy and ensuring that capital is consistent with our overall risk profile and the current operating environment. The
Bank’s capital management framework is designed to ensure that we meet all regulatory capital requirements and the
CSUK Asset Liability Management Capital Adequacy and Risk Management Committee ('ALM CARMC') reviews the
current capital adequacy position as well as a forecast position to identify any potential adverse movements which could
require management action. Further details are provided in Note 30 - Financial instruments risk position and additional
detail on capital management is provided in the Pillar 3 disclosures, for CSUK these can be found separately at
www.credit-suisse.com.

Material Risks

e P S

~ MATERIAL RISK AREA

Business Risk Business risk is identified initially through the financial and capital planning process,
. o . . where the Chief Financial Officer ('CFO") reviews and challenges the proposed
Business risk is the risk of underperforming yginess strategy and articulates the financial consequences of proposed business
against financial objectives as a result of revenue  ;ctivities and volumes. As necessary, the bank's senior management identifies
shortfalls and/or cost target overruns. Including  gyerays to the outcome of financial planning to ensure a prudent result and to reflect
the risk that financial targets may be missed due  the execution risk associated with the Bank's strategy. Business risk is managed by
to failures to adapt or adverse outcomes of fisk-  he CEQ and the Executive Committee and monitored as part of regular financial
taking business initiatives. 4re’gor‘cing to the Audit Committee and Board. Such reporting includes a number of
KPls that measure the quality of earnings (through the presentation of normalised,
underlying results and metrics), trends in performance and progress against budget.
gertain strategic metrics are also monitored as part of regular reporting to the Risk

ommittee.

HOW RISKS ARE MANAGED

B ===

Capital Risk The Credit Suisse group ('CS group') considers a strong and efficient capital position
TR . to be a priority. Consistent with this, CSUK closely monitors its capital position on a
Capital risk is the risk that the bank does not  continuing basis to ensure ongoing stability and support of its business activities.
maintain adequate capital to support its activities  This monitoring takes account of the requirements of the current regulatory regime
while exceeding its regulatory requirements and  3ng any forthcoming changes to the capital framework. Capital risk is measured and
meeting its intemal capital goals. Including the  monitored through regular capital acﬁequacy reporting produced by the Basel
risk of the mismatch between available resources  Measurement & Reporting team (‘BMR') and provided to management to ensure the
and capital demand. drivers of movements in capital adequacy are identified and understood. CSUK ALM
CARMC reviews the current capital adequacy position as well as a forecast position
to identify any potential adverse movements in the ratio that could require
management action. Annual]ly, the ICAAP assesses the adequac¥ of capital in both
benign and during a range of plausible, adverse stress scenarios. The ICAAP is used
to support business decision-making and informs management of what reasonable
management actions may be necessary to restore the capital position, if required,
during times of economic stress. Capital risk is managed through two main levers:
management of the lending pipeline to reduce credit risk capital requirements; and

via capital injection requests to the shareholders to increase capital resources.

Credit risk arises principally from the Bank's lending business, comprising residential
. o ) and commercial mortgage products and loans secured against diversified portfolios
Credit Risk refers to potential financial loss as a  of securities and lending. The Bank uses a credit risk management framework which
result of a borrower or counterparty failing to  provides for the consistent evaluation, measurement, and management of credit risk
meet its financial obligations or as a result of a  across the Bank. Credit risk is mitigated by conservative lending criteria, including
deterioration in the credit quality of the borrower  strict affordability tests, low Loan-to-Value (‘LTV') ratios and collateral held as
or counterparty. security.

" CreditRisk




MATERIAL RISK AREA

Group Risk

The risk that the financial position of a firm may
be adversely affected by its relationships
(financial or non-financial) with other entities in
the same group or by risk which may affect the
financial position of the whole group, including
reputational contagion. These may manifest
themselves as other material risks.

Model Risk

Model risk is the potential for financial loss,
negative reputational impact and/or adverse
regulatory action from decisions made based on
mode! outputs that may be incorrect or used
inappropriately

Non-Financial Risk

Non-Financial risk is the risk of an adverse direct
or indirect impact originating from sources
outside the financial markets, including but not
limited to operational risk, technology risk, cyber
risk, compliance risk, financial crime risk,
regulatory risk, legal risk and conduct risk. Non-
financial risk is inherent in most aspects of our
business, including the systems and processes
that support our activities. It comprises a large
number of disparate risks that can manifest in a
variety of ways.

Reputational Risk

Reputational risk is the risk arising from negative
perception on the part of our stakeholders
(clients, counterparties, shareholders, investors,
employees, regulators) that can adversely affect
our ability to maintain existing, or establish new,
business relationships and continued access to
sources of funding.

HOW RISKS ARE MANAGED
The main sources of Group risk for the Bank are:

Capital: CSUK is a 100% owned subsidiary of CS group but is not reliant on group
for its capital requirements over the timeframe of its 3 Kear financial plan. The Board
retains full discretion over any repayment of capital back to group.

Unsecured Funding: CS group %rovides funding typically in GBP on short to
medium-terms to ensure that CSUK manages its interest rate risk exposure and
maintains sufficient liquid assets. Intra-group unsecured fundingAis managed as part
of a group-wide treasury governance framework. A CSUK ALM CARMC convenes
on a quarterly basis to assess the ongoing adequacy of financial resources and to
ensure that potential funding issues are assessed and escalated appropriately.

Reputation: The Bank is branded as a CS legal entity and could be impacted by
reputational issues affecting other group legal entities. Reputational issues could
cause a decline in the customer base, litigation or revenue reductions. For example,
a credit rating downgrade of the parent legal entity could result in a higher cost of
funding as depositors could view CSUK as a less favourable bank with which to
place deposits and CSUK may be required to pay higher deposit rates to retain
deposits to fund its balance sheet. The CS group has a global apfgroach to identify,
assess and manage reputational risks. The Group Reputational Risk Committee is
where reputational risk matters from a CS group and regional perspective are
reviewed and assessed and escalated as required.

Infrastructure: CSUK is dependent on a variety of CS group services (Corporate
Functions) to carry out its core activities of financial advisory, management services
and credit solutions. These include, but are not limited to, IT, HR, Compliance,
Finance and Risk. CorEcAr:te Functions are governed through appropriate service-
level agreements ('SLAs') and have senior accountable executives directly
responsible in respect of CSUK. Such functions operate from other legal entities to
ensure operational continuity. Failures of the people, processes and systems
operating on behalf of CSUK within the Corporate Functions are considered as part
of the Operational Risk assessment.

CSUK is supported by the Model Risk Management (‘MoRM") function within group
CRO who is responsible for reviewing all models used firm-wide (and therefore within
CSUK), setting and enforcing model governance standards, performing independent
technical validation, measuring and managing the model risk, and reporting on model
risk to senior management and supervisors.

Effective management of Non-Financial risk requires a common framework that
focuses on the early identification, recording, assessment, monitoring, prevention
and mitigation of non-financial risks, as well as timely and meaningful management
reporting.

The CS Non-Financial Risk Framework ('"NFRF') provides a structured approach to
managing non-financial risks. [t seeks to applr consistent standards and techniques
for evaluating risks across the CS group while providing individual businesses with
sufficient flexibility to tailor specific components to their own needs.

Business areas take responsibility for their non-financial risk management and are
supported by non-financial risk teams who are responsible for the implementation of
the risk management framework, methodologies and reporting.

CS group-wide tools are employed including risk appetite tolerance statements in
the main areas of NFR (Rules Z Regulations, People, Process, Cyber & Systems,
Clients & Markets, Governance and Outsourcing), reporting of 'top' non-financial
risks; utilising non-financial risk registers; risk and control indicators; risk and control
self-assessments ('RCSAs'"); compliance risk assessments ('CRA"), financial crime
risk assessments (‘FCRA'), analysis of interal non-financial risk incident data;
review of external loss data; and non-financial risk scenario development.

CSUK values its reputation and is committed fully to protecting it through a prudent
approach to risk-taking and a responsible approach to its business activities.
Reputational risk arising from proposed business transactions and client activity is
assessed in the Reputational Risk Review Process ('RRRP'). The Bank's global
policy on reputational risk requires employees to be conservative when assessing
potential reputational impact and, where certain indicators give rise to potential
reputational risk, the relevant business proposal or service must be submitted
through the RRRP.

10
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MATERIAL RISK AREA

HOW RISKS ARE MANAGED

Sustainability (Including Climate)

Potentially adverse impacts on the environment,
on people or society, which may be caused by,
contributed to or directly linked to financial service
providers through the activities of their clients.

CSUK has put in place a framework to manage climate risk:

Govemance: CSUK's Chief Risk Officer ('CRQO") is the Senior Manager resFonsibIe
for Climate Risk. The Board Risk Committee provide oversight on behalt of the
Board for climate-related risks, the PRA's requirements and the Bank's framework
to address them.

Risk management: Climate-related risks are now included in the Group-wide risk
taxonomy. These risks, alongside other environmental and social risks, are
considered within the Group-wide Reputational Risk Review process ('RRRP").

Physical risks can arise from climate and weather-related events (e.g., heatwaves,
droughts, floods, storms and sea-level rise) and can potentially result in material
financial losses, impairing asset values and the creditworthiness of borrowers.
CSUK's primary exposure to physical climate risk is through the property collateral
for its portfolio of commercial and residential real estate loans.

Transitional risks can arise from the process of adjustment towards a low carbon
economy through changes in climate policy, technological developments and
disruptive business models, and shifting investor and consumer sentiment. CSUK is
exposed to climate transition risk through client portfolios on which we charge
management and custody fees and, in some cases, against which we issue
Lombard loans.

CSUK would be able to react swiftly to emerging climate-related risks; mortgage
lending is t?/pically on a 5-year basis so decisions to renew loans can be made in the
context of latest climate risks. The vast majority of CSUK mortgage properties sit in
low or no river flood risk areas, with only a very small proportion in medium risk
areas. No properties are located in high river flood risk areas. The risk of flood from
surface water is generally higher, but is also more geographically confined and
affected by local terrain. Lombard loans secured against companies that are
impacted by climate change can be managed by adjusting approved LTVs. As
uncommitted facilities they can be withdrawn at relatively short notice.

CSUK has set a climate linked risk appetite, leveraging the Group's internal metrics,
developed for the Financial Stability Board's "Taskforce on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures" (‘'TCFD') program, and analysis from the Global Climate Risk team.

Scenario analysis: CSUK has used both internal tools and those developed by UN
Environment Programme Finance Initiative (‘'UNEP-FI') to assess forward IookinE
flood and surface risk on our portfolio. We have also developed transition ris
financial scenarios which assess climate impacts on Lombard lending collateral.

Disclosure: In 2018, CS %_roup established a climate changlt_e program to address the
recommendations of the TCFD. CSUK engages with the TCFD, and other industry
initiatives such as the work of the United Nations Environment Program Financial
Institutions working group, through the group climate change program but does not
need to disclose TCFD metrics until 2023.

For more information on CS group approach to climate related financial disclosure,
see www.credit-suisse.com/climate.

"#?reasury and Liquidity Risk

The risk that a firm is running large unhedged
structural interest rate, FX and other ALM &
Treasury Risk positions that impact its eamings
and / or capital strength, as well as the firm’s
ability to efficiently meet both expected and
unexpected current and future cash flow and
collateral requirements without affecting either
?aily operations or the financial condition of the
irm.

CSUK's Liquidity risk is managed as an integral part of the overall CS groﬁ?? lobal

liquidity risk management framework, which also includes UK local regulatory
compliance requirements. Such compliance requirements are measured as part of
the PRA's Individual Liquidity Guidance ('ILG") resulting in requirements for CSUK to
hold term-funding and a local liquidity asset buffer of qualitying high quality liquid
assets ('HQLA") and cash.

Interest rate risk exposures in the non-trading positions (synonymously used to the
term “Banking Book”) mainly arise from retail ankin_?, and related funding activities,
with the majority of interest rate risk managed by Treasury centrally on a portfolio
basis within apﬁroved limits using appropriate hedging strategies. The risks
associated with the non-tradin? interest rate-sensitive portfolios are measured usin:
a range of tools, including the following key metrics: Interest rate sensitivity (‘DVOI%
and Economic value scenario analysis. CSUK manages mismatch between current
loans and deposits through maintaining a low level of interest rate mismatches. In
cases where the mismatch is larger, it is offset through intercompany repurchase
agreement transactions with Credit Suisse Intemational ('CSi').

11



Risk Drivers

CSUK is closely monitoring the following key risks and global economic developments and the potential effects on our
operations and business.

Liquidity risk

During early fourth quarter of 2022, Credit Suisse began experiencing significantly higher withdrawals of cash deposits as well as
non-renewal of maturing time deposits. However, as the quarter progressed, these outflows stabilised to much lower levels. These
outflows led the bank to partially utilise liquidity buffers at the CS group and legal entity level. The regulatory Pillar 1 requirements
under the LCR and the NSFR were maintained at all times for CSUK. Remediation plans were prepared, initiated and implemented
by CS group to mitigate these outflows, including accessing the public and private markets. The execution of these actions and other
deleveraging measures, including but not limited to in the noncore businesses, was also expected to strengthen liquidity ratios and,
over time, reduce funding requirements. CSUK was able to rely on intra-group funding to support the legal entity as it experienced
outflows from its clients.

However, in March 2023, confidence in CS group had not been restored and deposit outflows resumed at unsustainable levels,
leading CSG and UBS to enter into a merger agreement. The SNB also provided a liquidity facility to CS group, which improved
CSUK’s liquidity position to levels comfortably above all regulatory limits, in excess of those prior to the start of the Q4 2022 stress.
CSUK continues to monitor the situation closely and perform regular stress tests under various scenarios covering idiosyncratic and
market stresses to monitor and manage the liquidity risk profile.

People Risk

The Bank’s employees are one of its most important resources. The risk that employees will decide to leave has become particularly
elevated as a result of the planned merger with UBS and management is currently focussed on mitigating and managing this risk as
part of its merger integration preparations.

Inflation concerns and recession risk

In the major economies annual inflation rates stayed far above central bank target levels for most of 2022 but started to decrease at
the end of 2022. In early 2023, energy prices eased and the improved functioning of supply chains reduced the upward pressure on
prices of goods. However, price pressures have transitioned to the services sector while low unemployment rates have pushed
wages up. The Federal Reserve (‘The Fed’) and other major central banks have slowed the pace of monetary policy tightening in late
2022 and early 2023, but central banks have continued to stress that policy interest rates may be further increased. Further
significant increases in interest rates cany the risk of triggering a recession. CSUK's clients are relatively immune to recessionary
conditions given their asset and wealth profile but CSUK continues to monitor the business for potential impacts.

Russia's invasion of Ukraine

In response to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in late February 2022, the US, EU, UK, Switzedand and other countries across the world
imposed severe sanctions against Russia’s financial system and on Russian govemment officials and Russian business leaders.
Sanctions imposed since February 2022 included cutting access of certain Russian banks to the SWIFT financial messaging service,
freezing foreign exchange reserves and placing restrictions on transactions with the Russian central bank, prohibitions on new
investments in Russia, sanctions on Russian financial institutions, sanctions on major state-owned enterprises, sanctions on certain
Russian government officials and their family members, sanctions on business elites, capital markets-related restrictions, deposit-
related limitations, implementation of a cap on the price of Russian crude oil and petroleum products, and prohibition on the provision
of certain professional services to Russia. The Russian government has also imposed certain countermeasures, which include
restrictions relating to foreign cumrency accounts and financial securities transactions. These measures followed earlier sanctions that
had already been imposed by the US, EU and UK in 2021 in response to alleged Russian activities related to Syria, Cybersecurity,
electoral interference and other matters, including the prohibition of US banks from participating in the primary market for any
Russian sovereign bonds or any lending to the Russian sovereign, as well as other restrictions imposed following Russia's annexation
of Crimea in 2014 relating to new debt or equity of certain Russian banks and energy companies. CSUK are continuously assessing
the impact of sanctions already imposed, Russian government countermeasures and potential future escalations, on our exposures
and client relationships but up to now the impact on CSUK has not been material.

Cyber risk

The financial industry continues to be increasingly reliant on technology, faces dynamic cyber threats from a variety of actors and
new technology vulnerabilities are being discovered. Credit Suisse continues to invest in its information and cybersecurity programs in
order to strengthen its ability to anticipate, detect, defend against and recover from cyber attacks. CSUK regulary assesses the
effectiveness of its key controls and conduct ongoing employee training and awareness activities, including for key management
personnel, in order to seek to strengthen resilience of our systems and promote a strong cyber risk culture.

Climate change

The relevance of climate-related risks, both transitional risks and physical risks, continues to grow. Credit Suisse has continued to
expand its Group-wide climate approach, which is anchored in its overarching sustainability strategy, and has made significant
progress in analysing and integrating climate-related considerations into its risk management approach. Among our key initiatives,
frameworks have been enhanced to address evolving regulatory initiatives at both group and legal entity level, including the
expansion of our quantitative analysis and review of our risk appetite. As CS Group aim to contribute our part to limit the impacts of
climate-related transitional and physical risks, CSUK continues to undertake efforts to address climate change and build a climate-
resilient business mode!, with our climate efforts being centered around our ambition to reach net zero emissions by 2050 in line with
a 1.6°C trajectory across its financing activities as well as its own operations and supply chain. CS Group also committed to
developing interim science-based 2030 goals for key sectors and to defining the corresponding transition strategies that are required
to enable achievement of these goals. CSUK will align its strategy to support CS Group in meeting these targets where appropriate.
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Risk Management

Overview

The Bank's risk management framework is based on transparency, management accountability and independent
oversight. Risk management plays an important role in the Bank’s business planning process and is strongly supported
by senior management and the Board. The primary objective of risk management is to protect the Bank's financial
strength and reputation and the interests of clients, stakeholders and employees, while ensuring that capital and liquidity
are well deployed to support business activities in a regulatory compliant manner and grow shareholder value.

The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of CSUK's risk management and systems of
financial and internal control. These are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of not achieving business
objectives, and, as such, offer reasonable but not absolute assurance against fraud, material misstatement and loss. The
Board of Directors considers that adequate systems and controls are in place with regard to CSUK's risk profile and
strategy and an appropriate array of assurance mechanisms, properly resourced and skilled, is in place to avoid or
minimise loss.

Risk Governance

Effective risk governance sets a solid foundation for comprehensive risk management discipline. The Bank's risk
govemance framework is based on a “three lines of defence” governance model, where each line has a specific role with
defined responsibilities and works in close collaboration to identify, assess and mitigate risks. Further information is
provided in the Corporate Governance section:

¢ The first line of defence is the front office and business units, who are responsible for pursuing suitable
business opportunities within the strategic risk objectives and compliance requirements of CSUK. lts primary
responsibilities are to ensure compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, to maintain effective
internal controls and to manage risk within the agreed risk appetites. First Line of Defence Support (‘FLDS’)
reports to the CSUK Chief Operating Officer (‘\COQ"). Its objectives are to ensure that existing and emerging
risks in CSUK's business are identified and that controls are established to effectively mitigate and manage
these risks.

e The second line of defence includes functions such as Risk, Compliance and Financial Crime Compliance
('FCC"). It articulates standards and expectations for the effective management of risk and controls, including
advising on applicable legal and regulatory requirements and publishing related policies, and monitoring and
assessing compliance with regulatory and intemal standards. The second line of defence is separate from the
front office and its independent control functions are also responsible for reviewing, measuring and challenging
front office activities and producing independent assessments and risk management reporting for senior
management and regulatory authorities.

¢ The third line of defence is internal audit, which monitors the effectiveness of controls across various functions
and operations, including risk management, compliance and governance practices.

Risk Organisation

The prudent taking of risk in line with the Bank's strategic priorities is fundamental to its business as part of a leading
global banking group. To meet the challenges in a fast changing industry with new market players and innovative and
complex products, the Bank seeks to continuously strengthen the risk function, which is independent of but closely
interacts with the businesses.

The Bank’s risk management framework is based on transparency, management accountability and independent
oversight. Risk management plays an important role in the Bank's business planning process and is strongly supported
by senior management and the Board. The primary objectives of risk management are to protect the Bank's financial
strength and reputation, while ensuring that capital and liquidity are well deployed to support business activities in a
regulatory compliant manner, and grow shareholder value.

13



Risk Functions

Risks arise in all of CSUK's business activities and cannot be completely eliminated, but they are monitored and
managed through its limits, policies and internal control environment to the Bank's agreed risk appetite. CSUK's risk
management organisation is aligned to the specific nature of the various risks to ensure that risks are taken within risk
appetite and set in a transparent and timely manner.

The Bank’s second line of defence is led by the CRO and the Chief Compliance Officer ('CCO’), who report to the
Bank's CEO and, respectively, to CS Group Wealth Management Chief Risk Officer (‘WM CRQ') and Chief Compliance
Officer ("WM CCO') management.

The CCO is responsible for monitoring and setting risk appetite for conduct risk and regulatory risk. In addition the CCO
has responsibility for financial crime risk via the Money Laundering Reporting Officer ("MLRO'). The CRO is responsible
for overseeing the Bank's risk profile across all other risk types. In combination, the CRO and CCO are responsible for
providing oversight and establishing a framework and policies to monitor and manage all risk matters.

Chief Risk Officer ('CRO")

To manage the material risks, the CRO function comprises of:

¢ Credit Risk Management is responsible for approving credit limits, monitoring, and managing individual exposures,
and assessing and managing the quality of credit portfolios;

* Market Risk Management is responsible for managing FX and-interest rate exposures to specific risk thresholds;

* Non-Financial Risk Management (‘NFRM') is responsible for the identification, assessment and monitoring of
operational risks relating to systems, people and processes and external events;

* Reputational Risk Management is key to identifying both intemal and external incidents which may result in damage
to the Bank's reputation; and

® Treasury & Liquidity Risk Management is responsible for assessing and monitoring the non-traded market and
liquidity risk profiles of the Bank and recommending corrective action, where necessary.

These areas form part of a matrix management structure with reporting lines into both the CRO and the relevant CS
Group Risk Head.

Furthermore, an Enterprise Risk Management ('ERM") function is responsible for covering cross-business and cross-
functional approaches towards identifying and measuring risks as well as defining and managing risk appetite levels. The
ERM function is also responsible for coverage of material risks without a dedicated risk management function such as
Business Risk, Capital Risk, Model Risk and Sustainability (incl Climate Risk) .

The CRO, on behalf of the Board, is responsible for providing risk management oversight and establishing an
organisational basis to manage all risk management matters through its primary risk functions. In addition, the Bank's
CRO Function leverages support from central Group Risk functions to assist with the management of model risk (relating
primarily to the use of models in the ICAAP, ILAAP and the estimation of Expected Credit Loss), cyber and technology
risk.

Chief Compliance Officer ('CCQO")

The Bank's Compliance function, headed by the CSUK Chief Compliance Officer, is responsible for providing
compliance advice, monitoring and support in respect of all activities of CSUK and for providing effective and robust
challenge as it assists senior management in effectively. managing compliance and conduct risks. It advises on
Compliance rules and regulations, including informing management and employees of relevant developments to enable
them to comply with their regulatory obligations.

The CSUK Compliance function fulfills its responsibilities by establishing relevant policies and procedures, delivering
training and education programmes, providing day to day compliance advice, overseeing the implementation of
monitoring, surveillance and testing programmes, and escalating potential compliance and/or control issues to the CSUK
Executive Committee and the CSUK Board Risk Committee. The Compliance coverage team provides advice and
support to senior management in managing and mitigating compliance related risks faced by CSUK.
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Compliance responsibility encompasses, amongst other items, the following:

®  Conduct matters including: i) investor protection (suitability and appropriateness); i) markets rules (i.e. Market
Abuse, Inside information, best execution and conflicts of interest) and Employee compliance matters (outside
interests, personal account trading)
Cross-border

®  Regulatory Compliance in relation to Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (‘MiFID'); Conduct of Business
Rules ('CBOs'), Mortgage Conduct Rules ('MCOBs'), Consumer Duty rules amongst others

®  Marketing materials and financial promotions

¢ Fraud and data theft

In relation to its responsibilities to oversee and report on conduct risks, the CCO function chairs the Conduct Review
Panel, attended by representatives from CRO, FLDS and Human Resources ("HR'). CCO is responsible for ensuring
matters are progressed through the internal conduct review process where appropriate and where necessary refers to.
the UK Conduct and Ethics Review Panel for further determination. The CCO function will determine when it is
necessary to refer matters to the Compliance Investigations team for formal investigation. The CCO function monitors
key risk indicators contained within the CSUK Conduct Risk Appetite and reports any breaches of agreed tolerances to
the CSUK Board Risk Committee.

The CSUK compliance function is supported by other Compliance functions including but not limited to Compliance Core
Sevices (including monitoring, testing, trade surveillance and anti-fraud) and CCO Investigations.

Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”)

CCO is supported by the Money Laundering Reporting Officer whose responsibilities include (but are not limited to)
oversight and implementation of the UK legislation with regards to financial crime, Proceeds of Crime Act ('POCA'), UK
Bribery Act, etc, researching and providing advice in relation to high risk client types including Politically Exposed
Persons (‘PEP") relationships and those with heightened financial crime related reputational risks.

FCC fulfills its responsibilities by ensuring that there are appropriate and proportionate risk management systems and
controls in place to counter the risk that the entity might be used to further financial crime, overseeing the
implementation of an adequate monitoring, surveillance and testing programme, specific to Anti-Money Laundering
(‘AML") , Sanctions, Anti-Bribery and Corruption (‘ABC') and Financial Crime prevention, and providing guidance and
training to CSUK employees in relation to financial crime matters. FCC receive disclosures under the UK legislation with
regards to suspicions and assessing whether they need to be reported to the appropriate external authorities.

Risk Appetite

The Bank’s financial risk management objectives and policies and the exposure of the CSUK to credit risk, liquidity risk
market risk and capital risk are outlined in Note 30 - Financial Instruments Risk Position.

The Bank maintains a comprehensive risk appetite framework, which is governed by a global policy, providing a robust
foundation for risk appetite setting and management. A key element of the framework is a detailed statement of the
Board-approved risk appetite which is aligned to the Bank’s financial and capital plans. The framework also
encompasses the processes and systems for assessing the appropriate level of risk appetite required to constrain our
overall risk profile.

CSUK's risk appetite establishes a direct link between its strategy and performance management, its risk management
and its capital structure. This approach ensures that CSUK incorporates risk factors in decision making, so that actions
are compatible with an agreed appetite for risk.
* Risk thresholds are identified for all key risks identified by the risk management process. This will determine the
specific maximum or residual risk, as appropriate, that CSUK is willing to accept for each risk category;
¢ Risk thresholds may be established to monitor the actual risk against limits or guidelines, with any breaches
triggering appropriate review and corrective actions, if required.

Within the bounds of the overall risk appetite of CSUK, as defined by the limits set by the Board, the CSUK Risk
Committee (‘RC’) and CRO are responsible for setting specific risk thresholds deemed necessary to manage the
concentration of risk within individual lines of business and across counterparties.
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CSUK defines its appetite for risk through its risk appetite process. Risk constraints are established by key risk category
and reported to the CSUK RC and to the Board of Directors. These risk categories are constantly reviewed as part of
CSUK's ongoing risk assessment process.
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Corporate Responsibility
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (‘SECR’)

CSUK, as part of CS group, is committed to enabling a more environmentally sustainable economy and recognises
climate change as one of the most significant risks facing the planet. The UK Govemment's guidance on SECR provides
an opportunity to focus on energy and carbon associated with UK operations and CSUK's share thereof. The table
below states the Credit Suisse UK facilities, fleet, rental car and private car electricity and fuel consumption, plus the
associated carbon emissions. The figures have been produced in line with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol calculation and
disclosure methodology. CSUK consumption and emissions are also stated apportioned on an FTE basis. The objectives
of CS group are made at the CS group level and then fittered down into both the regions and entities, including CSUK.
The process is centrally managed by CS group and all metrics collated at a CS group level. The metrics are then
analysed to identify both the UK and CSUK portion.

UK SECR Disclosure 2022
2022 2021 revised'
Disclosures
UK CSUK UK CSUK

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh) 68,842,602| 4,705,220 75,010,496 5,244,120
Facility Energy Use (KWh) 68,829,252 4,704,308 74,941,781| 5,239,316
Transport Energy Use (kWh) 13,350 912 68,715 4,804
Emissions from stationary combustion of gas (Scope 1) 563 38 202 14
Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes (Scope 1) — - - -
Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-owned 8 1 48 3
vehicles where company is responsible for purchasing the fuel

(Scope 3)

Emissions from purchased electricity (Scope 2, location-based) 12,882 880 15,478 1,082
Emissions from purchased electricity (Scope 2, market-based)” 10 1 68 5
Total gross location-based CO2e based on above 13,453 919 15,728 1,099
Total gross market-based CO2%e based on above 581 40 318 22
GHG Intensity ({CO2e gross location-based GHG emissions/FTE ) 4 4 4 4

1 2021 GHG emissions have been restated because energy consumption of leased sites has been removed as it is outside the reporting boundary in line the SECR Reporting Guidelines;
and CS Group has made improvements in both data collection and calculations to improve the accuracy of its emissions.
2 Note that biogenic emissions associated with UK consumption of biomass-derived electricity total 2,022 1CO2. CSUK's share was 138 tCO2e.

Methodology, Changes and Restatements

Credit Suisse follows the World Resources Institute (‘WRI') and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development (‘WBCSD") in the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (GHG Protocol Corporate
Standard). For emissions from purchased or acquired electricity (scope 2 emissions), CSUK follows the GHG Protocol
Scope 2 Guidance: An amendment to the GHG Protocol Corporate Standard. For scope 3 emissions, CSUK adheres to
the WRI/WBCSD's Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (GHG Protocol Scope 3
Standard). Scope 1 emissions include natural gas, diesel fuel and heating oil from building energy consumption and
gasoline/diesel from fleet. Scope 2 emissions include purchased electricity. Scope 3 emissions include fuel used in
rental cars and personal cars on business use.

CSUK is pleased to report that GHG emissions for the UK operations decreased by ¢.14.5% year-on-year, despite a
retum to the office for many employees following necessary changes in working practices in the wake of the COVID-19
pandemic. The decrease in CSUK's UK emissions was marginally greater, at 16.4%. There have been a number of
contributing factors to this reduction as summarised below:
¢ CSUK's employees decreased slightly as a percentage of the total UK workforce, reducing emissions by 25
tCO2e. Note that this is not a true reduction but a product of apportionment of emissions by FTE numbers. CS
Group allocates emissions to its UK business in this way, as there is no clear delineation in physical operating
boundaries between the entities.
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¢ In March 2021 CS Group disposed of one of the buildings within the London Campus — 17 Columbus
Courtyard. This is the first full year therefore with no consumption attributable to that building. CSUK's portion
of this reduction was 24 t1CO2e.

A mild year reduced heating demand during the year, and CSUK's associated emissions by 1 tCO2e.
The return to the office for many workers, as COVID health and safety guidelines were relaxed, increased
CSUK's emissions by 3 tCO2e.

* In One Cabot Square and 20 Columbus Courtyard, inactivity timings on Passive Infrared Sensor ('PIS') were
reduced from 20 mins to 5 mins across the whole campus. This was completed in October 2022. In December
2022, a media screen runtime regime was implemented. Sufficient time is yet to elapse for these initiatives to
have a material effect on CSUK emissions.

*  Whilst increased occupancy yielded higher emissions, relaxing COVID health and safety guidelines also brought
a reduction in the fresh air cycling within our managed buildings from 24/7 to standard operating hours,
resulting in a reduction in 2 tCO2e for CSUK.

e As CS Group deployed more extensive video conferencing facilities in conjunction with cementing flexible
working solutions, business travel reduced extensively. CSUK benefited from a reduction of 3 tCO2e.

CSUK benefitted from a further incidental reduction (where causality cannot be established) of 42 1CO2e.
Finally, the largest contribution to CSUK's fall in emissions — 86 {CO2e — has come from a reduction in the
carbon intensity of the grid, resultant of a deployment of record renewable generation in 2022 in response to
the UK's drive for energy independence and net zero ambitions.

Renewable Energy

For 2022 Scope 2 Market-Based emissions, it is encouraging to see, and benefit from a year-on-year emissions factor
reduction for electricity (-9%). This reinforces CS Group's commitment to market shaping: using its purchasing power to
advocate for increased renewable generation in the UK grid mix, and greater transparency in the chain of custody for
Renewable Energy Guarantee of Origin (REGO) certificates. At Credit Suisse, it is recognised — where renewable energy
is not generated on site or secured via private wire — that corporate power purchase agreements (CPPAs) and third-party
audited bundled REGO tariffs represent the purest contractual mechanisms for securing renewable energy through the
grid. A critical mass of customers advocating for and adopting these supply arrangements is a critical driver in
standardising these offerings and decarbonising the UK grid.

CSUK follows the umbrella strategy for the CS Group when sourcing renewable energy. Where CSUK is unable to
secure CPPAs or bundled REGOs, such as where electricity is consumed through a landlord supply, CSUK will engage
with the purchaser to commit to renewable electricity, utilising the contractual mechanisms as listed above. If options
remain constrained, CSUK will purchase REGOs either through unbundled tariffs or separately on the open market. Only
if CSUK is unable to source a sufficient number of REGOs to cover emissions will Renewable Energy Certificates be
purchased from adjacent markets.

The year-on-year change in Scope 2 market-based emissions illustrates CSUK's commitment to renewable energy.
Reducing from 6 to 1 tCO2e year-on-year, the only emissions associated with the CSUK portion of UK electricity
consumption are the result of the inclusion of biomass in the fuel mix of a tandlord electricity tariff. As a low carbon fuel,
CS group have not opted to purchase additional REGOs to cover biomass emissions, but CSUK - as part of the group —
will continue to work with landlords to move to purely renewable, as opposed to low carbon tariffs.

Employee Matters

CSUK's business performance is dependent on the skills, experience and conduct of highly skilled individuals and teams.
It's supported by a global purpose and values framework, and has initiatives to support the well-being, work-life balance
and career goals of its employees because its continued ability to build lasting value by serving its clients with care and
entrepreneurial spirit, depends on the ability to attract, retain and motivate highly talented and diverse employees.

CSUK is an Equal opportunity employer, focused on Diversity & Inclusion, supported by a global Purpose and Values
framework and has initiatives to support the wellbeing, work-life balance and career goals of employees.

CSUK considers all reasonable requests for additional equipment, adjustments to facilities and training procedures that
will assist a person with a disabling condition in the performance of their duties and prohibits discrimination against
disabled employees, including in relation to training, career development and promotion opportunities.

For further details please refer to https://www.credit-suisse.com/de/en/investment-banking/financial-regulatory/
international.html
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Reportable Concerns

Employees have a duty to report concerns of potential legal, regulatory or ethical misconduct to their line managers or to
Financial Crime Compliance and Regulatory Affairs. The Bank is committed to enabling an environment where people
feel encouraged and therefore do speak up and communicate openly. Employees have the option of calling a CS group
Integrity Hotline and have access to the Reportable Concerns Office, where concerns are promptly allocated for
investigation and are treated in confidence.
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Corporate Governance

Members of the Board and Board Committees -

The CSUK Board of Directors (‘Board’) is responsible for governance arrangements that ensure effective and prudent
management of CSUK, including the segregation of duties and the prevention of conflicts of interest. The Board
approves and oversees the implementation of strategic objectives, risk strategy and internal governance; ensures the
integrity of the accounting and financial reporting systems; oversees disclosure and communications processes; provides
effective oversight of senior management; and assesses the effectiveness of govemance arrangements.

As at 25 April 2023:

Board

member Audit Risk Remuneration Nominations
since Independence Committee Committee Committee Committee

Maureen Erasmus, Chair 2017 Independent Member Member Member Chair
Alexandra Kinney 2017  Independent Chair Member Chair Member
Richard Metcalf 2020  Independent Member Chair Member Member
Stefanie Blattler 2020 - — — — —
Philippe Theytaz 2020 — — Member Member —
Christian Berchem, CEO 2017 — — — —_ -
lan Hale, CRO 2014 — — — — —
David Spiteri, CFO 2023 — — — — —

Board and Management

The following management and governance changes have been effected since 1 January 2022:
e Simon Politzer resigned as Chief Operating Officer ('COQ') and Executive Director in October 2022
* Caroline Waddington was appointed as Chief Financial Officer ('CFQ') in July 2022
¢ Caroline Waddington resigned as CFO in November 2022
¢ David Spiteri was appointed as CFO in November 2022 and as an Executive Director in March 2023

As required by the PRA and FCA, the Senior Managers and Certification Regime (‘SMCR’) has been in operation since
Q1 2016. The SMCR aims to reduce harm to clients and to strengthen market integrity by making individuals more
accountable for their conduct and competence.

Internal Control and Financial Reporting

CSUK has reviewed the principles of corporate governance contained in the Wates Corporate Govemance Principles
("Wates") issued by the Financial Reporting Council in December 2018. The Bank observes the principles of Wates
where practical and relevant.

Board Responsibility

The Directors are ultimately responsible for the effectiveness of internal control at CSUK. Procedures have been
designed for safeguarding assets, for maintaining proper accounting records; and for assuring the reliability of financial
information used within the business, and provided to regulators and external users. Such procedures are designed to
mitigate and manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses or fraud.

The key procedures that have been established are designed to provide effective internal control within the Bank. Such

procedures for the ongoing identification, evaluation and management of the significant risks faced by the Bank have
been in place throughout the year and up to the date of approval of the CSUK Annual Report for 2022.
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The Risk Appetite Statement is formally reviewed and approved at least once a year by the Board. Key risks are also
formally reviewed and assessed on a quarterly basis by the Board Risk Committee and the Board as required. In
addition, key business risks are identified, evaluated and managed by operating management on an ongoing basis by
means of policies and processes such as credit and market risk limits and other operational metrics, including
authorisation limits, and segregation of duties.

The Board receives regular reports on any risk matters that need to be brought to its attention. Significant risks identified
in connection with the development of new activities are subject to consideration by the Board. There are well-
established business planning procedures in place and reports are presented regularly to the Board detailing the
performance of CSUK, variances against budget, prior year and other performance data.

The Board's duties relate to Strategy and Management; Conduct, Ethics and Culture; Risk Management; and Financial
Reporting and Intemal Control as set out in the Board Terms of Reference. During 2022 the Board has taken decisions
in line with its duties and the Board objectives, including the review and approval of the Strategy and Financial Plan; the
Risk Appetite Statements and Limits; the ILAAP; the ICAAP; the Compliance Risk Assessment and Plan; the Financial
Crime Compliance Risk Assessment; the Authorised Signatories; the Financial Statements and Pillar 3 Disclosures; the
Modern Slavery Statement; Board Director Resignations and Appointment and Board and Committee Objectives. The
Board also received updates on Sustainability/ ESG (environmental, social and govemance). The Board has delegated
execution of certain duties to the Board Committees and escalated significant issues to CSAG as required.

Board Evaluation

Each year, the Board undertakes a formal evaluation of the performance and effectiveness of the Board and its Board
Committees against the responsibilities listed in the respective terms of reference and objectives. An outcome of the
evaluation is the decision on the Board's future objectives and focus topics, in light of the CSG strategy, and to identify
internal briefings/training required by individual Directors. The Evaluation also assists the Nominations Committee to
assess the composition and performance of the Board and Board Committees, and knowledge, skills, experience and
diversity of Board members and Board succession planning.

From time to time, the Board will mandate an extemnal advisor to facilitate the evaluation; usually the evaluation is internal
for two years and external for every third year. Given the Board changes during 2022, the external evaluation has been
deferred for another year. At the beginning of 2023 the Board performed a self-evaluation of its own performance in
2022. The self-assessment concluded that the Board and Board Committees are operating effectively. The Board
reviews and approves the Board and Board Committee objectives annually.

Board Training

In addition to an initial Board evaluation and Board induction provided to Directors, the Board undertakes internal
briefings and training that are tailored to CSUK business strategy, Board objectives and decisions. Individual Directors
undertake other external courses for professional development, as necessary.

Board Diversity Policy

CSUK recognises and embraces the benefits of building a diverse and inclusive culture and having a diverse board. A
diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry experience,
independence and knowledge, background, race, gender and other distinctions between Directors. The Nominations
Committee will consider these attributes in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible will be
balanced appropriately. The Board in 2022 exceeded its target of at least 25 per cent female representation on the
Board and will continue to monitor the composition in 2023 through periodic reviews of structure, size and performance
of the Board.
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Board Meetings

Nine Board meetings were held in 2022, including scheduled and ad hoc Board meetings. All members of the Board are
expected to spend the necessary time outside of these meetings needed to discharge their responsibilities appropriately.
‘The Chair callsthe meetings With Sufficient noticé and prepares ‘an agenda for each meeting. Minutes are kept of the
Board proceedings. The Chair has the discretion to invite members of management or others to attend the meetings.
The Board also holds separate private sessions without management present. The Board and Committees also hold
separate private deep dive reviews on priority matters including Recovery Planning, Consumer Duty, Capital Repatriation,
ILAAP and ICAAP, as well as briefings on provisioning, budget and financial plan and year end disclosures.

Meeting attendance

Advisory

Board of Audit Risk Remuneration Nominations

Directors' Committee? Committee® Committee*  Committee®
in 2022
Total number of meetings held 9 7 5 5 3
Number of members who missed no meetings 7 3 3 3 .3
Number of members who missed one meeting 1 — 1 1 —
Number of members who missed two or more
meetings — — — — —
Meeting attendance, in % 98 100 95 95 100

1. The Board consisted of eight members at the beginning of the year and seven members At the end of the year, with one member resigning
2. The Audit Committee consisted of three members during the year

3. The Risk Committee consisted of four members during the year

4. The Advisory Remuneration Committee consisted of four members during the year.

5. The Nomination Committee consisted of three members during the year.
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Section 172(1) statement

The Board complies with the Companies Act Section 172 general duty to act in the way they consider, in good faith,
would be most likely to promote the success of the Bank for the benefit of its shareholders as a whole and having regard
to the consequences of decisions and the interests of employees and stakeholders. The Strategic Report includes
disclosures to illustrate how the Board has discharged its duty under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 and how
it has engaged and addressed the interests of its stakeholders including shareholders clients, employees, suppliers and
others and how this has informed the Board's decision making.

The Board's approach to its S172 duty and engagement with stakeholders

CSUK businesses work on the basis that long-term success depends to a significant extent on the ability to inspire
confidence in CSUK stakeholders. In the current challenging environment, and in view of the developments in the area
of financial market policy, it is essential that steps are taken to safeguard and maintain trust in the Bank.

CSUK directly and via CSG regularly engages in dialogue with stakeholders including clients and employees as well as
regulators, policymakers and the community. This dialogue, combined with the insights gained through its involvement in
initiatives, business associations, and forums, as well as through surveys, strengthens the Bank's understanding of the
different, and sometimes conflicting perspectives of its stakeholders.

Clients

Client engagement is key to the success of the CSUK's objective to be the private bank of choice to High Net Worth
and Ultra High Net Worth individuals. The Directors will routinely review management information on the frequency and
effectiveness of client engagement.

Employees

The success of CSUK has a significant dependency on the skills, experience and conducts of its employees and the
Bank is committed to keeping employees informed of changes within the organisation using many different approaches.
For more information please refer to Employee Matters and the Corporate Employee Policy in the Strategic Report.

Regulators

Credit Suisse works together with its regulators to help reduce risk in the industry and to provide a more sustainable
banking landscape over the long term. CSUK has an open and regular engagement with its regulators, ensuring clarity
and transparency, and sharing views and expectations of CSUK.

Community

CSUK cultivates constructive relationships with local organisations and institutions and supports charitable projects
through financial contributions, employee volunteering and expertise sharing. For more information please refer to
Economy and Society section in the Strategic Report.

Environment

It is in the interests of both the Bank and its clients to develop and support measures that contribute to a more
environmentally sustainable economy. The Credit Suisse “Statement on Sustainability” explains the aims relating to the
balancing of economic, environmental and social issues when performing activities as a bank.

Suppliers

The Bank relies upon services provided by third parties and other subsidiaries of the CS group. The Bank has
established governance arrangements, including use of the CS group Third-Party Risk Management (‘TPRM’)
framework, across all outsourced services to ensure an efficient and effective provision and governance of those
services. This includes effective communication between service providers and receivers.
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Committees

The CSUK governance and management structure is outlined in the following chart:

Board
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Board Committees Overview

Certain responsibilities are delegated to Board Committees, which assist the Board in carrying out its functions and
ensure that there is independent oversight of intemal control and risk management. Each Board Committee has a Terms
of Reference, recording the scope of delegated authority and the committee's responsibilities. The Chair of each Board
Committee reports to the Board on the matters discussed at Committee meetings.

CSUK Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfiling the Board's oversight responsibilities defined by applicable law,
articles of association and intemal regulations by monitoring the integrity, adequacy and effectiveness of the financial
reporting process; the internal audit process; internal controls, accounting developments processes and risk
management systems; tax processes and controls; regulatory reporting; and recovery and resolution plans. The Audit
Committee is responsible for contributing to the group process of the selection and recommendation of the appointment
of the Extemal Auditors, including monitoring their qualifications, independence, performance and the suitability of the
provision (if any) of non-audit services to the Bank. The Audit Committee also reviews and assesses the independence,
integrity, adequacy of resourcing and performance, of CSUK Internal Audit. The Audit Committee is authorised to have
direct access to, and receives regular reports from CFO, the External and Internal Auditors, Client Assets Sourcebook
('CASS'), Tax, General Counsel Litigation as well as CSUK's management and employees.

in reviewing the CSUK 2022 Annual Report, the Audit Committee considered critical accounting estimates and
judgements including the appropriateness of provision levels and the impact of changes in accounting standards. The
Audit Committee additionally considered the financial plan, projected capital and the liquidity requirements in the next 12
months and, in this context, the adequacy of the Bank's capital and liquidity resources. Over the course of the year, the
Audit Committee held private meetings with the External Auditors, the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Intemal
Audit.
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CSUK Risk Committee

The Risk Committee assists the Board in fulfilling the Board's oversight responsibilities as defined by applicable law,
articles of association and intemal regulations by ensuring that proper standards for risk oversight and management are
established; defining and implementing a risk appetite framework covering, inter alia, credit, operational and market risks
and making recommendations to the Board of Directors on risk appetite; reviewing, and recommending to the Board for
approval, the Risk Appetite Statement (including specific risk thresholds for each risk metric, monitoring and escalation
process / authority), reviewing the ICAAP and ILAAP, establishing risk thresholds for individual businesses within
authorities delegated by the Board of Directors, and reviewing the risk portfolio, recommend and approve risk thresholds
and other appropriate controls to monitor and manage the risk portfolio for the Bank.

CSUK Advisory Remuneration Committee

The Advisory Remuneration Committee advises and makes recommendations to the Group Compensation Committee on
matters relating to remuneration for employees of CSUK including members of the CSUK Executive Committee (‘CSUK
ExCo"), senior officers in Risk and Compliance and other Code Staff, as well as on the compliance of the Group
Compensation Policy with all relevant UK compensation regulations.

CSUK Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee is responsible for the identification and recommendation for approval, by CSG, candidates
to fill vacancies on the Board of CSUK, making recommendations to the Board concerning the role of Chair and
membership of the Board Committees, in consultation with the Chairs of those committees, and leading a Board
evaluation process.

Management Committees Overview

Management Committees support the CEO and Executive Directors in the implementation of strategy as set by the
Board. The principal Management Committee is the CSUK ExCo. Chaired by the CEOQ, it is ultimately responsible for the
management of the CSUK business and the execution of the strategy set by the Board. As a decision making forum, it
may receive proposals escalated from other executive committees or from business unit managers.

The CSUK ExCo has delegated a number of functions and responsibilities to the folloWing management committees,
including:

Executive Business Management Committees

* Front Management Committee: Chaired by the Head of Advisory & Sales ('A&S') UK as delegated by the CEO, is
responsible for reviewing front office activities, and escalating necessary actions and changes to the ExCo for final
decision making. Activities include reviewing financial performance, reviewing the impact of regulatory changes,
oversight of sales and client engagement activities and reviewing pricing.

* Investment Management (‘IM") UK Investment Committee: Chaired by the Head of IM UK, is responsible for
oversight and management of the discretionary mandates in the UK. This includes the implementation of the strategic
and tactical asset allocation and security selection for all discretionary mandates across each type of investment
profile, offered by CSUK,; in light of our capital market assumptions and prevailing market conditions.

* Operating Committee: Chaired by the COOQ, is responsible for monitoring delivery of key projects within the business,
including reviewing the impact of regulatory change, business improvement initiatives, the performance of the
Corporate Functions, reviewing platform procedures and operational policies.

¢ PB UK Client Assets and Money (‘CASS') Sub-Committee (delegated responsibility from the Operating Committee):
Chaired by the COO, is responsible for monitoring compliance with the CASS rules and sets the strategic direction
for ongoing compliance with the CASS regime.

e CSUK Data Management Sub-Committee (delegated responsibility from the Operating Committee): Chaired by the
COO0, this committee is responsible for ensuring adequate oversight over data management matters including, but
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not limited to, adequate ownership and control around front-to-back data, compliance with data govemance policies
and visibility over data quality issues. .

Product Approval Committee (‘PAC’): Chaired by the Head of A&S UK, is responsible for the review and approval of
relevant products and services (including service propositions) that are developed, offered for sale and/or made
available by the Bank to clients or prospective clients. In addition, the PAC is responsible for monitoring compliance
with all relevant market requirements. :

Executive Risk Management Committees

Credit Committee: The Credit Committee is chaired by the CRO and members consist of senior management. It
meets to discuss issues and risks relating to the credit exposures arising from the Bank’s business activities. The
Committee is responsible for approving, monitoring and controlling all credit exposures of CSUK and managing the
risks associated with the loan portfolio, including reviewing, and monitoring adherence to, CSUK's Credit Policies and
Credit Risk Appetite Framework.

ALM Capital Allocation and Risk Management Committee (‘'ALM CARMC'): The CSUK ALM CARMC is chaired by
the CSUK Chief Financial Officer ('CFQ?"). It is responsible for the management of Asset and Liability Management
('ALM’) risks, including: the CSUK capital and liquidity position vs. internal and external limits; current, future and
stressed liquidity and capital positions of CSUK; and, the impact of current and future regulatory changes on the
capital and liquidity position. ALM CARMC advises the CSUK Board RC in respect of capital and liquidity stress
testing, capital and liquidity buffers and the setting of risk thresholds, and has oversight of the ICAAP and ILAAP
processes. In addition, the CSUK Funding Execution Committee is formed on activation of the CSUK crisis
management plans and is responsible for ensuring that the CSUK adopts an appropriate response to significant
liquidity and funding issues impacting the UK entities during periods of stress.

Operational Risk and Compliance Committee: Co-chaired by the CRO and the Chief Compliance Officer ('CCQ") is
responsible for maintaining sound and robust operational risk management across CSUK by acting as a central

business governance committee to discuss, understand, measure, and access key operational and compliance risks
to the Bank.

Risk Methodology Standard Committee ('RMSC’): The purpose of RMSC, chaired by the CRO, is to review and
approve stress testing model design, scenarios, methodology and results as per the entity's stress testing model. The
committee also reviews independent model validations for CSUK stress testing.

On behalf of the Board

Ny

Paul Hare
Company Secretary

Five Cabot Square
London, E14 40R
25 April 2023
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Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2022

International Financial Reporting Standards

CSUK's 2022 financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted intemational accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (‘IFRS’) and the applicable legal requirements
of the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 25 April 2023.

Dividends

A dividend of £20m was paid in June 2022 (2021: Nil).

Directors

The names of the Directors as at the date of this report are set out on page 2. Changes in the Directorate since 31
December 2022 are set out on page 20. None of the Directors who held office at the end of the financial year were
beneficially interested, at any time during the year, in the shares of CSUK. The Directors benefited from qualifying third
party indemnity provisions in place during the financial year and at the date of this report.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have prepared the financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing
the financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e state whether applicable UK-adopted intemational accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

¢ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

* prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company'’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ confirmations
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:
e 5o far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are
unaware; and
e they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditors are aware of that information.
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Going concern

The Board has assessed the ability of CSUK to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 months from the
date of this report. Based on this assessment, the Board is satisfied that CSUK has adequate resources to continue in
operation for this period, and it therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

CSUK is reliant on funding from Credit Suisse AG (‘CS AG’) which has provided a letter of intent, dated 30 March
2023, ensuring CSUK can meet its debt obligations for the next 18 months. CS AG runs a global liquidity rebalancing
process across its major legal entities to respond to liquidity demands across the consolidated group.

During Q1 2023 the financial stability of CSG and CS AG reached a critical point which resulted in an agreement to
merge between CSG and UBS. During this period CSG has been reliant on funding from the Swiss government and the
Swiss National Bank. CSG and CS AG have concluded they are operating as a going concern but are reliant on the
success of the merger. Due to CSUK's reliance on CSG and CS AG, CSUK's assessment of going concern is also
dependent on the successful closing of the merger.

The Board has obtained an assessment to gain comfort on the going concemn status of CS AG due to the reliance on
the support CS AG provides to CSUK. Due to the significant level of Swiss government and Swiss National Bank
impetus and support for the transaction, as well as that of management of both banks, it is considered highly probable
that the merger will be completed. The expectation is that requisite approvals will be obtained on a highly expedited
basis, and there are no reasons to believe that any of the condition's precedent cannot be met. Accordingly, it is the
expectation that liquidity and other facilities will remain in place. Any possible unforeseen developments or changes,
which are currently considered as unlikely, would trigger a re-evaluation of this determination.

The Board has also exercised judgement and assessed the future plans for CSUK under the new merger which are
uncertain as at this time. However, should any decision be made in the near term to wind down the activities of CSUK,
such a process would be expected to occur in an orderly fashion. It is management's conclusion that even on an
accelerated basis it would likely take longer than 12 months to wind down CSUK's operations.

In considering the going concem, the directors also have reviewed the capital, liquidity, and financial position of CSUK
including forward looking plans. CSUK currently has capital and liquidity surpluses to all regulatory limits and under the
merger they would expect to continue to do so.

These measures support the Board's assessment that CSUK is a going concem. At the date of signing the Financial
Statements the merger has not completed. Despite this assessment, the directors would highlight that the impact of the
plan to merge CSG and UBS, along with any potential decision to change, liquidate or merge the Company with another
UBS subsidiary following completion of the merger, represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on
the Company's ability to continue as a going concem.

Risk and Capital

The way in which risks are managed is detailed in the Strategic Report, and the risks are detailed in Note 30 - Financial
Instruments Risk Position. Details of capital are set out in Note 21 - Share Capital and Share Premium.

Political Donations

There were no political donations made or political expenditure incurred during the 2022 financial year (2021: Nil).

Future Developments and Employees

Further developments impacting the Bank and information in relation to employees is detailed in the Strategic Report.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (‘SECR')
The SECR disclosures have been disclosed in the Strategic Report.

Research and Development

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank develops new products and services in each of its business divisions.
However, more details on intangible assets arising from the internal development of software for the Bank's own use
can be found in Note 15 - Intangible Assets.
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Employees

Information in relation to employees is detailed within the Employee Matters section of the Strategic Report.

Branches and Representative Offices

~ The Bank does not have branches or representative offices outside the UK.

Statement on Employee Engagement

Information in relation to the engagement with employees can be found in the S172(1) statement in the Strategic
Report.

Statement on Directors' relationships with clients, suppliers and others

Information in relation to the engagement with clients, suppliers and other stakeholders can be found in the S172(1)
statement in the Strategic Report.

Auditors

The Audit Committee is responsible for the oversight of the external auditors. The external auditors report directly to the
Audit Committee and the Board with respect to their audit of the CSUK financial statements and is ultimately
accountable to the shareholders. The Audit Committee considers and, where appropriate pre-approves the retention of,
and fees paid to, the external auditors for all audit and non-audit services. For further details, refer to the Committees
section of the Strategic Report.

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006 the auditors will be deemed to be reappointed and
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will therefore continue in office as external auditors.

Subsequent events

Merger of Credit Suisse Group AG with UBS Group AG

On 19 March 2023, Credit Suisse Group AG and UBS Group AG entered into an agreement and plan of merger (‘the
merger'), to be completed at a date yet to be determined. CSUK is a consolidated subsidiary of Credit Suisse Group AG
and the outcome of the plan to merge Credit Suisse Group AG and UBS Group AG could result in a decision to change,
liquidate or merge the Company with another UBS subsidiary following completion of the merger.

Further information is available in Note 35 — Subsequent events.

Dividend

In January 2023, CSUK paid a dividend of £30m out of the capital contribution reserve.
On behalf of the Board

David Spiteri

Director

Five Cabot Square

London, E14 4QR

25 April 2023
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Credit Suisse (UK) Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion, Credit Suisse (UK) Limited's financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of its profit and
cash flows for the year then ended;

*  have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements. of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022; the statement of income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant
accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to public interest entities,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard
were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in note 8, we have provided no non-audit services to the company in the period under audit.
Material uncertainty related to going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosure made in note 2 to the financial statements concerning the company’s ability to continue as a going concem.

The company is a member of the group (‘CS group”) headed by their ultimate parent, Credit Suisse Group AG (“CS
Group AG"). The company is dependent on ongoing support from other members of the CS group, in order to continue
in operation. Following a period of severe stress the CS Group AG has entered into an agreement to merge with UBS
Group AG. At the date of approval of these financial statements, the merger has not been completed and the impact of
the plan of merger on the future operation of the company has not been confirmed. These circumstances, as more fully
explained in note 2 to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the ability of the company to continue as a going concem. The financial statements do not include the
adjustments that would result if the company were unable to continue as a going concem.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concem basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
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Our evaluation of the directors' assessment of the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concem basis of
accounting included the following procedures.

We obtained, reviewed and challenged management's assessment setting out factors relevant to the ability of
the entity to continue as a going concern, including the capital and liquidity position, noting that this assessment
is based on the assumption that the company is reliant on funding from their parent, Credit Suisse AG.

We considered management's assessment of the ability of the CS group to provide support as set out in the
letter of intent, which is dependent on funding from the Federal Council of the Swiss Confederation and the
Swiss National Bank (“SNB") in the period prior to the merger and then on the successful closing of the
merger. We performed the following procedures in relation to this assessment.

We inspected contracts and transaction terms related to intra-group funding facilities and reconciled the
company’s liquidity and capital resources as at the reporting date to management's accounting records
(engaging experts from our prudential regulation practice to support this assessment where necessary).

We inspected public announcements regarding the liquidity support provided by the SNB and the Federal
Council of the Swiss Confederation and performed procedures to understand management's assessment and
scenario analysis regarding the ability of the CS group to provide support prior to and subsequent to the merger
in the context of these liquidity facilities.

We read the public announcements by the CS group, UBS Group AG, the Swiss government and regulatory
authorities in Switzerland and the UK to understand the scope, timeline and probability of completion of the
planned merger. .

We considered possible actions which may be taken by UBS Group AG subsequent to the merger in relation to
the company and the likely timeline for such actions and assessed the likelihood that their operations would
cease in the period for assessing going concem.

We reviewed correspondence with regulatory authorities and held bilateral meetings with regulators to discuss
matters including the capital and liquidity position of the company, possible factors influencing the successful
completion of the proposed merger and prospects for the company subsequent to the merger.

We assessed whether the directors' disclosures in relation to going concern adequately reflect the risks and
uncertainties facing the company based on our understanding of the business.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Our audit approach

Overview

Audit scope

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
financial statements. The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures performed

. were determined by our risk assessment.

Key audit matters

[ ]

Material uncertainty related to going concern
Determination of allowance for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) for stage 3 mortgage lending

Materiality

Overall materiality: £3,150,000 (2021: £1,400,000) based on 1% of Tier 1 regulatory capital of £315m.
Performance materiality: £2,362,000 (2021: £1,050,000).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. '
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors' professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit
of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and
any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

In addition to going concem, described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section above, we
determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report. This is not a
complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Material uncertainty related to going concem is a new key audit matter this year. Otherwise, the key audit matter below

is consistent with last year.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Determination of allowance for Expected Credit Losses
(ECL) for stage 3 mortgage lending.

As a result of the material judgements involved, the
determination of the allowance for Expected Credit Losses
(ECL) for stage 3 mortgage lending represents a key audit
matter.

As at 31 December 2022 the gross carrying value of
stage 3 loans was £106m, with an associated allowance
for ECL of £3m.

The determination of the allowance for ECL is subjective
and judgemental. The most significant judgements and
assumptions relate to the individually assessed provisions
(stage 3 exposures) calculated by management,
specifically the determination of expected cash flows,
which are based on the realisation of property collateral,
derived from periodic expert valuations or management
indexing.

Relevant references:

Note 3, Critical accounting estimates and
judgements in applying accounting policies;

Note 22, Expected credit loss measurement; and
Note 30, Financial instruments risk position.

We understood management's process and tested the
operating effectiveness of the key controls over the
determination of the allowance for Expected Credit Losses
(ECL), including controls relating to:
¢ Review and approval of extemal
vendors; and
* Review and approval of discounted cash flows
that support the individual impairment
assessments performed on stage 3 exposures.

valuation

Our substantive procedures included the following:

*  We evaluated the basis on which the allowances
were determined for all stage 3 exposures and
assessed the evidence supporting the calculations
performed by management;

* Independently challenged and re-performed
management's provision calculation, critically
assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
including expected future cash flows, discount
rates, valuations of collateral, appropriateness of
forward-looking scenarios and the weightings
applied to scenario outcomes; and

* Engaged intemal property valuation specialists to
support the audit team in the performance of
these audit procedures, by providing an
independent view of the appropriateness of the
collateral valuations relied on by management. As
part of this, we assessed the key valuation inputs,
the competency and objectivity of management's
expert valuers and reviewed management’s
indexing.

Based on the above procedures performed, and the
evidence obtained, we concluded that the allowance for
ECL for stage 3 mortgage lending was reasonable.

We also assessed the disclosures in note 3 and note 22,
regarding the critical estimates and judgements related to
the allowance for ECL and found them to be appropriate.
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How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and
controls, and the industry in which it operates.

The company provides a variety of financial services to wealth management clients worldwide mainly through its
operations in the UK. There are a number of centralised functions operated by the ultimate parent company, Credit
Suisse Group AG, in Switzerland or in group shared service centres in other locations that are relevant to the audit of the
company. We determined the scope of the work required in each of these locations and issued instructions to supporting
auditors in the PwC network. We interacted regularly with the firms responsible for the work throughout the course of
the audit. This included reviewing key working papers and discussing and challenging the results of their work. We
concluded that the procedures performed on our behalf were sufficient for the purposes of issuing our opinion.

The impact of climate risk on our audit

As part of our audit we made enquiries of management to understand the extent of the potential impact of climate risk
on the group’s and company's financial statements, and we remained alert when performing our audit procedures for
any indicators of the impact of climate risk. Our procedures did not identify any material impact as a result of climate risk
on the group’s and company’s financial statements.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in
evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall company mateniality £3,150,000 (2021: £1,400,000).

1% of Tier 1 regulatory capital (2021: 3 year average of
How we determined it profit before tax)
Rationale for benchmark applied In the current period we changed the materiality

benchmark from a 3-year average profit before tax to Tier
1 Regulatory Capital. The primary users of the financial
statements, being the ultimate parent company, certain
creditors and the company's regulators, are the primary
users of the financial statements, and are mainly focused
on the company's ability to meet capital requirements. Tier
1 Regulatory Capital is therefore a more appropriate
benchmark based on the focus of the primary users.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected
and undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining
the scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and
disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2021: 75%) of overall
materiality, amounting to £2,362,000 (2021: £1,050,000) for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk
assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of
our normal range was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above

£157,500 (2021: £70,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of
the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the
UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain
opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors' Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and
Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment cbtained in the course of the audit, we
did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with
laws and regulations related to those determined by the Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA) and Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA), and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial
statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as
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_the Companies Act 2006 and corporate tax legislation. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls),and determined that the
principal risks were related to posting of inappropriate journal entries and management bias in accounting estimates.
Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

¢ Discussions with management and those charged with govemance in relation to known or suspected instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud, together with inspection of the complaints register;
Reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities including the FCA and the PRA;
Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in determining significant accounting
estimates, 'in particular those related to the allowance for Expected Credit Losses;

¢ Reviewing the minutes of the Board of Directors and other relevant Committee minutes to identify any
significant or unusual transactions or other matters that could require further investigation; and

¢ Identifying and testing journal entries, including those by unexpected or infrequent users, back-dated and
forward-dated joumals.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data
auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing
complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics.
In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample
is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
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Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do nol, in giving these opinions,

accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

*  we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or retums adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

® certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

¢ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsbility.
Appointment

Fallowing the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the directors on 9 April 2020 to audit the
financlal statements for the gear ended 31 December 2020 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total -
uninterrupted engagement is 3 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2020 to 31 December 2022.

-

Amena Shaista (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

26 April 2023
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Interest income o _ \ 88 880 ) 56 275
- of which interest income from instruments at amortised cost : i A 88 880 o 56 275
) Ulnterest expense ' S (98 065) ' (5,122)-
_ - of which interest expense from |nstruments at amortlsed cost (28,085) (5,1292)
_Net interestincome 4 60,765 51,153
A ‘Commlssmn and fee i mcome o _ 54,048 55,219
;'"Commlss' e et ot 7305 7.065)
_ Net comm:ssmn and fee income b 53,308 54,151
~_Allowance for expected credit losses (1,754) 2,571
~ Net gain from financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profut or loss 172 195
Other revenue and fore|gn exchange fluctuahons 8) (196)
“Rek ravar e e 13483 To7.874
~ Compensation and benefits o 7 (39,202) (41,686)
General and admlnlstratlve expenses S 8 (51,860) (41,529)
* Impairment on goodwill T 15 — (13,759
" Total operating expenses (91,062) (96,967)
_ Profit beforetax 21,421 10,907
Income tax expense 9 (6,963) (852)
Profit after tax 14,458 10,055
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,458 10,055

There were no items of other comprehensive income during the year (2021: Nil).
The accompanying notes on pages 42 to 104 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022

Restated
2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Assets ' :
Cash and due from banks 475664 408,064
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 48,748 -
Securities purchased under resale agreements 10 562004 1048198
;:gﬁ{ngrw:snmal assets mandatorily at fair value through 18,813 14,333
of which positive market value from derivative instruments 18813 14,333
Loans and advances 1 “-.“1',706,598
e g 56,795 I
R e o e b g
intargibie asaste g BT T EEa 7y
Total assets 2,885,789 3,679,171
Liabilities
Deposits' .16 ... 1094750 1612,272
gggingrﬁg;naal liabilities mandatorily at fair value through 18,613 14,023
%fs \;vmh;(r:’/; rg;igatlve market value from derivative 18,613 14,023
Caront ncoms T Tabiy e g EEE
T T g e b e
. o,
Short-term borrowings' 19 827,333 © 1,000,730
Long term debt’ 20 = 556890 560,579
Total liabilities 2,540,103 3,227,943
Shareholders' equity
Share capital 21 2459230 245230
Share premiom g T R T
Canital contribution g e g e
Retained earnings - . 31,7%6 '
Total shareholders’ equity T ‘ 345,686 351,228
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,885,789 3,579,171

'2021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.

The financial statements on pages 37 to 104 were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 April 2023 and signed on its
behalf by:

David Spiteri
Director

Company Registration Number: 02009520
The accompanying notes on pages 42 to 104 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Total Share-
Share Share Capital Retained holders’
Capital Premium Contribution Earnings Equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
2022 Statement of changes in equity
Balance as at 1 January 2022 245,230 11,200 57,500 37,298 351,228
Profit for the year — — - 14,458 14,458
fT::atll!‘:oy:\;rehenswe income recognised _ _ _ 14,458 14,458
Dividend paid — - — (20,000) (20,000)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 245,230 11,200 57,500 31,756 345,686
2021 Statement of changes in equity :
Balance as at 1 January 2021 245,230 11,200 57,500 27,243 341,173
Profit for the year - — — 10,055 10,055
Total comprehensive income recognised
for the year - - — 10,055 10,055
Balance as at 31 December 2021 245,230 11,200 57,500 37,298 351,228

The accompanying notes on pages 42 to 104 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2022 Restated 2021

Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax for the year 21,421 10,907
Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash generated from
operating activities
Non-cash items included in profit before tax and other adjustments:
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 15 3,666 1,862
Impairment on goodwill 15 — 13,762
Accrued interest on long term debt? 20 12,300 2,079
Accrued interest on short-term borrowinng 19 8,822 1,133
Deferred fee income on loans® 11 (3,821) (3,488)
Foreign exchange gains (2,954) (4,964)
Reversal of Share based Compensation cha\rge4 (40) 2,050
Allowance/(reversal) for expected credit losses 1,754 (2,571)
Cash generated before changes in operating assets and liabilities 41,048 20,750
Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets
Securities purchased under resale agreements 10 486,194 (167,802)
Trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value (‘FV") through profit or loss (4,480) 20,813
Loans and advances® 11 336,715 (45,097)
Interest bearing deposits with banks (48,754) 187,491

- Other assets 13 (8,451) (1,141)
Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets 761,224 (5,736)
Net (decrease)/increase in operating liabilities:
Deposits’ 16 (517,529 (177,793)
Trading financial liabilities mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 4,590 (20,917)
Share based Compensa’tion4 (3,649) (3,502)
Other liabilities and provisionsQ'4 17,18 1,266 (1,587)
Net (decrease)/increase in operating liabilities (515,315) (203,799)
Income tax refunded - 1,101
Group relief (paid)/received (2,529 406
Net cash flow generated from/(used in) operating activities 284,435 (187,278)
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures for intangible assets during the year 15 (3,455) (3,799)
Net cash flow used in investing activities (3,455) (3,799)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid (20,000) —
Interest paid on long term debt? 20 (12,293) (2,055)
Issuance of long term debt? 20 500,000 500,139
Repayment of long term debt? 20 (603,689) (505,750)
Interest paid on short-term borrowingsg 19 (6,928) (775)
Issuance of short-term borrowings* 19 615,993 857,692
Repayment of short-term borrowings® 19 (824,808) (735,048)
Net cash flow (used in)/generated from financing activities (251,725) 114,103
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 29,255 (76,974)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year ' 408,082 483,717
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents 38,372 1,339
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year ' 475,709 408,082

' The cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2022 of £476m (2021: £408m) excluding allowance for credit losses of £45k (2021: £18k). Includes a mandatory

deposit of £2.1m (2021: £2.7m) at a central bank which is not available for use by the Bank.
20021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.
3Foreign Exchange (gain)/loss includes FX movement on Financing activity and Cash & Cash Equivalents.

“Non-cash portion of deferral fee income and share based payments is reported separately under non-cash items from the operating assets and liabilities movement of Net

loans and Share based compensation respectively.

The accompanying notes on pages 42 to 104 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. General

CSUK is a bank incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of the Bank'’s registered office is Five Cabot
Square, London, E14 4QR. The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 25 April 2023.

2. Significant accounting policies
a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with UK-adopted
Intemational Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies using
IFRS.

The Bank is authorised in the United Kingdom by the Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) and is regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA') and the PRA. lts principal activities are the provision of advice relating to advisory
and discretionary investment services, banking services including secured lending facilities and financial planning advice.
The product offering includes cash solutions, bond and equity products, advisory and discretionary hedge fund portfolios,
structured products, tax efficient products, treasury, credit and other investment consulting solutions.

CSUK is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSAG and an indirect subsidiary of CSG. CSG, a company domiciled in
Switzerland, is the ultimate parent of a worldwide group of companies (collectively referred to as the 'CS group').

b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in GBP, rounded to the nearest thousand. They are prepared on the historical
cost basis except for trading financial assets and liabilities that are stated at their fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with UK-adopted international accounting standards (‘UK-adopted
IFRSs') requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Critical accounting estimates and
judgements applied to these financial statements are set out in Note 3 - Critical accounting estimates and judgements in
applying accounting policies.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of revision
and future periods if the revision has a significant effect on both current and future periods. Accounting policies have
been applied consistently by the Bank.

Going Concern

The Board has assessed the ability of CSUK to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 months from the
date of this report. Based on this assessment, the Board is satisfied that CSUK has adequate resources to continue in
operation for this period, and it therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

CSUKis reliant on funding from Credit Suisse AG (‘CS AG’) which has provided a letter of intent, dated 30 March
2023, ensuring CSUK can meet its debt obligations for the next 18 months. CS AG runs a global liquidity rebalancing
process across its major legal entities to respond to liquidity demands across the consolidated group.

During Q1 2023 the financial stability of CSG and CS AG reached a critical point which resulted in an agreement to
merge between CSG and UBS. During this period CSG has been reliant on funding from the Swiss government and the
Swiss National Bank. CSG and CS AG have concluded they are operating as a going concem but are reliant on the
success of the merger. Due to CSUK's reliance on CSG and CS AG, CSUK's assessment of going concern is also
dependent on the successful closing of the merger.

The Board has obtained an assessment to gain comfort on the going concern status of CS AG due to the reliance on
the support CS AG provides to CSUK. Due to the significant level of Swiss government and Swiss National Bank
impetus and support for the transaction, as well as that of management of both banks, it is considered highly probable
that the merger will be completed. The expectation is that requisite approvals will be obtained on a highly expedited
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basis, and there are no reasons to believe that any of the condition’s precedent cannot be met. Accordingly, it is the
expectation that liquidity and other facilities will remain in place. Any possible unforeseen developments or changes,
which are currently considered as unlikely, would trigger a re-evaluation of this determination.

The Board has also exercised judgement and assessed the future plans for CSUK under the new merger which are
uncertain as at this time. However, should any decision be made in the near term to wind down the activities of CSUK,
such a process would be expected to occur in an orderly fashion. It is management’s conclusion that even on an
accelerated basis it would likely take longer than 12 months to wind down CSUK's operations.

In considering the going concern, the directors also have reviewed the capital, liquidity, and financial position of CSUK
including forward looking plans. CSUK currently has capital and liquidity surpluses to all regulatory limits and under the
merger they would expect to continue to do so.

These measures support the Board's assessment that CSUK is a going concern. At the date of signing the Financial
Statements the merger has not completed. Despite this assessment, the directors would highlight that the impact of the
plan to merge CSG and UBS, along with any potential decision to change, liquidate or merge the Company with another
UBS subsidiary following completion of the merger, represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concem.

Prior period restatements

Certain reclassifications and restatements have been made to the comparative Financial Statements of the Bank as at
31 December 2021. The prior period adjustments were made to correct certain errors identified during the current
period. The adjustments had no net effect on net revenues or profit for the period and total liabilities.

Prior period restatement for deposits and related interest expense: Funds received from Credit Suisse AG, Zurich and
Credit Suisse AG, London Branch were treated as deposits in the prior periods. The funds received are part of
contractual debt facility of the Bank. The funds should be classified as debts. The sum received from Credit Suisse AG,
Zurich amounting to £506m is re-classified as long term debt as the debt facility does not meet the definition of current
liability, whereas the sum received from Credit Suisse AG, London Branch amounting to £1,001m is reclassified as
short-term borrowing as it meets the definition of current liability. Corresponding to the restatement of deposits, the
related interest expense is also reclassified from interest expense on deposits to interest expense on long term debt and
short-term borrowings respectively. Please refer Note 4 - Net interest income.

Consequently, the issuances and repayments of short-term borrowings and long term debt including related interest
accruals and payments are disclosed as separate line items in the statement of cash flows. Further, non-cash
components relating to deferred fee income on loans and share based compensation are reported as separate line
items.

Adjustment as mentioned above resulted in the following adjustments being recorded as at 31 December 2021.

Published for the Restated for the
year ended 31 Restatement for year ended 31
Statement of Income December 2021 interest December 2021
£000 £000 £000

Interest expense A o o N o
Interest expense on deposits ) 301) 1,577 (724)
Interest expense on short-term borrowings = (1183) (1133
lntg(est expense on long term debt (1,635) . (444) (2,079)
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Published as on Restated as on

31 December Restatement for 31 December

Statement of Financial Position 2021 deposits 2021
£000 £000 £000
Liabilities - o ) - _
Deposits 3,118,581 (1,508,309) 1,612,272
Short-term borrowings L . —_ 1,000,730 1,000,730
Long term debt 65,000 605,579 560,579

¢) Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Bank. The Bank controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable retums from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When the Bank has decision making rights, it assesses whether it controls an entity and determines whether it is
a principal or an agent. The Bank also determines whether another entity with decision-making rights is acting as an
agent for the Bank. An agent is a party primarily engaged to act on behalf of and for the benefit of another party (the
principal) and therefore does not control the entity when it exercises its decision-making authority. A decision maker
considers the overall relationship between itself and other parties involved with the entity, in particular all of the following
factors, in determining whether it is an agent:

The scope of its decision making authority over the entity;

The rights held by other parties;

The remuneration to which it is entitled; and

The decision maker's exposure to variability of returns from other interests that it holds in the entity.

The Bank makes significant judgements and assumptions when determining if it has control of another entity. The Bank
may control an entity even though it holds less than half of the voting rights of that entity, for example if the Bank has
control over an entity on a de facto basis because the remaining voting rights are widely dispersed and/or there is no
indication that other shareholders exercise their votes collectively. Conversely, the Bank may not control an entity even
though it holds more than half of the voting rights of that entity, for example where the Bank holds more than half of the
voting power of an entity but does not control it, as it has no right to variable returns from the entity and is not able to
use its power over the entity to affect those returns. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

The Bank is exempt from preparing and delivering group financial statements as the Bank is a wholly-owned indirect
subsidiary of CSG, incorporated in Switzerland, which prepares consolidated financial statements. Details of the
undertakings of both subsidiaries are given in Note 12 - Investments in subsidiaries.

d) Foreign currency

The Bank's functional and presentation currency is GBP. Transactions denominated in currencies other than its
functional currency are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to GBP at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising from translation are recognised in the Statement of Income.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are not revalued for
movements in foreign exchange rates.

e) Cash and due from banks

For the purpose of preparation and presentation of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
the components of ‘Cash and due from banks' that are short term, highly-liquid instruments with original maturities of
three months or less that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and that are held or utilised for
the purpose of cash management.

44



I y Credit Suisse (UK) Limited
CRED'T SU’SSE Annual Report 2022
Notes to the financial statements for the Year ended 31 December 2022

Where cash is received or deposited as collateral, the obligation to repay or the right to receive that collateral is recorded
in other assets or other liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost and are subject to impairment (refer section j of Note 2).

P Interest-bearing deposits with banks

For the purpose of preparation and presentation of the Statement of Financial Position, interest-bearing deposits with
banks comprise of cash placed with other CS group entities for a fixed tenure for the purpose of liquidity management.
These are accounted at amortised cost and have original maturities of more than three months.

g) Securities purchased under resale agreements

Securities purchased under resale agreements (‘reverse repurchase agreements’) do not constitute economic sales and
are therefore treated as collateralised financing transactions. In reverse repurchase agreements, the cash advanced,
including accrued interest, is recognised on an effective yield basis as an asset on the Statement of Financial Position.

Securities received under reverse repurchase agreements are not recognised or derecognised unless all or substantially
all the risks and rewards are obtained or relinquished. The Bank monitors the market value of the securities received or
delivered on a daily basis and provides or requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreements.

Interest eamed on reverse repurchase agreements is recognised and recorded as interest income.

h) Financials assets and liabilities

The Bank’s financial assets are classified on the basis of two criteria: 1) the business model of why the financial assets
are held and how they are managed and 2) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. These factors
determine whether the financial assets are measured at Amortised Cost, Fair value through Other Comprehensive
Income (‘FVOCI'") or Fair value through Profit & Loss (‘FVTPL'). The accounting for financial liabilities is largely the same
as financial assets except for those financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, where the gains and losses arising from
changes in credit risk are presented in OCI rather than profit or loss.

Business model assessments are performed by considering the way in which the financial assets are managed to
achieve a particular business objective as determined by management. The assessment is made at the level at which the
group of financial assets are managed and are based on reasonable expectations. All relevant and objective evidence is
“considered while performing the business model assessments, for example:

¢ How the performance of the financial assets are evaluated and reported to key management personnel;

* The risks that affect the performance of the financial assets and how those risks are managed;

* How managers of the business are compensated.

The 'Hold to Collect’ business mode! is a model with the objective to hold a financial asset to collect contractual cash
flows. Sales are incidental to the objective of this model. The ‘Hold to Collect and Sell’ business model is a mode! with
the objective to both hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. This model has a
greater frequency of sales than a ‘Hold to Collect’ business model. The Bank does not have any financial assets which
are under the 'Hold to Collect and Sell' business model.

The financial assets which are not classified under the 'Hold to Collect' and 'Hold to Collect and Sell' business model
are measured at FVTPL. .

For both the *Hold to Collect' and ‘Hold to Collect and Sell’ business models, the Bank makes an assessment whether
the contractual cash flows of the financial assets are solely payments of principal and interest. For the purpose of this
assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as
consideration for time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a
particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as
a profit margin. In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Bank
will consider the contractual terms of the instrument. This will include assessing whether the financial asset contains a
contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this
condition.
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A 'Hold to Collect’ financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is subject to impairment losses,
recorded through profit and foss. A ‘Hold to Collect and Sell’ debt instrument is measured at FVOCI, with interest
income, foreign currency gains and losses and impairment losses recorded through profit or loss, whilst all other gains
and losses are reported in OCI.

Trading financial assets and liabilities mandatorily at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

The Bank's trading financial assets and financial liabilities include only derivative instruments. These assets and
liabilities are included as part of the trading portfolio based on management’s intention to sell the assets or
repurchase the liabilities in the near term, and are carried at fair value.

Related realised and unrealised gains and losses are included in ‘Net gains/(losses) from financial assets/liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss'.

i) Recognition and derecognition
Recognition

The Bank recognises financial instruments on its Statement of Financial Position when the Bank becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Regular-way securities transactions

A regular-way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of
the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concemed. The
Bank recognises regular-way purchases or sales of trading financial assets at the settlement date, unless the instrument
is a derivative, and unrealised gains/losses between trade and settlement date are recognised in P&L.

Derecognition

The Bank enters into transactions where it transfers assets, recognised on its Statement of Financial Position, but
retains either all risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and
rewards are retained, the transferred assets are not derecognised from the Statement of Financial Position.

In transactions where the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a financial
asset, it derecognises the asset if control over the asset is lost. The rights and obligations retained in the transfer are
recognised separately as assets and liabilities as appropriate. In transfers where control over the asset is retained, the
Bank continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is
exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. Where
the Bank has a financial liability and a financial instrument is exchanged for a new financial instrument with the same
counterparty, which is substantially different, or when an existing financial instrument classified as a financial liability is
substantially modified, the old financial instrument is deemed to be extinguished and a new financial liability is
recognised. Any gain or loss due to derecognition of the extinguished instrument is recorded in the Statement of Income.

) Impairment of financial assets, loan commitments and financials guarantees

The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its instruments carried at amortised cost, certain
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts including: Cash, interest-bearing deposits, loans and advances,
reverse repurchase agreements and brokerage receivables. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For financial instruments that include both a loan (i.e. financial asset) and an undrawn commitment (i.e. loan
commitment) component, the ECL on the loan commitment is recognised together with the loss allowance for the
financial asset. To the extent that the combined ECL exceeds the gross carrying amount of the financial asset, the
ECL is recognised as a provision.
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Al financial assets attract a 12-month ECL on origination (Stage 1) except for financial assets that are credit impaired
upon purchase or origination. When the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial
instrument, the impairment measurement is changed from a 12-month ECL (Stage 1) to a lifetime ECL (Stage 2).
The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is based on different quantitative and
qualitative factors that are relevant to the particular financial instrument in scope. A financial asset moves into Stage 3
when it becomes credit-impaired. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable
data:

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not consider otherwise;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or

the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event. Instead, the combined effect of several events may have
caused financial assets to become credit-impaired.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and are measured as follows:

* Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date (Stage 1 or Stage 2), apply the present value
of all cash shortfalls - i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive. The Bank applies a PD/LGD approach under
which term structures of point-in-time probability of defaults (‘PDs"), point-in-time loss given defaults (‘LGDs")
and exposure at defaults ('EADs’) are estimated;

¢ Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (Stage 3), apply the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. Stage 3 provisions represent individually-
assessed allowances for impairment with consideration of multiple forward-looking and probability-weighted
scenarios;

*  Undrawn loan commitments apply the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to the Bank if the commitment is drawn and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive; and

¢ Financial guarantee contracts apply the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the guarantee
holder less any amounts that the Bank expects to recover.

Definition of default

The definition of default is aligned with the current regulatory definition of default, which is defined as a client that is 90
days past due and unlikely to pay a material obligation.
The Bank considers the following indicators in assessing whether a borrower is in default:

¢ Qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenants;

e Quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment of another obligation of the same client to the Bank; and

* Based on data developed internally and that obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to
reflect changes in circumstances.

Forward-looking information

The estimation and application of forward-looking information requires significant judgment. The Bank's estimation of
ECL is based on a discounted probability-weighted estimate that considers three future macroeconomic scenarios to
capture the point of non-linearity of losses: a base scenario, an upside scenario and a downside scenario. The base case
represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with information used by the Bank for other purposes, such as strategic
planning and budgeting. Currently, the other scenarios represent more optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes with
the downside scenario being more severe than the upside scenario.
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Significant increases in credit risk (‘SICR")

The measurement of ECLs for each stage and the assessment of significant increases in credit risk must consider
information about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events
and economic conditions.

The Bank has established a framework to determine whether the credit risk on a particular financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. This framework aligns with Bank's intemal credit risk management
process and the criteria for determining SICR will vary by portfolio.

The assessment of SICR is based generally on the same qualitative and quantitative information used as part of the
credit watch list process.

The rebuttable presumption of more than 30 days past due has not been used because financial instruments are
considered credit impaired and therefore transferred into Stage 3 earlier than 30 days past due, unless credit risk
management determines the default to be operational in nature and it is rectified in a short period of time (normally within
a week).

The Bank monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify SICR by regular reviews to confirm that:
¢ the criteria are capable of identifying SICR before an exposure is in default;
¢ the average time between the identification of a SICR and default appears reasonable;
* exposures are not generally transferred directly from 12-month ECL measurement to credit-impaired; and
* there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month ECL and lifetime ECL
measurements.

A financial instrument in scope is transferred from Stage 2 to Stage 1, if it no longer meets the stage transition criteria.
The stage transition criteria consider a probation period, either by the idiosyncratic nature of PDs or by the watchlist
process.

A financial instrument in scope is transferred from Stage 3 to Stage 2 or 1 after a probation period in line with the
Bank's credit risk management practices. If the financial instrument has not met the criteria to be considered credit-
impaired for a minimum number of months, it will be returned to either Stage 2 or Stage 1 depending on the
characteristics of the financial instrument.

The SICR process does not have any effect on reverse repurchase agreements due to the risk management practices
adopted, including regular margin calls. ECL on these positions is expected to be low. If margin calls are not satisfied,
the position will be closed out immediately with any shortfall generally classified as a stage 3 position.

Expected life

The maximum period to consider when measuring ECLs is the maximum contractual period (including borrower-only
extension options) over which the Bank is exposed to credit risk and not a longer period, even if that longer period is
consistent with business practice.

There is an exemption from this limit for certain revolving credit facilities. For these financial instruments, the Bank
measures ECLs over the period that it is exposed to credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by credit risk
management actions, even if that period extends beyond the maximum contractual period. Determining the instruments
in scope for this exemption and estimating the appropriate remaining life requires significant judgment.

Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis

For Stage 1 and Stage 2 ECLs, financial assets are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, e.g. product
type and geographic location. However, an ECL is calculated based on the PD/LGD approach for each financial asset
within the grouping. Financial assets are grouped as follows:

e |ombard loans;
Residential mortgages;
Financial institutions; and
Other, representing Commercial real estate loans and overdrafts.
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For residential mortgages, SICR is assessed on a collective basis because forward-looking information is not included in
the PD/LGD parameters used for the ECL approach. The Bank would assess ECL on an individual basis for all Stage 3
assets, regardless of the class of financial assets.

Write-off of loans

A loan and any associated allowance is written off when it is considered certain that there is no reasonable prospect of
recovery and all collateral has been realised or transferred to the Bank. If the amount of loss on write-off is greater than
the accumulated loss allowance, the difference results in an additional impairment loss, which is first recognised as an
addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any repossessed collateral is initially
measured at fair value. The subsequent measurement depends on the nature of the collateral.

k) Loans and advances

Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers and are measured at amortised cost (refer
Note h).

When calculating the effective interest on loans measured at amortised cost, the Bank estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments including premiums, discounts, fees and transactions
costs but not ECL. For detailed impairment guidance please refer to Note j.

1) Netting

The Bank only offsets financial assets and liabilities and presents the net amount in the Statement of Financial Position
where it:

e currently has a legally-enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

* intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and liability simultaneously.
In many instances, the Bank's net position on multiple bilateral Over the Counter ('OTC") derivative transactions with the
same counterparty is legally protected by Master Netting Agreements. Such agreements ensure that the net position is
settled in the event of default of either counterparty or effectively limit credit risk on gross exposures. However, if the
transactions themselves neither intended to be settled net, nor simultaneously, it is not permissible under IAS 32
(Financial Instruments: Presentation) to offset transactions falling under Master Netting Agreements.

m) Income taxes

Income tax recognised in the Statement of Income and the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for the year
comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax is recognised in the Statement of Income unless it relates to items
recognised in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income or directly in equity, in which case the income tax is
recognised in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income or directly in equity respectively. For items initially
recognised in equity and subsequently recognised in the Statement of Income, the related income tax initially recognised
in equity is also subsequently recognised in the Statement of Income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year and includes any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years. Current tax is calculated using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date.

Withholding taxes are also treated as income taxes.

For UK corporation tax purposes, the Bank may surrender or claim certain losses from another CS group company
within the UK. The surrendering company will be compensated in full for the value of the tax losses surrendered to the
claimant company. The surrendering entity will show a benefit received for the losses surrendered which will be recorded
as a reduction to current tax expense and taxes payable whereas the claimant entity will have an increase in current tax
expense and taxes payable respectively.

Deferred tax is provided using the Statement of Financial Position liability method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax-base. The amount of
deferred tax provided is based on the amount at which it is expected to recover or settle the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, using tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary
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differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the Statement of
Financial Position date.

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised. Tax assets and liabilities of the same type (current or deferred) are offset when they
arise from the same tax reporting group, they relate to the same tax authority, the legal right to offset exists, and they
are intended to be settled net or realised simultaneously.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay
the related dividend arises. Information as to the calculation of income tax recognised in the Statement on Income for the
periods presented is included in Note 9 — Income Tax.

Tax contingencies

Significant judgement is required in the determination and evaluation of certain tax positions. The Bank may accrue for
tax contingencies that may be adjusted due to changing facts and circumstances, such as case law, progress of tax
authority audits or when an event occurs that requires a change to the tax contingency accruals. Management regularly
assesses the appropriateness of provisions for income taxes and believes that it has appropriately accrued for any
contingent tax liabilities as at the reporting date.

n) Intangible assets

Intangible assets consist of a customer list and internally-developed software. The capitalised cost of the customer list is
the fair value at the date of acquisition. Expenditure on internally-developed software is recognised as an asset when the
Bank is able to demonstrate its intention and ability to complete the development, can use the software in a manner that
will generate future economic benefits and can reliably measure the costs to complete the development. The capitalised

costs of internally-developed software include all costs directly attributable to developing the software.

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and are amortised over an estimated useful life.
Internally developed software is amortised on a straight-line basis over a maximum useful life of seven years. The
customer list is amortised over an estimated useful life of five years using the straight-line method and has been fully-
amortised at the reporting date. The amortisation of the intangible assets is included in the 'Other expenses’ line item in
the Statement of Income. ’

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The
recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in Statement of Income.

o) Retirement benefit costs

The Bank has a defined contribution pension plan and a legacy defined benefit scheme, which is closed to new
participants. The defined benefit plan is a CS group scheme and the Bank is not the sponsoring entity.

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19 'Employee Benefits' for defined benefit plans that share risks between
various entities under common control, no retirement benefit obligation is recognised in the Statement of Financial
Position of the Bank. In this instance, defined contribution accounting is applied as the Bank has no contractual
agreement or stated policy for incurring any charges by the sponsoring employer for the net defined benefit cost.
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The Bank's share of the defined benefit obligation is instead recognised in the Statement of Financial Position of the
sponsoring entity, Credit Suisse International (‘CSi'), which is external to the Bank but is a related party due to both
entities being owned by CSG.

Obligations for contributions to the defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the Statement of
Income as incurred.

p) Share-based payments

The Bank accounts for share-based transactions with its employees as cash-settled share-based payment transactions,
as the Bank has the legal obligation to settle the arrangement by delivering an asset that is not its own equity instrument.
This entails the recognition of a liability, incurred and related to share-based payments, over the service period and in
proportion to the service delivered at fair value. If the employee is eligible for normal or early retirement, the award is
expensed over that shorter required service period. If an award consists of individual tranches that vest in installments
(i.e. graded vesting), each tranche of the award is expensed separately over its individual service period.

The fair value of the liability is remeasured until the liability is settled and the changes in fair value are recognised in the
Statement of Income.

q) Other compensation plans

The Bank has deferred compensation plans that can be in the form of fixed or variable deferred cash compensation. The
expense for these awards is recognised over the service period, which is the period the employee is obligated to work in
order to become entitled to the cash compensation. Fixed deferred cash compensation is generally awarded in the form
of sign-on bonuses and employee forgivable loans. Variable deferred cash compensations are awards where the final
cash pay-out is determined by the performance of certain assets, a division or the CS group as a whole. The awards are
expensed over the required service period and accruals are adjusted for changes to the expected final pay-out.

r) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity, or
are present obligations where it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation, cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. A
contingent liability is not recognised as a liability but rather is disclosed, except for those acquired under business
combinations, which are recognised at fair value.

s) Provisions

Provisions are recognised for present obligations as a result of past events which can be reliably measured, where it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations. The amount
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation as of the
Statement of Financial Position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. The
expense recognised when provisions are established is recorded in ‘Other expenses' in the Statement of Income.

t) Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense include the interest income on the Bank's lending activities, interest bearing deposits and
reverse repurchase agreements and the expenses on the Bank’s deposits and long-term borrowings. Interest income
and expense do not include interest flows on the Bank’s trading derivatives. Interest income and expense on instruments
measured at amortised cost is accrued, and any related net deferred premiums, discounts, origination fees or costs are
amortised as an adjustment to the yield over the life of the related asset or liability. When the financial assets become
credit-impaired, interest income should be calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e.
net of the ECL provision).
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u) Commissions and fees

Commissions and fees revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and
excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Bank recognises revenue when it satisfies a contractual
performance obligation. Variable consideration is only included in the transaction price once it is probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with
the amount of variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Generally no significant judgement is required with
respect to recording variable consideration.

If a fee is a fixed percentage of a variable account value at contract inception, recognition of the fee revenue is
constrained as the contractual consideration is highly susceptible to change due to factors outside of the Bank's
influence. However, at each performance measurement period (e.g. daily, monthly, quarterly), recognition of the
cumulative amount of the consideration to which the Bank is entitled is no longer constrained because it is calculated
based on a known account value and the fee revenue is no longer variable. Further information on revenue from contract
with customers is included in Note 6 - Revenue from contract with customers.

v) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion
of the Bank, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 ('IFRS’) and the applicable legal requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and to do so management is required to make critical judgements. Management also makes certain accounting
estimates to ascertain the value of assets and liabilities and determine the impact to the Statement of Income.
Judgements and estimates are based upon the information available at the time and actual results may differ materially.
The following critical judgements and estimations, where applicable, have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

In the course of preparing the financial statements, no critical accounting judgements have been made in the process of
applying the accounting policies, other than those noted below. However, a number of estimates have been made that
have had a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

The following critical judgements and estimations, where applicable, have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

Litigation contingencies

The Bank is involved in a variety of legal, regulatory and arbitration matters in connection with the conduct of its
businesses.

Key Estimates

It is inherently difficult to predict the outcome of many of these matters, particularly those cases in which the matters are
brought on behalf of various classes of claimants, which seek damages of unspecified or indeterminate amounts or
questionable legal claims. In presenting the financial statements, management makes critical accounting estimates
regarding the outcome of legal, regulatory and arbitration matters and takes a charge to the Statement of Income when
losses with respect to such matters are probable and can be reasonably estimated, net of any reimbursements and
settlement discounts available. Charges are not established for matters when losses cannot be reasonably estimated.
Estimates, by their nature, are based on judgement and currently available information and involve a variety of factors,
including but not limited to the type and nature of the litigation, claim or proceeding, the progress of the matter, the
advice of legal counsel and other advisers, the Bank's defences and experience in similar cases or proceedings.

Please see Note 18 — Provisions for more information.
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Allowance and impairment losses on financial instruments subject to ECL model

Judgement is required in the measurement of ECL across all categories of financial assets and in the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining ECL and the assessment of SICR. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. The Bank's
ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of
variable inputs and their interdependencies.

Elements of the ECL models that are considered key accounting judgements include but are not limited to:

¢ The Bank's quantitative and qualitative criteria for assessing if there has been a SICR and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis;

* The determination of the associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs; and

*  Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the economic
inputs into the ECL models.

It is the Bank's policy to regularly review its models for actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.

Please see Note 22 - Expected Credit Loss Measurement for more information.

4, Net interest income

The following table sets forth the details of net interest income:

2022 2021’
£000 £000
Interest income on loans 71,761 55,175
Interest income on securities purchased under resale agreement 9,091 1
Interest income on interest bearing deposits 7,978 1,099
Total interest income 88,830 56,275
Interest expense on deposits (6,632) (724)
Interest expense on securities purchased under resale agreement 311) (1,186)
Interest expense on short-term borrowings ’ (8,822) (1,133)
" Interest expense on long term debt (12,300) (2,079
Total interest expense (28,065) (5,122)
Net interest income 60,765 51,153
of which Interest income of financial assets measured at amortised cost 88,830 56,275
of which Interest expense of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (28,065) (5,122)
12021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.
5. Net commission and fee income
The following table sets forth the details of net commission and fee income:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Investment and portfolio management fees 14,598 15,784
Commission income for other securities business ) 23,987 24,971
Fees for other customer services 15,463 14,464
Commission and fee income 54,048 55,219
Commission expense for other securities business (740) (1,068)
Commission and fee expense ' , (740) (1,068)
Net commission and fee income 53,308 54,151
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The following table sets forth the breakdown of net fee income from financial Instruments at amortised cost:

2022 2021

~ £000 £000

Origination fees 117 34
Total fee income 17 34

6. Revenue from contracts with customers

Nature of services

The following is a description of the principal activities from which the CSUK generates its revenues from contracts with
customers.

Performance obligations are typically satisfied as the services in the contract are rendered. Contract terms are such that
‘they do not result in any contract assets or contract liabilities. The contracts generally do not include a significant
financing component or obligations for refunds or other similar obligations. Any variable consideration included in the
transaction price is recognised only when the uncertainty of the amount is resolved and it is probable that a significant
reversal of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.

CSUK is a wealth management business that provides comprehensive advisory services and tailored investment and
financing solutions to wealthy private clients and extemal asset managers through the following core service offerings:

Investment and portfolio management (including other services)

Credit Suisse Invest is a discretionary mandate offering that is supported by a dedicated team of investment
professionals at Credit Suisse. Typically, CSUK earns an ongoing fee covering portfolio management, safe keeping,
transaction and the purchase/redemption of investments. Fees are calculated based on the average value of the client’s
portfolio and charged quarterly in arrears. CSUK recognises receivables as it fulfills its performance obligations.

Credit Suisse Invest Expert is an advisory mandate offering that covers a variety of tailor-made services and technical
expertise in wealth planning, investment consulting, alternative investments and trading. Typically, CSUK earns ongoing
advisory fees and ongoing safekeeping fees that are calculated based on the average value of the client’s portfolio and
charged quarterly in arrears. Both fees are billable regardless of whether the client acts on any investment advice
provided by CSUK. CSUK typically eamns transaction/brokerage fees on execution of client trade orders (advised and
non-advised trades).

The Market Insights service is designed for research-driven investors who are looking for proactive engagement with
Credit Suisse, access to house research views and customised trade ideas. Typically, CSUK receives a fixed quarterly
fee regardless of client trading activity along with transaction/brokerage fees at the point of execution and on-going safe
keeping fees that are calculated based on the average value of the client's portfolio and charged quarterly in arrears.

Other securities business

The Direct Access Client ('DAC') service is tailored for experienced absolute return-oriented investors looking for direct
access to market specialists who can provide timely market intelligence, opportunistic trade ideas and trade execution
across multiple asset classes. Typically, CSUK will earn transaction/brokerage fees at the point the trade is executed
and ongoing safe keeping fees that are calculated based on the average value of the client's portfolio and charged
quarterly in arrears.

In addition, CSUK may earn a margin on Foreign Exchange (‘FX') transactions in connection to providing these services.
These fees are recognised at the point the FX trade is executed.

CSUK offers its clients the full capabilities of Credit Suisse through its collaboration across the CS group, regardless of

_divisional and regional boundaries. When CSUK is involved in Transfer Pricing Arrangements (‘TPA’) and Revenue Share
Agreements (‘RSA'), revenues and expenses resulting from these arrangements are generally reported on a gross basis
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in the financial statements. This follows the requirements of IFRS 15 for the presentation of certain costs that were
previously offset against revenue.

The intercompany collaboration allows CSUK to earn a share of client revenues through RSAs. These revenues are
recognised when CSUK completes its obligations under the agreement and are reflected in the line item 'Other
Securities business' in the following table.

Contract with customers and disaggregation of revenue

2022 2021
£000 £000
investment and portfolio management 14,608 15,784
Other securities business 23,870 924,938
Other services 15,463 14,464
Total 53,931 55,186

The table above differs from Note 5 - Net commission and fee income as it includes only those contracts with customers that are in scope of IFRS 15.

No impairmeht losses were recognised on contract receivables during the reporting period.

Contract Balances

2022 2021
£000 £000
Contract receivables 4,460 5,696

The Bank did not recognise any revenues in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods.

No impairment losses were recognised on revenue during the reporting period.

Capitalised costs

The Bank has not incurred costs in obtaining a contract nor costs to fulfill a contract that are eligible for capitalisation.
Remaining performance obligations

The practical expedient allows the Bank to exclude from its remaining performance obligations disclosure of any
performance obligations that are part of a contract with an original expected duration of one year or less. Additionally,
any variable consideration for which it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will occur, when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved, is not
subject to the remaining performance obligations disclosure because such variable consideration is not included in the

transaction price (e.g. investment management fees). Upon review, the Bank determined that no material remaining
performance obligations are in scope of the remaining performance obligations disclosure.
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7. Compensation and benefits

The following table sets out the details of compensation and benefits:

Credit Suisse (UK) Limited
Annual Report 2022

- . 2022 ~ .- 2021
£000 £000
Salaries and bonuses (30,576) (32,841
Social security (4,554) (56,021)
Pension cost (2,899) (2,784)
Restructuring costs (493) 16
Other (680) (1,056)
Compensation and benefits (39,202) (41,686)
8. General and administrative expenses
The following table sets out the details of other expenses:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Litigation (1,046) (4,217)
Other provisions and losses (398) (820)
Professional services' (24,542) (16,980)
Occupancy expenses2 (8,330) (7,417)
Depreciation and amortisation (3,566) (1,738)
Travel and entertainment (636) (367)
Market Information (1,173) (1,001)
UK Bank Levy (651) ©611)
Non income taxes (2,335) (2,088)
Dues and fees (694) (774)
Auditors' remuneration (1,084) (881)
IT costs (1,575) (1,536)
Expenses charged by other CS group companies (6,171) (2,319)
Other expenses (759) (780)
General and administrative expenses (51,860) (41,529)

! represents outsourcing, contractor and other professional services.
2 represents an allocation of charges from fellow CS group companies

Auditors' remuneration

Auditors’ remuneration to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in relation to the statutory audit amounted to £298k of which
£80k relates to additional fees for 2021 paid in 2022 (2021: £220k). Audit related services amounted to £496k, of this
£480k relates to CASS of which £195k relates to additional fees for 2021 paid in 2022 (2021:£471k). Other
permissible assurance services amounted to £290k of which £180k relates to additional fees for 2021 paid in 2022

(2021: £190k).
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9. Income tax expense

2022 2021
£000 £000
Current tax
Current tax on profits for the period (4,390) (2,449)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (836) 1,475
Total current tax expense (5,226) (974)
Deferred tax
Debit to Statement of Income for the year (1,702 (875)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods 265 135
Effect of changes in tax rate or the imposition of new taxes (300) 862
Total deferred tax (expense)/benefit (1,737) 122
Income tax expense (6,963) (852)

During 2022, the UK government enacted legislation to decrease the UK banking surcharge rate from 8% to 3% with
effect from 1 April 2023.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ('OECD') and G20 Inclusive Framework on Base
Erosion and Profit Shifting announced plans to introduce a global minimum tax rate of 15% and the OECD issued model
rules in 2021. During 2022 further OECD guidance has been released and draft legislation to implement the global
minimum tax regime has been published by the UK Government. The UK Government has stated that it intends to enact
legislation in 2023 to apply for accounting periods beginning on or after 31 December 2023. CSUK has reviewed the
published OECD model rules and further guidance along with the draft UK legislation and has been assessing the
expected impact ahead of the implementation of the new regime. CSUK wiill review further guidance as well as new
legislation expected to be released by governments implementing this new tax regime and continue to assess the
potential impact.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the Statement of Income as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Profit before tax 21,421 10,907
Income tax expense computed at the statutory rate of 19% (2021: 19%) (4,0869) (2,072)
Impact of UK bank corporation tax surcharge (1,779 (948)
Other permanent differences (155) (178)
Adjustments to current tax in respect of previous periods (836) 1,475
Adjustments to deferred tax in respect of previous periods 265 135
Effect on deferred tax resulting from changes to tax rates (300) 862
Differential in movement in deferred taxes to that at statutory tax rate (89) (126)
Income tax expense (6,963) (852)
10. Securities purchased under resale agreements
2022 2021
£000 £000
Securities purchased under resale agreements 562,004 1,048,198
Total 562,004 1,048,198

This represents the collateralised resale agreement with CSi, used to earn net interest income as well as to optimise the
regulatory liquidity ratios. These are collateralised principally by govemment securities and the maturities of the
transactions are based on the options for period of settlement provided for in the Global Master Repurchase Agreement.
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The Bank monitors the fair value of securities received and requests additional securities or the return of a portion of the
cash disbursed when appropriate in response to a decline in the market value of the securities received. Similarly, the

retumn of excess securities or additional cash is requested by CSi, when appropriate, in response to an increase in the
market value of securities sold under the repurchase agreement.

11. Loans and advances

The following table sets forth details of the domestic (United Kingdom) and foreign loan portfolios by borrowers:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Commercial 1,656 8,891
Consumer 791,672 940,312
United Kingdom 793,228 949,203
Commercial 18,896 - 14,577
Consumer 905,338 1,093,926
Foreign 924,234 1,108,503
Allowance for credit losses (refer Note 22) (4,485) (8,834)
Deferred fee income (6,449) (7,733)
Total Loans and advances 1,706,528 2,041,139
Gross Impaired loans 105,926 177,498

12. Investments in subsidiaries

The Bank has two subsidiaries, Buckmore Nominees Limited and Credit Suisse London Nominees Limited. Pursuant to
section 401 of the UK Companies Act 2006, the Bank is exempt from preparing and delivering group financial
statements as the Bank is a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of CSG, incorporated in Switzerland, which prepares
consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with Section 409 of UK Companies Act 2006, a list of CSUK's subsidiaries, their country of incorporation
and effective percentage of equity owned at 31 December 2022 is disclosed.

Buckmore Nominees Limited

The wholly-owned company is incorporated and operates in the United Kingdom and has £1 of ordinary shares. As at 31
December 2022 the net worth of the entity is £2 (2021: £2). The Board of Buckmore Nominees Limited has decided to
liquidate the Company in the next 12 months.

Credit Suisse London Nominees Limited

The wholly-owned company is incorporated and operates in the United Kingdom and has £1 of ordinary shares. As at 31
December 2022 the net worth of the entity is £100 (2021: £100).

CSUK and CSG is the immediate and ultimate parent, respectively, for the above subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries Country Registered Office

Buckmore Nominees United Compliance Deﬁartment, Credit Suisse, Private Banking, 16th Floor, Five
Limited Kingdom  Cabot Square, London E14 4QR, United Kingdom

Credit Suisse London United C/o Credit Suisse Private Banking, Compliance Department, Five Cabot
Nominees Limited Kingdom  Square, London E14 4QR, United Kingdom
Restrictions

The Bank and its subsidiaries have certain restrictions that may limit the ability of the Bank to access or use the assets
and settle the liabilities of the Bank. These restrictions may be statutory, contractual or regulatory in nature.

The Bank must at all times monitor and demonstrate compliance with the relevant regulatory capital requirements set out
in the Capital Requirements Regulation ('CRR’) and as laid down by the PRA. The Bank has processes and controls to
monitor and manage its capital adequacy. For more information regarding the Bank's capital adequacy and how the
capital resources are managed and monitored please refer to Note 32 — Capital Adequacy.
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The Bank must maintain a cash reserve deposit of £2.1m (2021: £2.7m) with the Bank of England, which is treated as
an encumbered asset.

The Bank has placed cash collateral of £21.0m (2021: £18.8m) with Credit Suisse Switzerland Ltd. for client trading of
exchange traded derivatives.

Under the European Market Infrastructure Regulation, the Bank is required to exchange margin with CSAG for client
trading OTC FX derivatives. The Bank has received £4.7m of margin from CSAG (2021: the Bank placed £2.5m of
margin with CSAG).

13. Other assets

2022 2021

£000 £000
Interest and fees receivable' 12,626 10,604
Amounts owed by Credit Suisse group undertakings 42,775 36,814
Other? 1,426 959
Total 56,827 48,377
Allowance for credit losses 32 (25)
Total other assets 56,795 48,352

'Interest and fees receivable includes interest income of £8.2m (2021: £56m) and fees receivable of £4.4m (2021: £5.6m).
%Other includes mainly prepaid expenses.

14. Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a recoverable tax rate of 28%
(2021: 33%), which includes the impact of the UK banking surcharge. Deferred taxes are calculated on carry-forward
tax losses using an effective tax rates of 25% (2021: 19%).

The movement for the year on the deferred tax position is analysed as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Deferred tax assets 3,479 5,137
Deferred tax liabilties (7sy (96)
‘Net Position ' 3304 5,041

2022 2021

£000 £000
Balance at 1 January 5,041 4,919
Debit to Statement of Income for the year (1,702) (875)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods : 265 - 135
Effect of change in tax rate : (300) 862
At end of the year 3,304 5,041
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

2022 2021
Components of net deferred tax assets £000 £000
Employee compensation and benefits 1,068 3,098
Decelerated tax depreciation - 1,081 1,044
Deferred tax impact on losses carried forward 1,340 995
Deferred tax assets netted against deferred tax liabilies (175) (96)
At end of the year 3,304 5,041
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2022 2021
Components of net deferred tax liabilities £000 £000
Derivatives - .. . , ) o (68) (96)
ntangibles 7 - 07 =
Deferred tax liabilities netted against deferred tax assets 175 96
At the beginning of the year - -
The deferred tax (expense)/benefit in the Statement of Income comprises the following temporary differences:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Employee compensation and benefits (2,040) 170
‘Decelerated tax depreciaon 37 2
Derivatives o8 @
Intangibles (107) —
Deferred tax impactubn losses carried forward 345 (46)
Total deferred tax (expense)/benefit in the statement of income (1,737) 122

Deferred tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward only to the extent
that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. The Bank had estimated tax losses of £5.4m (2021: £5.2m) and
estimated temporary differences of £7m (2021: £12.3m) as at 31 December 2022. The deferred tax asset recognised

on the carried-forward tax losses is £1.3m (2021: £1m) and on temporary differences is £2m (2021: £4m).

The benefit of these losses and temporary differences has been recognised in the financial statements in full after

evaluating positive and negative evidence supporting the recoverability of deferred tax assets. Recovery of the deferred

tax assets will depend upon forecasted taxable profits earned by CSUK. If strategies and business plans deviate

significantly in the future from current management assumptions, the current level of recognised deferred tax assets may

need to be adjusted if full recovery of the recognised deferred tax asset balance is no longer probable based on

forecasted taxable profits. The use of tax losses carried forward by UK banks is restricted to a maximum of 50% of

taxable profits (26% for losses incurred prior to 1 April 2015). There is no loss expiry in the United Kingdom.
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15. Intangible assets
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Internally Total
developed Capital work in Intangible
31 December 2022 software® progress assets
£000 £000 £000
Cost
As at 1 January 16,871 5,765 22,626
Additions — 3,246 3,246
Cost adjustments and transfers 209 — 209
Disposals (344) — (344)
Reclassification 6,316 (6,316) —
As at 31 December 23,052 2,685 25,737
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
As at 1 January (8,582) - (8,582)
Amortisation for the year (3,259) - (3,259)
Disposals 118 — 118
Impaiment — 81) 81
As at 31 December (11,723) 81) (11,804)
Net book value as at 31 December 11,329 2,604 13,933
Internally Total
Customer developed Capital work Intangible
31 December 2021 list! software in progress Goodwill assets
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
As at 1 January 15,840 11,8565 7,555 13,752 49,002
Additions — — 3,799 — 3,799
Disposals — (578) - - (578)
Reclassification — 5,694 (5,594) — —
As at 31 December 15,840 16,871 5,760 13,752 52,223
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
As at 1 January (15,840) (6,735) — — (22,575)
Amortisation for the year — (1,841) — — (1,841)
Impairment — 6) (5) (13,752) (13,763)
As at 31 December (15,840) (8,582) () (13,752) (38,179)
Net book value as at 31 December - 8,289 5,755 -— 14,044

! Customer lists are fully amortised and have nil net book value as on 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
?Internally developed software consists mainly of the CS Digital application and the development costs for replacing
IBOR; remaining amortisation period is between 2 and 5 years.
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16. Deposits
2022 Restated 2021
' i o , £000 £000
Demand deposits 687,873 1,441,647
"'S..é;/ings deposits 7,217 6,534
“Time deposits’ 399,660 164,091
Total deposits 1,094,750 1,612,272
12021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Sigpificant Accounting Policies.
17. Other liabilities
2022 2021
£000 £000
Amounts owed to CS group undertakings 20,991 14,523
Employee benefits — cash bonus 4,178 6,500
Share award obligations 303 7,384
ECL on off-balance sheet credit exposures 2 6
Bank Levy 173 209
Clients' unclaimed amounts 1,218 1,081 '
Accruals 1,902 2,057
Interest payable 1,951 273
Other 678 850
Total other liabilities 34,128 32,883
18. Provisions
2022 2021
Banking Litigation Total Banking Litigation Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance as at beginning of the year 338 2,371 2,709 625 801 1,426
Provision recognised during the year — 1,917 1,917 151 4,362 4,513
Released during the year _ 871) @871) 63) (145) (208)
Utilised during the year (150) (2,849) (2,999) (3875) (2,620) (2,995)
"(‘fﬁz;ﬁges in forelgn exchange rates - (43) (43) — 27 27)
Balance as at 31 December 188 525 713 338 2,371 2,709

Banking provisions relate to all provisions recognised in accordance with IAS 37 that arise from the normal operations of
the Bank, other than those disclosed separately in the financial statements as litigation provisions.

Litigation provisions

Litigation provisions relate to the estimated liability exposure for cases that the Bank is defending or expects to defend.
CSUK accrues litigation provisions (including fees and expenses of external lawyers and other service providers) in
connection with certain judicial, regulatory and arbitration proceedings when reasonably possible losses, additional losses
or ranges of loss are more likely than not and can be reliably estimated. General Counsel in consultation with the
business reviews the Bank's judicial, regulatory and arbitration proceedings each quarter to determine the adequacy of
its litigation provisions and may increase or release provisions based on management'’s judgement and the advice of
counsel.

The anticipated utilisation of these litigation provisions typically ranges from a six to eighteen months period, however
certain litigation provisions are anticipated to extend beyond this period. Further provisions or releases of litigation
provisions may be necessary in the future as developments in such litigation, claims or proceedings warrant. CSUK has
established provisions in line with the above process for all cases but believes that disclosure of the specific facts of such
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cases would violate confidentiality obligations to which CSUK is subject to or prejudice seriously CSUK's management of

the matters. The exact timing of outflow of economic benefits cannot be ascertained at 31 December 2022.

19. Short-term borrowings

Short-term borrowings of £827m (2021 : £1,001m) are obtained from

requirements.

Credit Suisse AG to meet the Bank's liquidity

Pursuant to amendments in IAS 7 — Cash Flow Statement, below is the reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities:
2022 Cash Flows Non cash Changes
Opening FX and FV Accrued Closing
balance Issuance Repayment Movement Interest Balance
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Short-term borrowings 1,000,730 615,093 (824,808) 35,418 - 827,333
Interest on short-term
borrowings 834 — (6,928) - 8,822 2,728
Restated 2021’ Cash Flows Non cash Changes
Opening FX and FV Accrued Closing
balance Issuance Repayment Movement Interest Balance
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Short-term borrowings 881,810 857,592 (735,048) (3,624) - 1,000,730
Interest on short-term 476 _ (775) _ 1.133 834

borrowings

12021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.

20. Long-term debt

All of the Bank's Long term debt is provided by CSAG. £500m is in the form of an undated loan with an option to
terminate in 60 days by mutual consent, and £65m is in the form of Tier 2 capital instruments:

a. £30m drawn, repayable in September 2028 with a September 2023 call date; and
b. £26m drawn, of a £40m facility, repayable in January 2031.

The undated loan has been restated per Note 2.

Pursuant to IAS 7 Cash Flow Statement, the reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is shown in the

following table:

2022 Cash Flows Non cash Changes
Opening FX and FV Accrued Closing
balance Issuance Repayment Movement Interest Balance
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cong-fermdebt 560,579 B00000 _(503689) - . ...5%8%
Interest on long-term debt 228 — (12,293) — 12,300 235
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Restated 2021’ Cash Flows v Non cash Changes
Opening FX and FV Accrued Closing
balance Issuance Repayment Movement Interest Balance
© £000 £000 £000 £000 £000° ~ °~ £000
Long-term debt 566,190 500,139  (505,750) - - 560,579
Interest on long term-debt 204 — (2,055) — 2,079 228

12021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.

21. Share capital and share premium

2022 2021

No. of shares No. of shares

issued and fully issued and fully

paid-up £000 paid-up £000
Share capital
Ordinary voting shares @ £1.00 each 245,229,922 245,230 245,229,922 245,230
Total fully called-up share capital 245,230 245,230
Share premium
Share premium @ £0.27 each 41,479,922 11,200 41,479,922 11,200
Total share premium 11,200 11,200
Capital contribution
Capital contribution 57,500 57,500
Total capital contribution 57,500 57,500

Authorised share capital is unlimited.
The ordinary shares carry voting rights and the right to receive dividends.

22. Expected Credit Loss Measurement

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of
financial instrument as well as a reconciliation of the gross carrying amount. Explanation of the terms: 12-month ECL,
lifetime ECL and credit-impaired are included in Note 2()).
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Loans
Not Credit Impaired Credit Impaired Total
Lifetime ECL
(excluding purchased/ Lifetime ECL -
originated credit purchased/originated
12 Month ECL Lifetime ECL impaired) credit impaired
Purchased/originated
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 credit impaired
Gross Gross Gross Gross Gross
carrying Allowance carrying  Allowance carrying Allowance carrying Allowance carrying Allowance
amount for ECL amount for ECL amount for ECL amount for ECL amount for ECL
2022 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Opening balance 1,825,243 1,351) 54,965 (246) 177,498 (7,237) - — 2,057,706 (8,834)
Transfer to 12 month ECL 49,340 (10) (15,200) 10 (34,140) — — — — —
Transfer to Lifetime ECL not credit impaired (78,128) 14 81,578 14) (3,450) - — - - —
Transfer to Lifetime ECL credit impaired financial assets (27,289) 23 (30,629) 50 57,918 (73) - — — —
New financial assets originated or purchased 230,484 (148) — — - — — — 230,484 (148)
Financial assets that have been derecognised (including
write-offs) (408,591) 148 (8,422) 1 (86,837) 7,120 — — (503,850) 7,269
Other-changes (58,411) — (16,347) — (5,077) — — — (79,835) —
Net remeasurement of loss allowance - 34 - (42) — (2,764) - — — (2,772
Foreign exchange 12,943 — — — 14 — — - 12,957 —
Closing balance 1,545,591 (1,290) 65,945 (241) 105,926 (2,954) - - 1,717,462 (4,485)
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Loans
Not Credit Impaired Credit Impaired Total
Lifetime ECL
(excluding purchased/ Lifetime ECL -
originated credit purchased/originated
12 Month ECL Lifetime ECL impaired) credit impaired
Purchased/originated
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 credit impaired
Gross Gross Gross Gross Gross
carrying Allowance carrying  Allowance carrying Allowance carrying Allowance carrying Allowance
amount for ECL amount for ECL amount for ECL amount for ECL amount for ECL
2021 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 * £000 £000
Opening balance 1,728,925 (2,020) 90,535 (345) 189,291 (8,832) 2,278 (184) 2,011,029 (11,381)
Transfer to 12 month ECL 32,683 1" (32,683) ()] - — - - — —
Transfer to Lifetime ECL not credit Impaired (136,905) 112 144,698 (112) (7,793) - - - — —
Transfer to Lifetime ECL credit impaired financial assets - - (87,938) 220 87,938 (220) - — — —
New financial assets originated or purchased 413,773 (225) - — — — — — 413,773 (225)
Financial assets that have been derecognised (including
write-offs) (303,383) 40 (15,524) 11 (61,627) 3 2,130) 171 (382,664) 225
Other changes 91,167 — (44,123) - (30,166) — — — - 16,878 —
Net remeasurement of loss allowance - 731 — 9) — 1,812 - — . — 2,534
Foreign exchange (1,017) - - - (145) - (148) 13 (1,310 13
Closing balance 1,825,243 (1,351) 54,965 (246) 177,498 (7,237) - — 2,057,706 (8,834)
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[[{{ ble loan itments
Not Credit Impaired Credit Impaired Total
Lifetime ECL (excluding
purchased/originated credit
12 Month ECL Lifetime ECL impaired)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross carrying Allowance for Gross carrying Allowance for Gross carrying Allowance for Gross carrying Allowance for
Particulars amount ECL amount ECI amount ECL amount ECL
2022 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Opening balance 45,581 @ 15,219 ) - . — 60,800 6)
Transfer to 12 month ECL 15,220 ®) (15,220) 3 - — — —
Transfer to Lifetime ECL not credit impaired (3,100} — 3,100 — — - - -
New financial assets originated or purchased 13,800 - — - — - 13,800 —
Financial assets that have been derecognised (including
write-offs) (4,160} — - - - — (4,160) —
Other changes (38,776) - (1,999) - - — (40,775) —
Net remeasurement of loss allowance — 3 — 1 — — — 4
Foreign exchange - — — — — — — —
Closing balance 28,565 (2) 1,100 — — — 29,665 2
2021
Opening balance 36,301 8) 2,650 — — — 38,951 (8)
Transfer to Lifetime ECL not credit impaired (15,220 1 15,220 (1) — — — -
New financial assets originated or purchased 30,311 (&) — - — — 30,311 2
Financial assets that have been derecognised (including
write-offs) : (8,656) 3 (738) — — — (9,394) 3
Other changes 2,845 — (1,913) — — — 932 —
Net remeasurement of loss allowance — 4 — 3) — — — 1
Foreign exchange — — — — — — — —
Closing balance 45,581 (2) 15,219 (4) — — 60,800 (6)
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The following table shows reconciliations from opening to the closing balance of the allowance for credit losses by class
of financial instrument:

. 2022 2021
Cash and due from banks © 7 £000 ~ £000
Opening balance 18 7
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 22 11
Foreign exchange ) 5 —
Closing balance 45 18
Interest-bearing deposits with banks £000 £000
Opening balance — 9
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 6 ©
Foreign exchange - -
Closing balance . 6 -
Other assets £000 £000
Opening balance 25 50
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 6 (25)
Foreign exchange 1 —
Closing balance 32 25

Allowance for credit losses on Financial Guarantees is immaterial for the current and previous year.

The transfer balance reflects the closing balance that went into the applicable Stage bucket i.e. transfers between
stages are considered to take place at the start of the period and the amount transferred is based on the closing balance
from the previous reporting period, which would not include any difference in measurement as a result of the change in
stage or as a result of any change in ECL assumptions. The same principle applies to the gross carrying amounts. Any
remeasurement of the loss allowance (e.g. from Stage 1 to Stage 2 considering the longer remaining life as well as the
significant credit deterioration) is reflected in the line ‘Net remeasurement of loss allowance’'.

The line item ‘other changes’ relates to any other movement in the gross carrying amount that is not included in the
above categories e.g. modifications that did not result in derecognition; any changes in the gross carrying amount from
installment payments and changes in the drawn amount for revolving facilities. This line item also reflects the impact of
measurement of the gross carrying amount and loss allowance for Stage 3 financial assets without impact on the
Statement of Income.

The line item ‘foreign exchange' includes any movements in the gross carrying amount and loss allowance that are
attributable to foreign exchange movements during the period for financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign
currency.

The key inputs into the measurement of ECLs (Stage 1 and Stage 2) are the term structures of the following variables:
- Probability of Default (PD);
- Loss given default (LGD); and
- Exposure at default (EAD).

These parameters derive from internally-developed statistical models and historical data that leverage regulatory models.
They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described below to derive point-in-time, forward-looking term
structures.

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date and are calculated based on statistical rating models and assessed using
rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based on
internally and externally-compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. A change in the estimate of
the associated PD arises if a counterparty or exposure migrates between rating classes. Lifelong PDs are estimated
considering the contractual maturities of exposures and estimated prepayment rates.
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LGD is the magnitude of the expected loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters based on the
history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure, collateral,
seniority of the claim, geography, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial
asset.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the current exposure
to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract, including amortisation and
prepayments. The EAD of a financial asset is the gross carrying amount at default. For lending commitments and
financial guarantees, the EAD considers the drawn and potential future amounts drawn or repaid under the contract
based on historical observations. For some financial assets, the Bank determines EAD by modelling the range of
possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical techniques.

Where a relationship to macroeconomic indicators is statistically sound and in line with economic expectations, the
parameters are modelled accordingly and incorporate the Bank's forward-looking forecasts. Considering the short
remaining life of Lombard loans, forward-looking forecasts only have limited relevance.

For the residential mortgage portfolio, any forward-looking information will be reflected by expert credit judgement. On a
quarterly basis, economic indicators that are deemed to have a significant impact on the PD and LGD for residential
mortgages will be considered in the expert credit judgment approach together with the Bank’s forward-looking forecast.
The expert credit judgment may result in an increase or decrease of the ECL estimates produced by the residential
mortgages ECL model. Note that the expert credit judgment will determine whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk in the residential mortgage portfolio that will result in a transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2. The Bank's Credit
Risk Committee will govern the expert credit judgment process, which is subject to quarterly review.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for financial assets for which credit risk has not
significantly increased, the Bank measures ECLs considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period
(including any borrower's extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for risk management
purposes, the Bank considers a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Bank
has the right to require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

There is an exemption from this limit for residential mortgage facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn
commitment component and where the Bank's contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn
commitment does not limit the Bank's exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. For these financial
instruments, the Bank measures ECL over the period that it is exposed to credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by
credit risk management actions, even if that period extends beyond the maximum contractual period. These actions
include a reduction in timits or cancellation of the facility. Determining the instruments in scope for this exemption and
estimating the appropriate remaining life requires significant judgment.

In addition to macro-economic factors that are taken into account when assessing PD and LGD, the Bank also applies
expert credit judgement based on the idiosyncratic element of the residential mortgage portfolio. This takes into account
facilities approved on a non-recourse basis (increasing the LGD), as well as where the Bank retains a large on-balance
sheet exposure for a certain facility (after using sub-participation), reflecting a large capital value for a specific property
held as collateral, which is likely to be less liquid (also impacting LGD).

The Bank's Credit Risk Management performed sensitivity analysis based on a range of assumed movements in the
Knight Frank PCL House Price index. Historically, we have observed that it is this risk driver that has had the biggest
influence on our residential mortgage ECL Macro Economic Factor overlay for Stage 1 and Stage 2 loans. The
sensitivity analysis was performed using the following six assumed falls in the index across a 12 month horizon: -5%
(ECL: £0.9m), -10% (ECL: £1.4m), -15% (ECL: £1.4m), -20% (ECL: £1.6m), -26% (ECL: £1.6m) and -30% (ECL:
£1.9m). Using the PD and LGD triggers that have been in place since 2018, we observed a sensible correlation
between the assumed falls and the resulting ECLs. Credit Risk Management performed an additional sensitivity analysis,
which incorporated an assumed deterioration in staging from 1 to 2 for residential mortgages where the assumed falls in
the index resulted in a dynamic Loan to value ('LTV') of 80% or higher. Again, although this resulted in higher ECLs, the
correlation between the assumed falls and the resulting ECLs did not give rise for a need to change the PD and LGD
triggers ranges we continue to use in our Macro Economic Factor methodology.
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The following tables show the values of the key forward looking economic variables/assumptions used in each of the
economic scenarios of the geographical segments relevant for the Bank's ECL calculations. The figures for ‘Subsequent
years' represent a long-term average and so are the same for each scenario.

United Kingdom - 2022

Macro- Function-

economic corporates/ Elcnipf?gtmo:n
factors financial ECL Assigned Latest increase in
(MEF) institutions scenario probabilities data End Period Projections MEF
Dec'22 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
% % % % % % %
UK Real GDP Growth Rate (%YoY) : Y
Consumer  Downside 40 05 (3.0 0.1 1.0 1.4 1.5
Consumer  Baseline 50 0.5 (1.4) 1.1 1.5 1.5 1.5
Consumer  Upside 10 05 1.2 13 1.6 1.6 1.5
UK Prime Central London (PCL) House Price Index (% YoY) v
Consumer  Downside 40 18 (9.8) 22 26 29 3.0
Consumer  Baseline 50 1.8 (0.9) 2.8 29 3.0 3.0
Consumer  Upside 10 1.8 0.3 3.8 3.7 3.6 3.0
UK 1Y Government Bond Yield (%) 0
Consumer  Downside ° 40 35 4.5 30 2.7 2.7 2.8
Consumer  Baseline 50 - 35 4.3 3.2 2.7 2.7 2.8
Consumer  Upside 10 35 42 3.1 2.7 2.7 2.8
MSCI World Equity Index (levels) ) 4
Consumer  Downside 40 2,603 1,794 2387 2997 3,156 3,315
Consumer  Baseline 50 2,603 2628 2838 2997 3,156 3,315
Consumer  Upside 10 92603 2,990 2,988 2997 3,156 3,315
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United Kingdom - 2021

Macro-  Function- Impact on
economic corporates/ ECL from an
factors  financial ECL Assigned Latest increase in
(MEF) institutions scenario probabilities data End Period Projections MEF
Dec'21 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
% % % % % % %
UK Real GDP Growth Rate (% YoY) N2
Consumer  Downside 40 3.7 1.5 1.3 1.5 1.8 1.8
Consumer  Baseline 50 38 6.3 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8
Consumer  Upside 10 5.6 8.3 2.1 1.9 18 18
UK Prime Central London (PCL) House Price Index (%YoY) J
Consumer  Downside 40 0.8 2.9 1.4 23 2.8 3.0
Consumer  Baseline 50 1.7 08 21 2.8 2.9 3.0
Consumer  Upside 10 2.3 2.3 2.7 35 3.3 3.0
UK 1Y Government Bond Yield (%) T
Consumer  Downside 40 0.2 0.4 1.4 2.2 2.7 3.2
Consumer  Baseline 50 0.3 1.0 1.6 22 2.7 3.2
Consumer  Upside 10 04 1.2 1.7 2.2 2.7 3.2
MSCIi World Equity Index (levels) J
Consumer  Downside 40 2,837 2,126 2865 3616 3,703 3,791
Consumer  Baseline 50 3,103 3,441 3528 3616 3,703 3,791
Consumer  Upside 10 3,208 3600 3623 3616 3,703 3,791

Current period estimate of ECL

One of the most significant judgments involved in estimating the Group's allowance for credit losses relates to the
macroeconomic forecasts used to estimate credit losses over the forecast period, with modeled credit losses being
driven primarily by a set of 4 MEFs. The key MEFs used in each of the macroeconomic scenarios for the calculation of
the expected credit losses include, but are not limited to GDP. These MEFs forecasts are recalibrated on a monthly
basis. These MEFs are used in the portfolio- and region-specific ECL models and have been selected based on
statistical criteria and expert judgment to explain expected credit losses.

As of 31 December 2022, the forecast macroeconomic scenarios were weighted 50% for the baseline, 40% for the
downside and 10% for the upside scenario, unchanged compared to the scenario weightings applicable as of 31
December 2021. The forecast range, based on annual average of 4 quarters in a year, for the increase in UK real GDP
was -2.4% to 0.6% for 2023 and -0.6% to 1.3% for 2024, which compares to an estimated real GDP growth of 4.3%
in 2022. The forecast in the baseline scenario for the timing of the recovery of the quarterly series for UK real GDP to
return to pre-pandemic levels (i.e., the fourth quarter of 2019) was the third quarter of 2025, based on the latest
published statistical data available. The macroeconomic and market variable projections incorporate adjustments to
reflect the impact of accelerated monetary policy tightening by the world's major central banks in response to high
inflation rates, the impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on energy and food prices as well as the macroeconomic
impact of the property sector slowdown in China. While GDP growth rate is significant input to the forecast models, a
range of other inputs are also incorporated for all three scenarios to provide projections for future economic and market
conditions. Given the complex nature of the forecasting process, no single economic variable is viewed in isolation or
independently of other inputs.

Expected credit losses are not solely derived from MEF projections. Model overlays based on expert judgment are also
applied, considering historical loss experience and industry and counterparty reviews, and are primarily impacting certain
corporate and institutional loans. Such overlays are designed to address circumstances where in management's
judgment the IFRS 9 ECL model outputs are overly sensitive to the effect of economic inputs that exhibit significant
deviation from their long-term historical averages. Overlays may also be used to capture judgment on the economic
uncertainty from global or regional developments with severe impacts on economies.
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23. Employee share-based compensation and other compensation benefits

Payment of deferred compensation to employees is determined by the nature of the business, role, location and
performance of the employee. Unless there is a contractual obligation, granting deferred compensation is solely at the
discretion of the Compensation Committee and senior management. Special deferred compensation granted as part of a
contractual obligation is typically used to compensate new senior employees for forfeited awards from previous
employers upon joining the Bank. It is the Bank's policy not to make multi-year guarantees.

Compensation expense for share-based and other awards that were granted as deferred compensation is recognised in
accordance with the specific terms and conditions of each respective award and is primarily recognised over the future
requisite service and vesting period. This is determined by the plan, retirement eligibility of employees, two-year
moratorium periods on early retirement and certain other terms. All deferred compensation plans are subject to restricted
covenants that generally include non-compete and non-salicit provisions. Compensation expense for share based and
other awards that were granted as deferred compensation also includes the current estimated outcome of applicable
performance criteria, estimated future forfeitures and mark-to-market adjustments for certain awards that are still
outstanding.

Total compensation (income)/expense for cash-settled share-based compensation plans recognised during 2022 and
2021 was £(2.2)m and £0.9m, respectively. The total stock award liability recorded as at 31 December 2022 was
£2.6m (2021: £6.2m). The fair value used to calculate the stock award liability was the closing CSG share price as at
31 December 2022: CHF 2.764 (2021: CHF 8.872). The average weighted fair value of awards granted in 2022 was
CHF7.07 (2021: CHF 12.10). The intrinsic value of vested share-based awards outstanding as at year end was £0.7m
(2021: £1.7m).

The recognition of compensation expense for the deferred compensation awards granted in February 2023 began in
2023 and thus had no impact on the 2022 financial statements. Further information is available in Note 35 -
Subsequent events. ‘

\

Share Awards

Share awards granted in February 2023 are similar to those granted in February 2022. Each share award granted
entitles the holder of the award to receive one CSG share, subject to service conditions. Share awards vest over three
years with one third of the share awards vesting on each of the three anniversaries of the grant date (ratable vesting),
with the exception of awards granted to individuals classified as material risk takers (MRTs), risk manager MRTs or
senior managers or equivalents under the EU or UK Capital Requirements Directive V related provisions. As of February
2023, share awards granted to MRTs vest over four years with one quarter of the award vesting on each of the four
anniversaries of the grant date. Share awards granted to risk manager MRTs vest over five years with one fifth of the
award vesting on each of the five anniversaries of the grant date. Share awards granted to senior managers vest over
seven years, with one fifth of the award vesting on each of the third to seventh anniversaries of the grant date. Share
awards are expensed over the service period of the awards. The value of the share awards is solely dependent on the
CSG share price at the time of delivery.

The share awards include other awards, such as blocked shares, and special awards, which may be granted to new
employees. These awards entitle the holder to receive one CSG share and are generally subject to continued
employment with the Company, contain restrictive covenants and cancellation provisions and generally vest between zero
and five years.

The number of share awards granted to employees was generally determined by dividing the deferred component of
variable compensation being granted as share awards by the average price of a CSG share over the ten consecutive
trading days which ended on 23 February 2023. The fair value of each share award was CHF 2.866 the CSG share
price on the grant date.

The majority of share awards granted include the right to receive dividend equivalents on vested shares.
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Movements in the number of share awards outstanding were as follows:

Number of units 2022 2021
As at 1 January 577,591 671,995
Granted 304,824 242,198
Shares transferred in L m—— 7,465 14,193
Delivered (9892,485) (312,665)
Forfeited (73,365) (38,070)
As at 31 December ‘ 534,030 577,591

Performance Share Awards (‘PSA')

Prior to 2023, certain employees received a portion of their deferred variable compensation in the form of performance
share awards. Performance share awards are similar to share awards, except that the full balance of outstanding
performance share awards, including those awarded in prior years, are subject to performance-based malus provisions.
Performance share awards will no longer be used as a form of deferred compensation award for the 2022 performance
year onwards.

Qutstanding performance share awards are subject to a downward adjustment in the event of a divisional loss by the
division in which the employees worked as at 31 December 2022, or a negative CSG ROE, whichever results in a larger
adjustment. For employees in Corporate Functions and the Asset Resolution Unit, the downward adjustment only applies
in the event of a negative CSG ROE and is not linked to the performance of the divisions. The basis for the ROE
calculation may vary from year to year, depending on the Compensation Committee's determination for the year in which
the performance shares are granted.

A downward adjustment has been applied to outstanding performance share awards, reflecting the negative CSG RoE
and full year divisional loss in the Investment Bank for 2022.

The majority of performance share awards granted include the right to receive dividend equivalents on vested shares.

Movements in the number of performance share awards outstanding were as follows:

Number of units 2022 2021
As at 1 January 511,168 435,167
Granted 54.510 167,010
Shares transferred (out)/in o ©530) 9,142
Delivered (108,406) "(59,027)
Forfeited (36,838) (25,124)
As at 31 December 417,904 511,168

Contingent Capital Awards ('CCA")

Contingent Capital Awards (CCA) will no longer be used as a form of deferred compensation award for the 2022
performance year onwards. CCA were granted in February 2022 and 2021 to certain employees as part of the 2021
and 2020 deferred variable compensation and have rights and risks similar to those of certain contingent capital
instruments issued by CSG in the market. CCA are scheduled to vest on the third anniversary of the grant date, other
than those granted to individuals classified as MRTs, risk manager MRTs or senior managers or equivalents under the
EU or UK Capital Requirements Directive V related provisions. CCA granted to MRTs, risk manager MRTs and senior
managers vest on the fourth, fifth and seventh anniversaries of the grant date, respectively. CCA awards will be
expensed over the vesting period. CCA generally provide a conditional right to receive semi-annual cash payments of
interest equivalents until settled, with rates being dependent upon the vesting period and currency of denomination. CCA
granted in 2022 and 2021 that vest four, five or seven years from the date of grant are not eligible for semi-annual cash
payments of interest equivalents. CCA granted to certain regulated employees that vest over three years are not eligible
for semi-annual cash payments of interest equivalents.
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Below are description for interest equivalents on both, USD and CHF denominated CCAs, however not all entities are
granted with both type of awards.
CCA granted in 2022 and 2021 that are denominated in US dollars and vest three years from the date of grant
receive interest equivalents at a rate of 4.18% and 3.60% respectively, per annum plus the daily compounded
(spread exclusive) US dollar Secured Ovemight Financing Rate ('SOFR');
e CCA granted in 2022 and 2021 that are denominated in Swiss francs and vest three years from the date of
grant receive interest equivalents at a rate of 3.44% and 3.06% respectively, per annum plus the daily
compounded (spread exclusive) Swiss franc Swiss Average Rate Overnight ('SARON").

The rates were set in line with market conditions at the time of grant and existing high-trigger and low-trigger contingent
capital instruments that CSG has issued.

At settlement, employees will receive either a contingent capital instrument or a cash payment based on the fair value of
the CCA. The fair value will be determined by CSG. In the case of a cash settlement, the CCA award will be converted
into the local currency of each respective employee.

CCA have loss-absorbing features such that prior to settlement, the principal amount of the CCA would be written down
to zero and forfeited if any of the following trigger events were to occur:
e CSG's reported common equity tier 1 ('CET1") ratio falls below 7%; or
¢ FINMA determines that cancellation of the CCA and other similar contingent capital instruments is necessary, or
that CSG requires public sector capital support, in either case to prevent it from becoming insolvent or
otherwise failing.

Total compensation (income)/expense recognised for CCAs during the year ended 31 December 2022 was £(0.2)m
(2021: £ 0.8m).

Upfront cash awards

In February 2023, certain employees were granted upfront cash awards as part of the cash component of their 2022
variable compensation. During 2022 and 2021, certain employees were also granted upfront cash awards. These
awards are subject to repayment (clawback) by the employee in the event of voluntary resignation, termination for cause
or in connection with other specified events or conditions within three years of the award grant. The amount subject to
repayment is reduced in equal monthly installments during the three-year period following the grant date. The expense
recognition will occur over the three-year vesting period, subject to service conditions.

Total compensation expense recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022 was £2.1m (2021: £0.6m).

Strategic Delivery Plan ('SDP')

Strategic Delivery Plan (SDP) was a one-off share-based award granted in February 2022 to certain employees to
incentivize the longer-term delivery of the Group's strategic plan. The SDP awards are subject to service conditions and
performance-based metrics over the course of 2022-2024. SDP awards are scheduled to vest on the third anniversary
of the grant date, with the exception of awards granted to individuals classified as material risk takers (MRTSs), risk
manager MRTs or senior managers or equivalents under the EU or UK Capital Requirements Directive V related
provisions. SDP awards granted to MRTs vest in equal annual installments over two years, commencing on the third
anniversary from the grant date. SDP awards granted to Risk Manager MRTs vest in equal annual installments over
three years, while SDP awards granted to Senior Managers vest in equal annual installments over five years, both
commencing on the third anniversary from the grant date. Prior to settlement, the principal amount of the SDP awards
will be written down to zero and forfeited if any of the following triggering events exist at the end of 2023, 2024 or
2025:

e The Group's reported CET1 capital ratio below the FINMA-prescribed minimum + 50 basis points; or
¢ The Group's reported common equity tier 1 (CET1) leverage ratio falls below 3.7%.
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In addition, the Compensation Committee will review and assess the overall success of the delivery of the strategic plan
at a Group level over the three-year period (2022-2024) and may increase the SDP awards up to a maximum of 50% of
the initial award amount. Half of the potential uplift would be granted if a pre-determined average Group return on
tangible equity threshold is achieved, measured over the key strategic implementation years 2023 and 2024. The other
half of the uplift may be awarded based on the Compensation Committee’s assessment of risk management and other
strategic non-financial achievements.

The majority of SDP awards granted include the right to receive dividend equivalents on vested shares.

Sﬁategic Delivery Plan (SDP) will no longer be used as a form of deferred compensation award for the 2022
performance year onwards.

Movements in the number of SDP outstanding were as follows:

Number of units 2022 2021
As at 1 January — —
Granted 478,206 —
Share transferred out (5,578) —
B e —
Forfeited (49,169 —
As at 31 December 425,759 -

24. Retirement benefit obligations

The Bank is one of many participants, who are all related parties under common contral, to a funded, final salary defined
benefit pension plan in the UK (‘UK DB Plan'). The primary employer and sponsoring entity of the UK DB Plan is CSi.

The Bank has no contractual agreement or stated policy for incurring any charges by the sponsoring employer for the
net defined benefit cost, therefore it accounts for its share of the plan using defined contribution accounting. During
2022 and 2021, the Bank made no contributions to the UK DB Plan.

Defined Contribution Pension Plans

The Bank also contributes to various defined contribution pension plans primarily in the UK. The contributions in these
plans during 2022 and 2021 were £2.9m and £2.8m, respectively.

25. Related party transactions

The Bank is indirectly wholly-owned by Credit Suisse Group AG, incorporated in Switzerland. Copies of Group financial
statements of Credit Suisse Group AG and Credit Suisse AG, which are those of the largest and smallest groups in
which the results of the Bank are consolidated, are available to the public and may be obtained from Credit Suisse Group
AG, Paradeplatz, P.O. Box 1, 8070 Zurich, Switzerland and UK Companies House, Crown Way, Cardiff CF14 3UZ,
United Kingdom.

The Bank is involved in financing and other transactions and has related party balances with subsidiaries and affiliates of
CSG. The Bank has transferred loans to CSAG, which are derecognised. The Bank enters into these transactions in the
ordinary course of its business on usual market terms.
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a) Related party assets and liabilities

31 December 2022

Restated 31 December 2021

- T Fellow - —~ - - Fellow”
Group Group
Parent companies ECL Total Parent companies ECL Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Assets '
cash and due from 466239 6322  (45) 472516 402587 2460 (18 405020
Interest-bearing _ _ — — -
deposits with banks 48,754 ©) 48,748
Securities purchased
under resale — 562,004 — 562,004 — 1,048,198 — 1,048,198
agreements .
Trading financial assets _ —
man da%orily A EVTPL 9,853 1,578 11,431 5,866 3,261 9,127
Other assets 13,915 28,860 27 42,748 4,561 25,924 (16) 30,469
Total assets 538,761 598,764 (78) 1,137,447 413,014 1,079,843 (34) 1,492,823
Liabilities
Deposits’ 401 21 - 422 — — — -
Trading financial
liabilities mandatorily at 6,625 669 — 7,294 2,347 2,815 — 5,162
FVTPL
Other liabilities 8,688 12,304 — 20,992 4,296 10,297 - 14,523
Short-term borrowings' 827,333 — 827,333 1,000,730 — — 1,000,730
Long term debt' 556,890 — — 556,890 535,579 25,000 — 560,579
Total liabilities 1,399,937 12,994 — 1,412,931 1,542,882 38,112 - 1,580,994
12021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.
b) Related party income statement
2022 Restated 2021
Fellow Group Fellow Group
Parent companies Total Parent companies Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Interest income 8,623 9,238 17,861 1,312 4 1,316
Interest expense (20,383) (1,050) (21,433) (2,409) (804) (3,213)
Eﬁﬁaﬁa Gommission and 8,618 1,600 10,218 20,660 1,801 92,551
Total (3,142) 9,788 6,646 19,563 1,091 20,654

'Includes trademark fees of £521k (2021: £650k) paid to ultimate parent CSG.

22021 numbers have been restated to include custodian fees of £9.2m under *Fellow Group Companies".
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¢) Related party off balance sheet items

'31 December 2022

31 December 2021

Fellow Group

Fellow Group

Parent companies Total Parent companies Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Derivatives notional
amounts 435,810 — 435,810 432,553 — 432,553
Collateral received under
securities purchased under — 593,349 593,349 — 1,110,387 1,110,387
resale agreements
faciy " Scbordmated deb 15000 15,000 — 15000 15,000
Total 435,810 608,349 1,044,159 432,553 1,125,387 1,557,940
d) Remuneration of Directors
2022 2021
£000 £000
Emoluments 1,908 1,680
Long-term incentive schemes:
Amounts paid under Deferred Cash Awards 36 5
Amounts delivered under Share-based Awards 346 216
Subtotal 2,290 1,901
Compensation for loss of office — 103
Bank's contributions to defined contribution 71 32
2,361 2,036

Total

Emoluments include amounts paid to or receivable by the Directors. Only vested Cash Retention Awards are included in
emoluments. Long-term incentive schemes consist of deferred cash awards and share-based awards and are not given
to Non-Executive Directors who only receive a fixed fee. Deferred cash awards are included in the period when the
amounts vest and are paid, and share-based awards are included in the period when the amounts vest and are delivered.

Where Directors perform services for a number of companies within the CS group, the total remuneration payable to
each director has been apportioned to the respective entities based on a time spent per company allocation for that

Director.

The aggregate of emoluments and long-term incentive scheme paid to or received by the highest paid Director was
£1,033k (2021: £1,068k). The Director was also a member of a defined contribution plan and no contributions were
made into the plan during the year (2021: nil). During the year, the highest paid Director also received an entitlement to
shares under a long-term incentive scheme. Directors have not received/exercised any share options during the year.

The amounts included in the UK Companies Act disclosures are on a different basis than the recognition requirements of
IFRS 2 and IAS 37 and the disclosure requirements of IAS 24. The aggregate amount of remuneration accrued in the
Bank's accounts for Directors in accordance with IFRS requirements for 2022 was £1,188k (2021: £2,617k).
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e) Number of Directors and Benefits
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Number of Number of
Directors Directors
2022 2021

Retirement benefits are accruing to the following number of Directors under:
Defined contribution schemes 4
Defined benefit schemes — —
No scheme 4
Both defined contribution and defined benefit - —
The number of Directors who exercised share options - —
Directors in respect of whom services were received or receivable under A

long term incentive schemes

) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

Key Management Personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any Director of the Bank. Key Management Personnel include

Directors and the members of the CSUK Executive Committee.

The numbers disclosed in the following table are based on amounts accrued in the financial statements for all
emoluments and long-term incentive schemes. Where Key Management Personnel perform services for a number of
companies within the CS group, the total remuneration payable to each key management person has been apportioned
to the respective companies based on a time spent per company allocation for that key management person.

2022 2021

£000 £000

Emoluments 2,444 2,398

Long-term incentive schemes (789) 849

Subtotal 1,655 3,247

Compensation for loss of office 98 100

Bank'’s contributions to defined contribution o1 105

Total 1,844 3,452
g) CSG Shares awarded to Key Management Personnel

2022 2021

489,857 289,420

Number of shares

The shares included above are the shares accrued in the period under the requirements of IFRS 2. These numbers differ
from the share awards included in the UK Companies Act disclosures above, which are disclosed in the period in which

they vest and are delivered.

h) Loans and advances to Key Management Personnel

There was no loan outstanding to Key Management Personnel of the Bank as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

78



CREDIT Suiss

Notes to the financial statements for the Year ended 31 December 2022

26. Employees

Monthly average number of persons employed during the year was as follows:

o
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Number Number

2022 2021

Business functions 190 211
Corporate functions 68 55
Total 258 266

Average number of employees has been calculated as the average of January to December's employees employed.

27. Guarantees and commitments

The following tables set forth details of contingent liabilities associated with guarantees and commitments:

Maturity Maturity Maturity Maturity Total Collateral
<1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years >5 years amount received
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
31 December 2022
Credit guarantees and 11794 _ _ _ 11.794 11.794
similar instruments ! ! '
Total guarantees 11,794 - -— - 11,794 11,794
Loan commitments 13,800 15,865 - — 29,665 29,665
Total other commitments 13,800 15,865 - - 29,665 29,665
31 December 2021
Cfre.dit guarantees and 19.910 _ _ . 12910 12910
similar instruments ! ' !
Total guarantees 12,910 - - — 12,910 12,910
Loan commitments 16,777 18,458 25,565 — 60,800 60,800
Total other commitments 16,777 18,458 25,565 - 60,800 60,800

Credit guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make payments should a third party fail to do so under a
specified existing credit obligation. For example, the Bank provides guarantees to counterparties in the form of standby
letters of credit in connection with its lending business and other activities. These represent obligations to make
payments to third parties if the counterparty fails to fulfil its obligation under a borrowing arrangement or other

contractual obligation.

Loan commitments include undrawn credit facilities that cannot at any time be revoked without prior notice.

28. Financial instruments

The disclosure of the Bank's financial instruments includes the following sections:
1. Analysis of financial instruments by categories;
2. Fair value measurement (including the fair value hierarchy and qualitative disclosures of valuation techniques);

and

3. Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value.
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Analysis of financial instruments by categories

Financial instruments are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. The following table sets
forth the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank'’s financial instruments.

Total Total
Mandatorily Amortised carrying fair
at FVTPL cost amount value
31 December 2022 £000 £000 £000 £000
Financial assets
Cash and due from banks —475664 475664 475,664
Interest—bearing.]"a.eposits with banks . T 48,748 48,748 58,340
Securities purchased under resale agreements — 562,004 562,004 562,004
Trading financial assets mandatorily at FVTPL 18,813 — 18,813 18,813
Loans and advances 706,698 1,706,628 1,664,267
Other assets - 55,369 55,369 55,369
Total financial assets 18,813 2,848,313 2,867,126 2,834,457
Financial liabilities '
Deposits Z71,094,750 1,004.750 1,132,356
Trading financial liabilities mandatorily at FVTPL 18,613 - 18,613 18,613
Other liabilies — 26,565 26,565 26,565
Short term borrowings — 827,333 827,333 817,834
“Long term debt ZTB56,800 556,890 556,658
Total financial liabilities 18,613 2,505,538 2,524,151 2,552,026
. . Total Total
Mandatorily :E Amorthfsd" :a,:g:,nngt va‘;ﬂ:
31 December 2021 £000 £000 £000 £000
Financial assets
Cash and due from banks 27408064 408,064 408,064
Interest-bearing deposits with banks - - - -
Securities purchased under resale agr.éements """" — 1,048,198 1,048,198 1,048,198
Trading financial assets mandatorily at FVTPL 14,333 — 14,333 14,333
Loans and advances — 72,041,139 2,041,139 2,103,546
Other assets - 47,394 47,394 47,394
Total financial assets 14,333 3,544,795 3,559,128 3,621,535
Financial liabilities
Deposits' 612,072 1,612,272 1,612,324
Trading financial liabilities mandatorily at FVTPL 14,023 - 14.;693 14,023
Other liabilities - 20,412 20,412 20,412
Short-term borrowings' ' 771,000,730 1,000,730 1,000,699
“Long term debt’ — 7860679 560,579 566,568
Total financial liabilities 14,023 3,193,993 3,208,016 3,214,026

12021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.
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Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the
principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date. The fair value of the Bank's financial instruments is
based on observable inputs. These instruments include OTC foreign exchange derivative instruments, mortgage-related
loans, portfolio loans, customer deposits and debt issuance.

In addition, the Bank could hold financial instruments for which no prices are available and which have little or no
observable inputs. Further deterioration of financial markets could significantly impact the value of these financial
instruments and the results of operations. For these instruments, the determination of fair value requires subjective
assessment and judgement, depending on liquidity, pricing assumptions, the current economic and competitive
environment and the risks affecting the specific instrument. In such circumstances, valuation is determined based on
management's own judgements about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability,
including assumptions about risk.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is impacted by factors such as benchmark interest rates, prices of financial
instruments issued by third parties, commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and index prices or rates. In addition,
valuation adjustments are an integral part of the valuation process when market prices are not indicative of the credit
quality of a counterparty and are applied to both OTC derivatives and debt instruments. The impact of changes in a
counterparty’s credit spread (known as credit valuation adjustments) is considered when measuring the fair value of
assets and where relevant the impact of changes in the Bank's own credit spreads (known as debit valuation
adjustments) is considered when measuring the fair value of its liabilities. For OTC derivatives, the impact of changes in
both the Bank’s and the counterparty's credit standing is considered when measuring the fair value, based on current
credit default swap prices. The adjustments also take into account contractual factors designed to reduce the Bank'’s
credit exposure to the counterparty, such as collateral held and master netting agreements.

Fair value hierarchy
The financial instruments carried at fair value are categorised under the three levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

e Level 1: Quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Bank has
the ability to access. This level of the fair value hierarchy provides the most reliable evidence of fair value and is
used to measure fair value whenever available.

e Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly. These inputs include: (i) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets; (i) quoted prices for identical or similar assets or similar liabilities in markets that are not active, that is,
markets in which there are few transactions for the asset and liability, the prices are not current or price
quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers, or in which little information is publicly
available; (jii) input other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; or (iv) inputs that are
derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

* Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
These inputs reflect the Bank's own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability (including assumptions about risk). These inputs are developed based on the best
information available in the circumstances, which include the Bank's own data. The Bank's own data used to
develop unobservable inputs is adjusted if information indicates that market participants would use different
assumptions.
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The following table presents the carrying value of the financial instruments held at fair value across the three levels of the

fair value hierarchy.

Level 3 _ Total at fair

As at 31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 value
£000 £000 £000 £000
Assets

Derivatives 1,332 17,481 - 18,813
of which foreign exchange products — 16,665 - 16,565
of which equity/index-related products 1,332 916 - 2,248
Trading financial assets mandatorily at FVTPL 1,332 17,481 - 18,813
Total assets at fair value 1,332 17,481 — 18,813

Liabilities
Derivatives 1,332 17,281 - 18,613
of which foreign exchange products — 16,366 — 16,366
of which equity/index-related products 1,332 915 - 2,247
Trading financial liabilities mandatorily at FVTPL 1,332 17,281 - 18,613
Total liabilities at fair value 1,332 17,281 - 18,613
As at 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total ?ltaflzié
£000 £000 £000 £000

Assets

Derivatives 3,803 10,530 - 14,333
of which foreign exchange products - 8,257 - 8,257
of which equity/index related products 3,803 2,273 — 6,076
Trading financial assets mandatorily at FVTPL 3,803 10,5630 — 14,333
Total assets at fair value 3,803 10,530 - 14,333

Liabilities
Derivatives 3,803 10,220 - 14,023
of which foreign exchange products — 7,947 — 7,947
of which equity/index related products 3,803 2,273 — 6,076
Trading financial liabilities mandatorily at FVTPL 3,803 10,220 - 14,023
Total liabilities at fair value 3,803 10,220 - 14,023

Qualitative disclosures of valuation techniques

The Bank follows the policies and procedures developed by the CS group that define the principles for controlling the
valuation of the Bank'’s financial instruments. Product Control and Risk Management create, review and approve

significant valuation policies and procedures.

For certain financial instruments, the fair value is estimated in full or in part using valuation techniques based on
assumptions that are not supported by market observable prices, rates, or other inputs. In addition, there may be
uncertainty about a valuation, which results from the choice of valuation technique or model used, the assumptions
embedded in those models, the extent to which inputs are not market observable, or as a consequence of other
elements affecting the valuation technique or model. Model calibration is performed when significant new market
information becomes available or at a minimum on a quarterly basis as part of the business review of significant
unobservable inputs for level 3 instruments. For models that have been deemed to be significant to the overall fair value

of the financial instrument, model validation is performed as part of the periodic review of the related model.
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Loans

Accrual-based loans for which the estimated fair value is disclosed in the table under ‘Analysis of financial instruments by
categories' above, consist of consumer loans relating to mortgages and loans collateralised by securities. Fair value is
determined using discounted cash flow analysis. Future cash flows are discounted using risk-adjusted discount rates that
are derived from observable market interest rates for applicable maturities and currencies and from counterparty-related
credit spreads. The estimated fair value of accrual-accounted loans without a stated maturity approximates to the
carrying amount.

Deposits

Accrual-based deposits for which the estimated fair value is disclosed in the table ‘Financial assets and liabilities by
categories' above are generally fair valued by using a discounted cash flow model incorporating the CS group’s credit
spread. The estimated fair value of accrual accounted deposits without a stated maturity approximates the carrying
amount; however, this does not include an estimate of the value attributed to the long-term relationships the Bank has
with its clients that in the aggregate add significant value to the Bank's stable deposit base.

Short-term financial instruments

Certain short-term financial instruments are not carried at fair value on the Statement of Financial Position and for such
instruments a fair value is disclosed in the table ‘Financial assets and liabilities by categories’. These instruments include:
cash and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits with banks, securities purchased under resale agreements, other
assets, other liabilities and payables and receivables arising in the ordinary course of business. For these financial
instruments, the carrying value approximates to the fair value due to the relatively short period of time between their
origination and expected realisation, as well as the minimal credit risk inherent in these instruments.

Long-term debt

Accrual-based long-term debt for which fair value is disclosed in the table 'Financial assets and liabilities by categories' is
fair valued using the discounted cash flow model incorporating the CS group’s credit spread.

Derivatives

Derivatives held for trading purposes include OTC derivatives. These derivatives are valued in the same manner as similar
observable OTC derivatives and are included in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The determination of the fair value of
many derivatives involves only a limited degree of subjectivity because the required inputs are observable in the market
place, while more complex derivatives may use unobservable inputs that rely on specific proprietary modelling
assumptions. Where observable inputs (prices from exchanges, dealers, brokers or market consensus data providers)
are not available, attempts are made to infer values from observable prices through model calibration (spot and forward
rates, mean reversion, benchmark interest rate curves and volatility inputs for commonly traded option products). For
inputs that cannot be derived from other sources, estimates from historical data may be made. OTC derivatives where
the value is derived from market observable inputs are categorised as level 2 instruments.

Foreign exchange derivatives

Foreign exchange derivatives include vanilla products such as spot, forward and option contracts where the anticipated
discounted future cash flows are determined from foreign exchange forward curves and industry standard optionality
modelling techniques. Where applicable, exchange-traded prices are also used for futures and option prices. For more
complex products inputs include, but are not limited to, prepayment rate, correlation, volatility skew and credit spread and
event probability.

Equity and index-related derivatives
Equity derivatives include vanilla options and swaps. Inputs for equity derivatives can include market comparable price.

Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value

IFRS requires the disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value in the Statement of
Financial Position. The following table sets forth the fair values of these financial instruments within the fair value
hierarchy:
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Total at fair
As at 31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value
. £000 £000 £000 £000
Assets
Cash and due from banks 473,625 2,039 - 475,664
Interest-bearing deposits with banks — 58,340 — 58,340
“Securities purchased under resale agreements - 562,004 - 562,004
“Loans and advances = = 1,664,267 1,664,067
Other assets mmmmmmmmmmm—— — 55,369 — 55,369
Total fair value of financial assets 473,625 677,752 1,664,267 2,815,644
Liabilities
Deposits 695,091 437,265 — 1,132,356
Short-term borrowings — 817,834 — 817,834
Long-term debt . 556,658 - 556,658
Other liabilities - 26,565 - 26,565
Total fair value of financial liabilities 695,091 1,838,322 - 2,533,413
Total at fair
As at 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value
£000 £000 £000 £000
Assets
Cash and due from banks 403,911 4,153 — 408,064
Interest-bearing deposits with banks — — — —
Securities purchased under resale agreements — 1,048,198 — 1,048,198
Loans and advances — — 2,1(55’:,546 2,103,546'"
e o ...47’394 .................. - 47|39..4...
Total fair value of financial assets 403,911 1,099,745 2,103,546 3,607,202
Liabilities
Deposits' 1,448,167 164,157 — 1,612,324
Short-term borrowingsl — 1,000,699 — 1,000,699
Long-term debt’ — 566,568 — 566,568
Other liabilities — 20,412 — 20,412
Total fair value of financial liabilities 1,448,167 1,751,836 - 3,200,003
'2021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.
29. Assets pledged or assigned
The following table sets forth details of assets with the right to sell or repledge in case of default:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Fair value of collateral received with the right to sell or repledge 593,749 1,110,387
Total of fair value of collateral received with the right to sell or repledge 593,749 1,110,387

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, collateral was received in connection with resale agreements. As at these dates,

none of the collateral received by the Bank had been sold or repledged.

These transactions were generally conducted under terms that are usual and customary for standard securitised lending
activities and other transactions described. The Bank, as the secured party, has the right to sell or repledge such

collateral.
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30. Financial instruments risk position

i. Capital Risk and Scenario Analysis

Capital Risk is the risk that the Bank does not maintain adequate capital to support its activities and maintain the
minimum capital requirements, including the risk of the mismatch between available resources and capital demand. The
CS group considers a strong and efficient capital position to be a priority. Consistent with this, Capital Risk is measured
and monitored by CSUK through regular capital adequacy reporting produced by the Basel Measurement & Reporting
team (‘BMR’). Intemal Capital Reports are distributed to management including period-on-period variance analysis to
ensure the drivers of movements in capital adequacy are identified and understood. This monitoring takes account of the
requirements of the current regulatory regime and any forthcoming changes to the capital framework.

Multi-year business forecasts and capital plans are prepared by CSUK, taking into account the business strategy and the
impact of known regulatory changes. These plans are subjected to various stress tests reflecting both macroeconomic
and specific risk scenarios as part of the ICAAP. Within these stress tests, potential management actions are identified.
The results of these stress tests and associated management actions are updated regularly, as part of the ICAAP, with
results documented and reviewed by the Board of Directors. The ICAAP then forms an input into the Supervisory Review
and Evaluation Process ('SREP') conducted by the PRA when assessing the Bank's minimum level of regulatory capital.

Each quarter, the ALM CARMC reviews the current capital adequacy position as well as a forecast position to identify
any potential adverse movements in the CET1 and Total Capital ratios that could require management action. The CRO
has established a risk appetite for capital risk and this is monitored quarterly by the ALM CARMC and Risk Committee.
Annually, the ICAAP assesses the adequacy of capital in both benign and during a range of plausible, adverse stress
scenarios. The ICAAP informs management of what reasonable actions may be necessary to restore the capital position,
if required, during times of economic stress.

Stress testing complements other risk measures by capturing CSUK's exposure to unlikely but plausible events, which
can be expressed through a range of significant moves across multiple financial markets, impacting CSUK's overall
capital position. The majority of scenario analysis calculations performed are specifically tailored toward the risk profile of
the business and limits may be established if they are considered the most appropriate control. Additionally, a set of
scenarios are used which assess the impact of significant, simultaneous movements across a broad range of markets
and asset classes to identify areas of risk concentration and potential vulnerability to stress events at the CSUK level.

Capital risk exposures are managed through two main levers: management of the lending pipeline to reduce credit risk
capital requirements; and via capital injection requests to the shareholders to increase capital resources. Management of
the lending pipeline would involve curtailment of new lending or amendments to underwriting standards, however, such
actions would need to consider the potentially damaging consequences on the franchise. Capital injections would follow
the CS group policy on the Capitalisation of Branches and Subsidiaries and would require a business plan, a strong
rationale for the injection and an assessment of the required types of capital.

85



CREDIT SUISSE e st Report 2052

Notes to the financial statements for the Year ended 31 December 2022

ii. Credit risk
Overview

Credit Risk refers to potential financial loss as a result of a borrower or counterparty failing to meet its financial
obligations or as a result of a deterioration in the credit quality of the borrower or counterparty.

In the event of a default, a bank generally incurs a loss equal to the amount owed by the debtor, less any recoveries
resulting from foreclosure, liquidation of collateral or the restructuring of the debtor. Credit risk exists within lending
products, commitments, and results from counterparty exposure arising from foreign exchange derivative and other
transactions.

CSUK primarily undertakes secured lending activity to a client base that comprises individuals, trusts and small
corporates, as well as Operating Companies in approved jurisdictions. Collateral is pledged via effective security
agreements and charges over assets to support the two categories of lending:
¢ Lombard, which is primarily uncommitted lending collateralised by cash, marketable securities, or guarantees;
and
* Real estate finance for commercial and residential properties, including buy-to-let and development finance.
Concentration risk is managed via limits setting and sub-participation to CSAG via its Guernsey Branch.

Credit risk management approach

Effective credit risk management requires a structured process to assess, monitor and manage risk on a consistent
basis. Accordingly, CSUK gives careful consideration of any proposed granting of credit, the setting of specific risk
thresholds, diligent ongoing monitoring during the life of the exposure and a disciplined approach to recognising credit
impairment and pursuing recoveries.

The CSUK credit risk management framework is regularly refined and covers all banking business areas that are
exposed to credit risk. The framework is designed to cover all of the credit exposures in the banking business and
comprises seven core components:

* an individual client rating system;

* a transaction rating system;

® a client credit limit system;

® country, regional, sector and client rating concentration limits;
* arisk-based pricing methodology;

* active credit portfolio management; and

¢ a credit risk provisioning methodology.

Credit risk is evaluated through a credit request and approval process, ongoing credit and counterparty monitoring and a
credit quality review process. Experienced credit officers analyse credit requests and assign internal ratings based on
their analysis and evaluation of the client's creditworthiness and the type of credit transaction.

CS group has developed a set of credit rating models tailored for different client segments (e.g. interational corporates,
financial institutions, asset finance, small and medium enterprises, commodity traders and residential mortgages) for the
purpose of internally rating counterparties to whom CS group is exposed to credit risk as the contractual party to a loan,
loan commitment or exchange-traded/over-the-counter derivative contract. The models are built from statistical data and
then subject to a thorough business review before implementation. Each credit rating model is validated independently
prior to implementation and on a regular basis. At the time of initial credit approval and review, relevant quantitative data
(e.g. financial statements and financial projections) as well as qualitative factors relating to the counterparty are used in
the models and result in the assignment of a credit rating or probability of default ('PD’), which measures the
counterparty's risk of default over a one-year period.

To ensure that ratings are consistent and comparable across all businesses, CS group has used an intemal rating scale
which is benchmarked to the external rating agencies, using the historical PD associated with external ratings. The
relationship between the PD and external agency ratings is reviewed on a regular basis and adjustments are made to
calibrate the internal rating classification to the assumed PD in the external ratings.

Additionally, an estimate of expected loss in the event of a counterparty default is assigned based on the structure of
each transaction. The counterparty credit rating is used in combination with credit (or credit equivalent) exposure and the
loss given default (‘'LGD') assumption to estimate the potential credit loss. LGD represents the expected loss on a
transaction should default occur and takes into account structure, collateral, seniority of the claim and, in certain areas,
the type of counterparty.
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CSUK Credit approval process and provisioning

Senior credit managers make credit decisions on a transaction-by-transaction basis, at authority levels reflecting the size
and complexity of the transactions and the overall exposures to counterparties and their related entities. These approval
authority levels are set both at a group functional and a legal entity level.

A system of credit limits is used to manage individual counterparty credit risk. Other limits are also established to address
concentration issues in the portfolio and limits for certain products. Credit exposures to individual counterparties or
product groupings and adherence to the related limits are monitored by credit officers and other relevant specialists.

In addition, credit risk is regularly reviewed by the Credit Risk Committee taking current market conditions and trend
analysis into consideration. The committee regularly analyses diversification and concentrations in selected areas as well
as emerging risks in lending sectors.

A credit quality review process provides an early identification of possible changes in the creditworthiness of clients and
includes asset and collateral quality reviews, business and financial statement analysis and relevant economic and
industry studies. Other key factors considered in the review process include current and projected business and
economic conditions, historical experience, regulatory requirements and concentrations of credit by product and
counterparty rating. Regularly updated watch-lists and review meetings are used for the identification of counterparties
where adverse changes in creditworthiness could occur.

Regular watch-list meetings are used to determine whether certain positions should be transferred to, and managed by
Recovery Management International (‘RMI"), an independent function that is responsible for setting the strategy and
determining provision levels for impaired facilities. A systematic provisioning methodology is used to identify potential
credit risk-related losses and impaired transactions are classified as potential problem exposure, non-performing
exposure, or non-interest earning exposure. Such provision levels are reviewed on an ongoing basis by RMI with any
proposed changes advised to CSUK.

Collateral held as security

The Bank regularly agrees upon collateral in the lending contracts to be received from borrowers. Collateral is security in
the form of an asset or third-party obligation that serves to mitigate the inherent risk of credit loss in an exposure, by
either substituting the borrower default risk or improving recoveries in the event of a default.

Collateral is pledged via effective security agreements and charges over properties to support both mortgage and
Lombard lending activities. CSUK has a very limited appetite for unsecured credit facilities.

The policies and processes for collateral valuation and management are defined by:
* alegal document framework that is bilaterally agreed with our clients; and
* a collateral management risk framework enforcing transparency through self-assessment and management reporting.

Collateral securing loan transactions primarily includes:

e Physical collateral in the form of real estate for mortgages — mainly residential, but also multi-family buildings, and
commercial properties (office, retail units, serviced apartments and student housing); and

* Financial collateral pledged against loans collateralised by securities (mostly cash and marketable securities), and
bank guarantees from other Credit Suisse legal entities.

Physical collateral received (in respect of mortgages facilities) is valued at the inception of the facility and, where
required for risk-weighted asset management purposes, on a triennial basis, however the Bank does have the right to
re-value more frequently, if required in certain circumstances. It is also revalued, as needed, to determine the
appropriateness of provision levels. Financial collateral received (in respect of loans collateralised by securities) for the
majority of cases, is valued daily, however exceptions are governed by the calculation frequency described in respective
legal documentation. The mark-to-market prices used for valuing collateral are a combination of firm and market prices
sourced from trading platforms and service providers, where appropriate. The management of collateral is standardised
and centralised to ensure complete coverage of traded products.

Reverse repurchase agreements entered by the Bank are typically fully collateralised instruments and in the event of
default, the agreement provides the Bank the right to liquidate the collateral held. These instruments are collateralised
principally by government securities and money market instruments. The Bank monitors the fair value of securities
borrowed and loaned on a daily basis with additional collateral obtained as necessary. The fair value of the collateral has
been included in the following table. For further information on the collateral and credit enhancements held against
reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowing, please refer to Note 10 — Securities purchased under resale
agreements.
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Collateral held against financial guarantees and loan commitments typically includes securities and inward bank
guarantees, as well as physical collateral for undrawn mortgage commitments. For further information about the
collateral and credit enhancements held against fmanaal guarantees and loan commitments, please refer to Note 27-
Guarantees and commitments. .

For further information on collateral held as security that the Bank is permitted to sell or repledge, please refer to Note
29 - Assets pledged or assigned.

Risk Mitigation

The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk on balance sheet and off-balance sheet financial
instruments, before taking account of the fair value of any callateral held or other credit enhancements unless such
credit enhancements meet offsetting requirements as set out in IAS 32. For financial assets recognised on the
Statement of Financial Position, the exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount as at 31 December 2022. For
financial guarantees granted and other credit-related contingencies, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the
maximum amount that the Bank would have to pay if the guarantees and contingencies are called upon. For loan
commitments and other credit-related commitments that are irrevocable over the life of the respective facilities, the
maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the committed facilities. If collateral or the credit enhancement
value for a particular instrument is in excess of the maximum exposure, then the value of collateral and other credlt
enhancements included in the table has been limited to the maximum exposure to credit risk.

2022 2021
Gross  Collateral Net Gross  Collateral Net
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cash and due from banks 475,664 - 475,664 408,064 — 408,064
Interest- -bearing deposits _
with banks 48,748 — 48,748 - -
Securities purchased under
resale agreements 562,004 562,004 — 1,048,198 1,048,198 —
Trading financial assets
mandatorily at FVTPL 18,813 4,740 14,073 14,333 2,391 11,942
Loans and advances 1,706,628 1,706,396 132 2,041,139 2,037,513 3,626
Other assets 55,369 — 55,369 47,394 - 47,394
Off balance sheet items:
- Loan commitments 29,665 29,665 — 60,800 60,800 —
T p—— ke esseRm e e ARR S e Re e RS RS RRA 48 S54ERRRA S48 bR O R AR R R AL AR RRERRR e R RSB0
similar instruments 11,794 11,794 — 12,910 12,910 —
Total 2,908,585 2,314,599 593,986 3,632,838 3,161,812 471,026
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The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost. Unless
specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or

guaranteed, respectively.
Credit risk exposures by rating grades

Cash and due from banks

2022
12-month EcL Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
not credit- not credit- _ credit- Total
impaired impaired impaired
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
£000 £000 £000 £000
AA+ to AA- 787 — — 787
A+ to A- 17,719 — — 17,719
BBB+ to BBB- 454,910 - - 454,910
BB+ to BB- 2,293 - - 2,293
Gross Carrying amount 475,709 — — 475,709
Loss allowance (45) — - (45)
Net Carrying amount 475,664 — — 475,664
2021
AA+ to AA- 84 — - 84
A+ to A- 405,054 — — 405,054
BBB+ to BBB- 104 — — 104
BB+ to BB- 2,840 — — 2,840
Gross Carrying amount 408,082 - — 408,082
Loss allowance (18) — - (18)
Net Carrying amount 408,064 — — 408,064

The Bank held cash and cash equivalents of £475.7m at 31 December 2022 (2021
equivalents are held with other banks that are rated at least AA to BB-.

: £408.1m). The cash and cash
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Interest-bearing deposits with banks

2022
- 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
not credit- not credit- _ credit- Total
impaired (Stage impaired impaired
1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
£000 £000 £000 . £000
A+ to A- — — - —
BBB+ to BBB- 48,754 — — 48,754
Gross carrying amount 48,754 - - 48,754
Loss allowance (6) — — (©6)
Net carrying amount 48,748 - - 48,748
2021
A+ to A- — - - —
BBB+ to BBB- — — - -
Gross carrying amount - - - -
Loss allowance - — — —
Net carrying amount - - - -
Loans and advances
2022
mi,:nc::’;tc; impaired impaired amﬁﬁfété Total
(Stapge ) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
AAA 246,640 — — — 246,640
AA+ to AA- 66,883 — - — 66,883
A+ to A- 9,617 — — — 9,517
BBB+ to BBB- 60,407 8,120 - — 68,627
BB+ to BB- 714,170 29,310 1,926 — 745,406
B+ and below 447,974 28,515 104,000 — 580,489
Gross carrying amount 1,545,591 65,945 105,926 - 1,717,462
Loss allowance (1,290) (241) (2,954) — (4,485)
Net carrying amount 1,544,301 65,704 102,972 - 1,712,977

In respect of those financial assets at Stage 3 as shown in the above table, the Bank agreed upon physical collateral in
the lending contracts to be received from borrowers. Physical collateral in respect of the associated mortgages facilities
at Stage 3 is revalued, as needed, to determine the appropriateness of provision levels. As at 31 December 2022, the
Bank had physical collateral with a value of £102.8m (2021: £173.9m) in respect of the Stage 3 financial assets.
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2021
12-month ECL Lifﬁg{n ;5,?:.' LifetimcereEd(iltl_. Purchased
n?r:'lc';‘rj;tci impaired impaired im;?ig:c; Total
(Stgge ) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
AAA 368,290 — — — 368,290
AA+ to AA- 51,371 — — - 51,371
A+ to A- 10,384 — - - 10,384
BBB+ to BBB- 65,445 12,660 1,695 - 79,700
BB+ to BB- 734,489 4,082 — - 738,571
B+ and below 595,264 38,223 175,903 — 809,390
Gross carrying amount 1,825,243 54,965 177,498 - 2,057,706
Loss allowance (1,351) (246) (7,237) — (8,834)
Net carrying amount 1,823,892 54,719 170,261 - 2,048,872
Other assets
2022
Lifetime Lifetime
12-month ECL ECL not ECL Purchased
not credit- credit- credit- credit- Total
impaired impaired impaired impaired
(Stage 1)  (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
AAA 464 — — — 464
AA+ to AA- 58 - - — 58
A+ to A- 21,015 — - - 21,015
BBB+ to BBB- 1,493 3 — - 1,496
BB+ to BB- 8,954 259 3 - 9,216
B+ and below 292,388 377 387 - 23,152
Gross carrying amount 54,372 639 390 — 55,401
Loss allowance (31) m — — 32
Net carrying amount 54,341 638 390 - 55,369
2021
AAA 204 — — — 204
AA+ to AA- 12 - - — 12
A+to A- 18,767 — — — 18,767
BBB+ to BBB- 124 80 — — 204
BB+ to BB- 7,522 4 — — 7,526
B+ and below 20,272 328 106 - 20,706
Gross carrying amount 46,901 412 106 - 47,419
Loss allowance (20) 5) — — (25)
Net carrying amount 46,881 407 106 — 47,394
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2022
- 12-month ECL -Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
not credit- ~  not credit- credit- Total
impaired impaired impaired
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
£000 £000 £000 £000
BBB+ to BBB- 557,004 - - 557,004
B+ and below 5,000 — — 5,000
Gross carrying amount 562,004 - - 562,004
Loss allowance — — — —
Net carrying amount 562,004 - - 562,004
2021
12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not credit- not credit- credit- Total
impaired impaired impaired
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stﬁg_e 3)
£000 £000 £000 £000
A+ to A- 1,043,198 — - 1,043,198
B+ and below 5,000 — - 5,000
Gross carrying amount 1,048,198 - - 1,048,198
Loss allowance — — — —
Net carrying amount 1,048,198 — - 1,048,198
Financial Guarantees
2022
12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not credit- not credit- credit- Total
impaired impaired impaired
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
£000 £000 £000 £000
AAA 11,794 — — 11,794
BB+ to BB- — — - —
Gross Carrying amount 11,794 - - 11,794
Loss allowance — — — —
Net Carrying amount 11,794 — - 11,794
2021
AAA 12,910 — - 12,910
BB+ to BB- — - — —
Gross Carrying amount 12,910 - - © 12,910
"Loss allowance — - — —
Net Carrying amount 12,910 - - 12,910
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Irrevocable Loan Commitments

2022
12-month  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
credit- not credit- _ credit- Total
mpaed  (Tpared mpaies
(Stage 1)
£000 £000 £000 £000
BBB+ to BBB- — — - —
BB+ to BB- 9,281 - 1,100 - 10,381
B+ and below 19,284 — X — 19,284
Gross Carrying amount 28,565 1,100 - 29,665
Loss allowance @ - — )
Net Carrying amount 28,563 1,100 - 29,663
2021
BBB+ to BBB- 9,359 - - 9,369
BB+ to BB- 36,222 - - 36,222 |
B+ and below - 15,219 — 15,219
Gross Carrying amount 45,581 15,219 - 60,800
Loss allowance © @ — (6)
Net Carrying amount 45,579 15,215 - 60,794

The following table represents credit risk by geographic location for foans, loan commitments and credit guarantees:

Country 2022 2021
£000 £000
Loans and advances

of which Domestic 793,227 949,175
of which Foreign 924,235 1,108,631
British Virgin Islands 204,416 313,124
Jersey 92,107 106,619
Hong Kong 74,514 62,875
Saudi Arabia 71,311 57,979
United Arab Emirates 46,947 32,742
Switzerand 46,880 46,690
Monaco ' 46,769 61,127
Others 341,201 427,375
1,717,462 2,057,706

Loan commitments and credit guarantees
of which Domestic ' 17,500 46,237
of which Foreign 23,959 97,473
British Virgin Islands 8,484 15,220
Turkey 10,800 —
Others . 4,675 12,253
41,459 73,710
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Included in the following table are the Bank's financial assets at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. Note that not all asset classes

are included in this disclosure.

On No Deferred Allowance
demand < 3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years > 5 years Specific fees and for Total
Maturity costs impairment
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
31 December 2022 '
Cash and due from banks 20,829 454,880 — — — - - . (45) 475,664
Interest-bearing deposits with - 19,084 28,012 1,668 - - - ® 48,748
Securities purchased under resale
agreements 562,004 — — — — — - - 562,004
Trading financial assets
mandatorily at FVTPL 18,813 - - - - - - - 18,813
Loans and advances 203,415 260,907 129,768 1,051,206 72,166 — 6,449) (4,485) 1,706,528
Other assets - — — - - 55,401 — 32 55,369
Total assets exposed 805,061 734,871 157,780 1,052,864 72,166 55,401 (6,449) (4,568) 2,867,126
31 December 2021
Cash and due from banks 26,732 381,350 — — — — — - (18) 408,064
Interest-bearing deposits with _
banks - - - - - - - -
Securities purchased under resale
agreements 1,048,198 - - — — - — - 1,048,198
Trading financial assets _ _ _ _ — — -
mandatorily at FVTPL 14,333 14,333
Loans and advances 212,777 351,050 305,160 1,145,641 43,178 — (7,733) 8,834) 2,041,139
Other assets — — -~ - — 47,419 - (25) 47,394
Total assets exposed 1,302,040 732,400 305,160 1,145,541 43,178 47,419 (7,733) (8,877) 3,559,128
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Collateral and other credit enhancements

fn the Bank, all collateral values for loans are regularly reviewed according to the Bank's risk management policies and
directives, with maximum review periods determined by collateral type, market liquidity and market transparency.

At 31 December 2022, the net carrying amount of credit-impaired financial assets amounted to £106m (2021:
£177.5m) and the value of identifiable collateral held against those financial assets amounted to £102.8m ( 2021:
£173.9m). For each financial asset, the value of disclosed collateral is capped to the nominal amount of the financial
asset that it is held against. The decrease in credit impaired financial assets is due to a decrease in the number of credit
impaired customers from 22 in 2021 to 21 in 2022.

During the period, there was no change in the Bank's collateral policies.

The following table shows the distribution of LTV ratios for the Bank's gross credit impaired portfolio:

2022

£000
Lower than 50% 10,048
50 - 60% 33,009
60 - 70% 48,197
70 - 80% 7,822
80 - 90% 6,140
90 - 100% -
Higher than 100% 710
Total 105,926
iii. Market Risk
Overview

Market risk arises from potential adverse changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, equity prices,
commodity prices and other relevant parameters, such as market volatilities. CS group defines its market risk as the risk
to eamnings or capital due to adverse changes in market factors, including equity, credit spreads, commodity prices, FX,
interest rates and other factors. A typical transaction may be exposed to a number of different market risks.

CS group has policies and processes in place to ensure that market risk is captured, accurately modelled and reported,
and effectively managed. Furthermore, CSUK adopts these policies from a legal entity perspective. Trading and non-
trading portfolios are managed at various organisational levels, from the overall risk positions at CS group level down to
specific portfolios. CS group uses market risk measurement and management methods in line with industry standards.
Measurement tools are used for internal market risk management, internal market risk reporting and extemal disclosure
purposes. The principal measurement methodologies are Value at risk (‘VaR') and scenario analysis. The risk
management techniques and policies are regularly reviewed to ensure they remain appropriate.

CS group’s VaR model is subject to internal governance including model validation independent from model developers.
Validation includes identifying and testing the model's assumptions and limitations, investigating its performance through
historical and potential future stress events, and testing that the live implementation of the model behaves as intended.

Criteria for Inclusion in the Trading Book Policy

CSUK falls within the scope of CS group's Trading Book Policy. The policy sets out the principles for the classification of
products between the Trading Book and Banking Book for the purpose of regulatory capital and market risk
measurement. Specifically, it sets out the criteria that must be met in order to allocate positions to the Trading Book.
The policy is common to all entities within CS group and adherence to its requirements is mandatory.
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The criteria for Trading Book classification are, broadly, that the position must be a transferable or hedgeable financial
instrument; that there must be trading intent or a hedging relationship with another Trading Book item; and that daily fair
value methodology must be applied for regulatory and risk management purposes.

Exposure to Market Risk

The Bank has a policy of not taking proprietary market risk positions. Trading transactions are generally entered into on
either an agency or back-to-back basis with other CS group entities. Therefore CSUK's exposure to market risk typically
arises from three sources:
e Structural interest rate and structural FX risk arise primarily from the loan and deposit books (a core value
proposition and service offering). CSUK will avoid carrying material open interest or FX rate positions;
e FXrisk arising from trades undertaken on behalf of clients. CSUK will aim to ensure net FX risks are neutral or
matched currency positions resulting in minimal net daily profit and loss; and
* Exposure to settlement risk arising from trades executed on behalf of clients on a Delivery Versus Payment
(‘'DVP") basis. CSUK's aggregate risk appetite for market risk arising from DVP services is subject to gross
notional (oneway) and VaR thresholds, which are quantified in the Risk Appetite and monitored when failed
trade levels breach appetite.

Typically CSUK's loan book is GBP denominated, whilst the deposit book is spread across a number of currencies. FX
risk arising from this currency mismatch in the Banking Book is managed for CSUK by CS Global Treasury. The
mandate given to CS Global Treasury is to run a matched currency book. Currency positions for CSUK are aggregated
with currency positions of other CS group entities and, where possible, intemally matched before any hedging with
external counterparties are undertaken.

Currency risk

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its
financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both
overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.

The following table summarises the Bank’s exposure to major foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

2022 2021
Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Euro 153,693 (153,526) 167 160,054 (160,522) 432
US dollar 717,143 727171) (10,028) 800,315 (803,216) (2,901)
Swiss franc 4,711 (9,237) (4,526) 11,765 (3024 (1,259)

Foreign exchange risk related to accrued net income and net assets is centrally and systematically managed on a group
basis with a focus on risk reduction and diversification. Risk is monitored and managed at an entity level through the
levelling of accrued profit and losses that are incurred in a currency other than the entity’s functional currency. Where
there is active market risk taking due to a client order, the Bank will aim to eliminate any open non-GBP FX exposure as
soon as possible, thus reducing currency risk.

iv. Treasury Risk
Interest Rate Risk on the Banking Book

The interest rate risk exposures in the non-trading positions (interchangeably called “Banking Book") mainly arise from
retail banking, and related funding activities, with the majority of interest rate risk managed by Treasury centrally on a
portfolio basis within approved limits using appropriate hedging strategies.

CSUK monitors and manages interest rate risk in the Banking Book by established systems, processes and controls.
Risk sensitivity figures are provided to estimate the impact of changes in interest rates, which is one of the primary ways
in which these risks are assessed for risk management purposes. In addition, CSUK confirms that the economic impacts
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of adverse shifts in interest rates, including a 200 basis points parallel shift in the yield curve and non parallel shifts, are
significantly below the regulatory capital threshold used by regulators to identify excessive levels of non-trading interest
rate risk.

CS group's Board of Directors defines interest rate risk appetite for the Group and its subsidiaries, including CSUK, on
an annual basis. Within those limits, the ALM CARMC and CSUK Board of Directors define a risk control cascade.

The risks associated with the non-trading interest rate-sensitive portfolios are measured using a range of tools, including
the following key metrics:

¢ Interest rate sensitivity (DVO1): expresses the linear approximation of the impact on a portfolio’s present value
resulting from a one basis point (0.01%) parallel shift in yield curves, where the approximation tends to be closer to
the true change in the portfolio's present value for smaller parallel shifts in the yield curve. The DVO1 is a transparent
and intuitive indicator of linear directional interest rate risk exposure, which does not rely on statistical inference.

¢ Economic value scenario analysis: expresses the impact of several pre-defined scenarios (e.g. instantaneous
changes in interest rates) on a portfolio’s fair value. This metric does not rely on statistical inference.

The impacts of adverse shifts in interest rates on the economic value and net interest income of the Bank are
significantly below the regulatory capital threshold used by regulators to identify excessive levels of non-trading interest
rate risk. Therefore this risk is not capitalised within the Pillar 1 regime rather, it is analysed within the ICAAP and
addressed in the PRA’s determination of the CSUK's Pillar 2 capital requirements.

The impact of a one basis-point parallel move in yield curves on the fair value of interest rate-sensitive non-trading
positions would have amounted to -£8.62k as at 31 December 2022 compared to £12.6k as of 31 December 2021.
Non-trading interest rate risk is assessed using other measures including the potential value change resulting from a
significant change in yield curves.

As of 31 December 2022 the fair value impacts of
* A fair value loss of £3.55m (2021: £3.48m) for a +200bps move.
* A fair value gain of £1.77m (2021: £0.5m) for a -200bps move

Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates ('IBOR')

There were no significant issues raised during 2022 following the successful execution of the Bank's transition strategy
at the end of 2021 for Swiss franc ('CHF"), Euro (EUR'), Pound Sterling (‘GBP’), Japanese Yen (\JPY') and select
USD London Interbank Offered Rate ('LIBOR') settings.

As at 31 December 2022, there are no financial instruments outstanding that reference benchmark interest rates which
are required to be transitioned to an altemative benchmark rate.
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v. Liquidity Risk

The risk refers to the Bank'’s ability to efficiently meet both expected and unexpected current and future cash flow and
collateral requirements without affecting either daily operations or the financial condition of the Bank.

CS group-wide Management of Liquidity Risk

CSUK's liquidity is monitored and managed within the CS group wide liquidity management framework which applies
these general principles:

CS adopts the Bank for International Settlements (‘BIS') Principles of Sound Liquidity Risk Management (‘LRM’) in

« compliance with all regulatory liquidity risk regulations at Group and entities level. CS uses a centralised funding model,
ensuring that the CS group and its local entities remain appropriately funded, both under business as usual and in the
event of a liquidity stress period — as defined by both the CS and the regulatory stress testing frameworks.

The Group liquidity and funding strategy is approved by the Group Capital Allocation and Risk Management Committee
(‘CARMC") and overseen by the Group Board of Directors. The implementation and execution of the funding and liquidity
strategy is managed by Treasury. Treasury ensures adherence to the funding policy and the efficient coordination of the
secured funding desks.

This approach enhances the ability to manage potential liquidity and funding risks and to promptly adjust the liquidity and
funding levels to meet stress situations. The Group liquidity and funding profile is regularly reported to Group CARMC
and the Group Board of Directors. There is also an independent risk management function that proposes the risk
threshold, and monitors the liquidity risk of our businesses, that reports directly to the Group Risk Management
Committee. The Group Board of Directors is responsible for defining the overall threshold for risk in the form of a risk
appetite statement.

The liquidity and funding profile reflects the strategy and risk appetite and is driven by busiriess activity levels and the
overall operating environment. The liquidity and funding profile has been adapted to reflect lessons learned from the
financial crisis and more recent market stresses, the subsequent changes in the business strategy and regulatory
developments. Credit Suisse has been an active participant in regulatory and industry forums to promote best practice
standards on quantitative and qualitative liquidity management.

The funding sourced by CS group is part of an Asset-Liability Management (‘ALM’) strategy aimed at maintaining a
funding structure with long term stable funding sources being in excess of illiquid assets. CS primarily funds the balance
sheet through core customer deposits, long-term debt and shareholders’ equity.

To address short-term liquidity needs, a portfolio of highly-liquid securities and cash is maintained: This liquidity buffer is
managed to sustain operations for an extended period of time in the event of a crisis.

The targeted funding profile is designed to enable CS to continue to pursue activities for an extended period of time
without changing business plans during times of stress. The principal measures used to monitor the liquidity position of
the Bank are the regulatory metric Liquidity Coverage Ratio ('LCR') and internal liquidity metric (‘Barometer’) both 30-
day short-term stress metrics. The Barometer requires CS to manage the liquidity position over a pre-defined time
horizon over which the adjusted market value of unencumbered assets (including cash) exceeds the aggregate value of
contractual outflows of unsecured liabilities plus a conservative forecast of anticipated contingent commitments. This
framework is supplemented by the modelling of additional stress events and additional liquidity risk measurement tools.

In the event of a liquidity crisis, CS activates its Contingency Funding Plan (‘CFP"), which focuses on the specific actions
that can be taken in the event of a crisis, including a detailed communication plan for creditors, investors and customers.

The CFP is activated by the Funding Execution Committee, which includes senior business line, funding and finance
department management adapted to include the relevant stakeholders depending upon the degree and nature of stress.
This committee would meet frequently throughout the crisis to ensure that the plan is executed.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ('BCBS') issued the Basel lll international framework for liquidity risk
measurement, standards and monitoring. The framework includes a LCR and Net Stable Funding Ratio ('NSFR'). Both
metrics are incorporated into the overall LRM framework of CS as mentioned above. The BCBS has stated that it will
review the effect of these liquidity standards on financial markets, credit extension and economic growth to address
unintended consequences.

The LCR aims to ensure that banks have a stock of unencumbered HQOLA available to meet liquidity needs for a 30-day
time horizon under a severe stress scenario. The LCR is comprised of two components: the value of the stock of high
quality liquid assets in stressed conditions and the total net cash outflows calculated according to specified scenario
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parameters. The ratio of liquid assets over net cash outflows is subject to an ongoing PRA minimum requirement of
100%.

The NSFR establishes criteria for a minimum amount of stable funding based on the liquidity of a bank’s assets and
activities over a one-year horizon. The NSFR is intended to ensure banks maintain a structurally sound long-term funding
profile beyond one year and is a complementary measure to the LCR. The standard is defined as the ratio of available
stable funding over the amount of required stable funding. From January 2022, the NSFR became a PRA regulatory
requirement, set at a level of 100%.

Legal Entity Management of Liquidity Risk

The liquidity risk of the Bank is managed as part of the overall CS group global liquidity risk management framework.The
Bank manages a series of regulatory legal entity liquidity metrics including LCR and NSFR. Such compliance
requirements are measured as part of the Prudential Regulation Authority's Individual Liquidity Guidance ('ILG") which
results in the Bank holding a local liquid asset buffer of qualifying securities and cash.

The Bank has implemented a liquidity risk management framework including legal entity goverance, systems and
controls and frequent management information to effectively measure, monitor and manage liquidity risk.

Key characteristics determining the Bank's liquidity risk management approach include, but are not limited to:
* Board approved legal entity risk thresholds; Compliance with local regulatory requirements;
* Funding of illiquid assets on a term basis;
* Holding a liquid asset portfolio composed of highly liquid unencumbered assets;

¢ Intemnal stress testing of the liquidity profile Independent risk management function Liquidity limits and
monitoring; and

*  The liquidity value of assets, liabilities and calibration of contingent liabilities being aligned with the CS global
liquidity risk methodologies.

The legal entity risk tolerance and assumptions underlying the relevant stress tests, which form part of the Bank's
liquidity risk management framework, are proposed via the CSUK ALM CARMC by LRM and CRO and are approved by
the Board Risk Committee, on at least an annual basis or as market conditions dictate.

Treasury is responsible for maintaining a CFP that details specific dealing strategies, actions and responsibilities required
under distinct stages of increasing severity. Treasury supports the plan with key liquidity tools, including early waming
indicators. The CFP gives consideration to the impact of operational constraints in terms of time and ability to monetise
assets, trapped liquidity and daylight collateral requirements.

The following table sets out details of the cash and bank balances:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Balance with Central Bank 2,116 2,705
“Balances with other banks 1,032 '330
Balances with reiated parties 472,561 405,047
Total 475,709 408,082
ECL (45) (18)
Net 475,664 408,064

The above table shows that most of the cash held by the Bank is placed with related parties within the CS group. This
concentration risk is managed through appropriate limit setting and daily monitoring of the net cash exposure to the CS
group. Treasury monitors the cash balances with CS group at a maturity and currency level to ensure the optimal
balance to meet internal and external liquidity requirements at the lowest cost to the Bank.
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The following table sets out undiscounted cash flows of the remaining contractual maturity of all financial liabilities:

on’ <3 '3-12 S

31 December 2022 demand months months 1-5years > 5years Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Deposits 695,091 30 1_ ,806 98,433 1,716 - 1,097,146
i e ol mew = == - een
Other liabilities 5,325 5,375 13,835 2,030 - 26,565
Short-term borrowings - 345,811 504,614 — — 850,425
Long term debt - 6,404 2,191 538,550 30,679 577,824
Total Liabilities 719,029 659,496 619,073 542,296 30,679 2,570,573
On <3 3-12
31 December 2021 demand months months 1-5years > 5years Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Deposi’[s1 1,448,181 88,048 76,274 1 - 1,612,504
Irdng fpancliaites wm - = - um
Other liabilities 9,620 9,572 1,220 — — 20,412
Short-term borrowings' — 401,953 602,437 — — 1,004,390
Long term debt’ . 427 1282 539,796 28,428 569,933
Total Liabilities 1,471,824 500,000 681,213 539,797 28,428 3,221,262

12021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.

Liabilities in trading portfolios have not been analysed by contractual maturity because these liabilities are used to risk
manage positions and can be closed out at very short notice. They have been classified as being ‘on demand’ at their
fair value.

31. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set out in the following tables include derivative instruments and reverse repurchase agreements that are
subject to an enforceable master netting or similar agreements.

Similar agreements include global master repurchase agreements and any related righis to financial collateral.

Financial instruments such as loans and deposits are not disclosed in the tables. They are not offset in the Statement of
Financial Position.

Derivatives

The Bank transacts bilateral OTC derivatives mainly under International Swaps and Derivatives Association (‘ISDA”)
Master Agreements. These agreements provide for the net settlement of all transactions under the agreement through a
single payment in the event of default or termination under the agreement.

The ISDA Master Agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the Statement of Financial Position. This is
because they create a right of set-off of recognised amounts that is enforceable only following an event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank or the counterparties or following other predetermined events. In addition, the Bank
and its counterparties do not intend to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

100



CREDIT SUISSE\

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 December 2022

Credit Suisse (UK) Limited
Annual Report 2022

The following table presents the gross amount of derivative instruments subject to enforceable master netting
agreements, the amount of offsetting, the amount of derivatives not subject to enforceable master netting agreements
and the net amount presented in the Statement of Financial Position.

Offsetting of derivative instruments

2022 2021
Gross Offsetting Net Gross Offsetting Net
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000  £000
Derivative assets
Derivative instruments subject to enforceable _
master netting agreements 11,431 — 11,431 11,942 11,942
Derivative instruments not subject to enforceable _ _
master netting agreements 7,382 7,382 2,391 . 2,391
Total derivative instruments presented in _ _
the Statement of Financial Position 18,813 18,813 14,333 14,333
of which recorded in trading financial assets
mandatorily at FVTPL 18,813 — 18,813 14,333 — 14,333
Derivative liabilities
Derivative instruments subject to enforceable
master netting agreements 7,294 o 7'294 8,422 - 84
Derivative instruments not subject to enforceable _ _
master netting agreements 11,319 11,319 5,601 5,601
Total derivative instruments presented in _ _
the Statement of Financial Position 18,613 18,613 14,023 14,023
of which recorded in trading financial liabilities 18,613 — 18613 14,023 — 14023

mandatorily at FVTPL

Reverse repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements are generally covered by global master repurchase agreements. In certain situations, for
example in the event of default, all contracts under the agreements are terminated and are settled net in one single
payment. Global master repurchase agreements also include payment or settlement netting provisions in the normal
course of business that state that all amounts in the same currency payable by each party to the other under any
transaction or otherwise under the global master repurchase agreement on the same date shall be set off.

Reverse repurchase agreements are collateralised principally by government securities and have terms ranging from

overnight to a longer or unspecified period of time. In the event of counterparty default, the reverse repurchase

agreement provides the Bank with the right to liquidate the collateral held. In certain circumstances, the access to

financial collateral received may be restricted during the term of the agreement (e.g. in tri-party arrangements).

The following table presents the gross amount of securities purchased under resale agreements subject to enforceable
master netting agreements, the amount of offsetting and the net amount presented in the Statement of Financial

Position.

Offsetting of securities purchased under resale agreements

2022 2021
Gross Offsetting Net Gross Offsetting Net
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Securities purchased under resale
agreements 562,004 — 562,004 1,048,198 — 1,048,198
Total subject to enforceable 562,004 — 562,004 1,048,198 — 1,048,198

master netting agreements
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The following table presents the net amount presented in the Statement of Financial Position of financial assets and
liabilities subject to enforceable master netting agreements and the gross amount of financial instruments and cash
collateral not offset in the Statement of Financial Position. The gross amount of financial instruments not offset in the
Statement of Financial Position includes non-cash financial collateral. The table excludes derivative instruments not
subject to enforceable master netting agreements where a legal opinion supporting the enforceability of netting in the
event of default or termination under the agreement is not in place. Net exposure reflects risk mitigation in the form of
collateral.

Amounts not offset in the Statement of Financial Position

Cash
collateral
Financial  received/ Net
Gross instruments pledged exposure
£000 £000 £000 £000
31 December 2022
Financial assets subject to enforceable master netting agreements :
Derivative instruments 11,431 - (1,578) 9,853
Securities purchased under resale agreements 562,004 (562,004) — —
Other assets- cash collateral on derivative instruments 21,001 — (669) 20,332
Total financial assets subject to enforceable master 594.436 (562,004) (2,247) 30,185
netting agreements ! ! ' !
Financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting agreements
Derivative instruments 7,294 - (669) 6,625
Other liabilities- cash collateral on derivative instruments 4,740 — (1,578) 3,162
Total financial liabilities enforceable subject to master 12.034 _ (2,247) 9787
netting agreements i ’ !
Cash
collateral
Financial received/ Net
Gross instruments pledged exposure
£000 £000 £000 £000
31 December 2021
Financial assets subject to enforceable master netting agreements
Derivative instruments 11,942 - - 11,942
Securities purchased under resale agreements 1,048,198 (1,048,198) — —
Other assets- cash collateral on derivative instruments' 18,762 — — 18,762
Total financial assets subject to enforceable master 1.078.902 (1,048,198) — 30.704
netting agreements T Y !
Financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting agreements
Derivative instruments 8,422 — — 8,422
Other liabilities- cash collateral on derivative instruments' 2,488 — — 2,488

Total financial liabilities enforceable subject to master 10,910

netting agreements - - 10,910

12021 numbers have been restated to include cash collateral on derivative instruments in other assets and other liabilities.

32. Capital adequacy

The Bank'’s capital adequacy is managed and monitored based on the Basel lll capital framework implemented by the
legislative package comprising of CRD V and Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) Il amending the CRD IV (Directive
(EV) 2013/36) and CRR (Regulation (EU) 575/2013) respectively. These regulations were onshored in UK legislation
as part of the PRA final rules that camé into force from 1 January 2022.
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Own Funds

Own Funds comprise a number of ‘tiers'. Tier 1 capital for CSUK is entirely shareholders' equity (Common Equity Tier 1
or 'CET1'). This is supplemented by Tier 2 capital, which for CSUK consists entirely of subordinated debt instruments.
Total capital equals the sum of these, with adjustments including regulatory deductions and prudential filters.

The Bank’s overall capital needs are reviewed to ensure that its own funds can appropriately support the anticipated
needs of its business. The capital management framework is designed to ensure that own funds are sufficient to support
underlying risks of the business activity, to meet the objectives of management and to meet the requirements of
regulators, rating agencies and market participants.

Under the Basel Committee guidelines, an institution must have a ratio of total eligible capital to aggregate risk-weighted
assets of at least 8%. In addition, the PRA requires a CET1 ratio of 4.56% and a Tier 1 ratio of 6.0%. The risk weighted
assets of the Bank reflect the credit, market, operational and other risks of the institution calculated using methodologies
set out in the CRR.

The Bank must at all times monitor and demonstrate compliance with the own funds requirements of the CRR. The
Bank has put in place processes and controls to monitor and manage its own funds and no breaches occurred during
the year.

The following table sets out details of the Bank's own funds at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Own Funds
Total shareholders’ equity 345,686 361,228
Regulatory deductions and adjustments:
Intangible assets and Goodwill (13,933) (14,044)
Deferred tax assets on non-temporary differences (1,340) (995)
Prudent Valuation Deductions 37 (16)
Total Tier 1 (and CET1) capital 330,376 336,173
Subordinated debt 55,000 55,000
Total Tier 2 capital 55,000 55,000
Own Funds 385,376 391,173

33. Non-current assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities disclosed in the following table are non-current, represent long-term assets and liabilities not due for
more than a year:

2022 Restated 2021
£000 £000
Assets
Loans and advances 1,123,372 1,188,719
Deferred tax assets 3,304 5,041
Intangible assets 13,933 14,044
Total assets 1,140,609 1,207,804
Liabilities
Deposits' 1,658 —
Other liabilities 2,030 5,836
Long-term debt’ 556,890 560,579
Total liabilities 560,578 566,415

'2021 numbers have been restated. Details are included in Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies.
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34. Contingent liabilities

The Bank is party to various legal proceedings as part of its normal course of business. The Directors of the Bank
believe that the aggregate liabilities, if any, resulting from these proceedings will not significantly prejudice the financial
position of the Bank and have been provided for in accordance with accounting policy.

35. Subsequent events

Merger of Credit Suisse Group AG with UBS Group AG

On 19 March 2023, Credit Suisse Group AG and UBS Group AG entered into an agreement and plan of merger (‘the
merger’), to be completed at a date yet to be determined. CSUK is a consolidated subsidiary of Credit Suisse Group AG
and the outcome of the plan to merge Credit Suisse Group AG and UBS Group AG could result in a decision to change,
liquidate or merge the Company with another UBS subsidiary following completion of the merger.

Based on the merger developments discussed above, the following accounting impacts on the financial statements may
occur for periods ending after 19 March 2023:

Deferred Tax Asset

As of 31 December 2022, CSUK had a net deferred tax asset of £3.3m. Based on the proposed merger agreement,
CSUK believes an impairment loss on this balance sheet position is possible but is not yet estimable at this time.

Intangible Assets

As of 31 December 2022, CSUK had intangible assets of £13.9m. Based on the proposed merger agreement, CSUK
believes an impairment loss on this balance sheet position is possible but is not yet estimable at this time.

Share based compensation liability

As of 31 December 2022, CSUK had a share-based compensation liability of £3m. Due to events in 2023 impacting
CSG, CSUK has seen significant reduction in this balance sheet position in line with the reduction in the CSG share
price in 2023. '

Dividend

In January 2023, CSUK paid a dividend of £30m out of the capital contribution reserve.
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Country by Country reporting

Article 89 of the Capital Requirements Directive IV (Directive 2013/36/EU) requires institutions (credit institutions or
investment firms, their branches, and subsidiaries) to disclose annually: their name, the nature of their activities and
geographic location, number of employees, turnover, pre-tax profit or loss, taxes paid and public subsidies received, on a
country-by-country basis for the year ended 2022.

All amounts for the Bank and its subsidiaries are reported in GBP (the functional currency of the Bank).

Basis of preparation

Country: The geographical location of CSUK and its subsidiaries considers the country of incorporation or
residence as well as the relevant tax jurisdiction. All entities are in the United Kingdom.

Entity details: the name of the entity, the entity type, and the nature of activity is detailed in the following table.
CSUK is a bank that provides advice relating to advisory and discretionary investment services, banking services
including secured lending facilities and financial planning advice. CSUK's subsidiaries are disclosed separately.

Average Number of Employees: Defined as the average number of persons employed.
Turnover: Defined as net revenues and is consistent with CSUK's financial statements.

Pre Tax Profit/(Loss): Definition of profit/(loss) before tax is consistent with that within CSUK's financial
statements, which includes net revenues less total operating expenses.

Corporation Taxes Paid: Defined as the corporation tax paid by CSUK in 2022 and does not include taxes
refunded to the Bank on account of tax overpayments in prior years.

Public Subsidies Received: Interpreted as direct support by the government and there were no public
subsidies received by the Bank in 2022 (2021: Nil).

Country-by-Country information
Year ended 31 December 2022

. Public
: Parent, Average Pre Tax Corporation by
Qeographical - Name of Entity  Subsidiary 23{;{;“ Number of 7“22358; Profit TaxesPaid  Subsidies
or Branch Employees (£000) (£000) (S000)
United Kingdom (CljeK‘)"tLlsn‘jl'tfde Parent Bank 258 112,483 21,421 - Nil
Buckmore )
United Kingdom  Nominees Subsidiary ggr’:'“;e Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Limited pany
Credit Suisse )
United Kingdom <090 Subsidiary gggg‘;‘ey Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Limited
United Kingdom (Clj%"}_fnﬂ'tize Consolidated  Bank 258 112,483 21,421 - Nl
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Year ended 31 December 2021

Corporation Public
. Parent Average Pre Tax by
Geographical - Name of Entity Subsi d'ia Nature of Turnover . . Taxes Subsidies
: ry g Number of Profit ) h
Location or Branch Activity Employees (£000) (S000) ref&ng&g . Re?&l)v&g
United Kingdom (Cde,g)j'}_lsn‘:l'fesde Parent Bank 26 107,874 10807 . 1,101 Nil
Buckmore .
United Kingdom  Nominees Subsidiary lélgrr:lnie Nil Nil Nit Nil Nil
Limited pany /
Credit Suisse )
United Kingdom ~ Kondon Subsidiary E‘ggg‘;‘; Nl Ni Nil Nil Nil
Limited
United Kingdom ~ GreditSuisse oo colidated  Bank ' 26 107,874 10,907 1,101 Nil
g (UK) Limited

CSUK has not péid or received refund of corporation tax in 2022 (2021: tax refund £1.1m ), the Bank also incurred UK
Bank Levy of £0.6m (2021: £0.6m), employer’s social security of £4.6m (2021: £5.0m) and irrecoverable UK value
added tax (‘'VAT') of £2.3m (2021: £2.1m).
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Report on the audit of the country-by-country information

Opinion

In our opinion, Credit Suisse (UK) Limited's (the "Bank" hereafter) country-by-country information for the year ended 31
December 2022 has been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Capital
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.

We have audited the country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2022 in the section headed
Country-by-Country Reporting of the Annual Report 2022.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs (UK)"), including ISA (UK)
800 and ISA (UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’
responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information section of our report. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
country-by-country information in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public
interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation

In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention to the relevant
section of the country-by-country information on page 105 which describes the basis of preparation. The country-by-
country information is prepared for the directors for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Capital
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. The country-by-country information has therefore
been prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework and, as a result, the country-by-country information may
not be suitable for another purpose.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of
the disclosure made in note 2 to the financial statements contained with the Annual Report 2022 (the “financial
statements”), other information accompanying this country-by-country information, concerning the Bank's ability to
continue as a going concern.

The Bank is a member of the group (“CS group”) headed by their ultimate parent, Credit Suisse Group AG (“CS Group
AG"). The Bank is dependent on ongoing support from other members of the CS group, in order to continue in
operation. Following a period of severe stress the CS Group AG has entered into an agreement to merge with UBS
Group AG. At the date of approval of the country-by-country information, the merger has not been completed and the
impact of the plan of merger on the future operation of the Bank has not been confirmed. These circumstances, as
more fully explained in note 2 to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt on the ability of the Bank to continue as a going concem. The country-by-country information does not
include the adjustments that would result if the Bank was unable to continue as a going concem.

In auditing the country-by-country information, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the country-by-country information is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Bank's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included the following procedures.

* We obtained, reviewed and challenged management's assessment setting out factors relevant to the ability of
the entity to continue as a going concern, including the capital and liquidity position, noting that this assessment
is based on the assumption that the Bank is reliant on funding from their parent, Credit Suisse AG.

* We considered management's assessment of the ability of the CS group to provide support as set out in the
letter of intent, which is dependent on funding from the Federal Council of the Swiss Confederation and the
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Swiss National Bank (*SNB") in the period prior to the merger and then on the successtul closing of the
merger. We performed the following procedures in relation to this assessment.

* We inspected contracts and transaction terms related to intra-group funding facilities and reconciled the Bank's
liquidity and capital resources as at the reporting date to management's accounting records (engaging experts
from our prudential regulation practice to support this assessment where necessary).

* We inspected public announcements regarding the liquidity support provided by the SNB and the Federal
Council of the Swiss Confederation and performed procedures to understand management’s assessment of the
ability of the CS group to provide support prior to and subsequent to the merger in the context of these liquidity
facilities.

* We read the public announcements by the CS group, UBS Group AG, the Swiss government and regulatory
authorities in Switzerland and the UK to understand the scope, timeline and probability of completion of the
planned merger.

* We considered possible actions which may be taken by UBS Group AG subsequent to the merger in relation to
the Bank and the likely timeline for such actions and assessed the likelihood that their operations would cease
in the period for assessing going concem.

* We reviewed correspondence with regulatory authorities and held bilateral meetings with regulators, including
the PRA, to discuss matters including the capital and liquidity position of the Bank, possible factors influencing
the successful completion of the proposed merger and prospects for the Bank subsequent to the merger.

* We assessed whether the directors’ disclosures in relation to going concern adequately reflect the risks and
uncertainties facing the Bank based on our understanding of the business.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Country-by-Country Report - description as defined in the
second paragraph of the opinion section above other than the country-by-country information and our auditors' report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the country-by-country information does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the country-by-country information, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the country-by-country information or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material
misstatement of the country-by-country information or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the country-by-country information in accordance with the
requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the basis of
preparation, and for determining that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are acceptable in the
circumstances. The directors are also responsible for such interal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of country-by-country information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to continue
as a going concem, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.
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Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country lnformatlc;n

It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013,

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether dus to fraud or errof, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or emor and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this country-by-country information. ’

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibiities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of imegularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting imegutarities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Bank and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and legulabons related to secun'ties markets, tradlng and other financial pmducts and services including oonduct of

We also considered those laws and reguiabons that have a direct impact on the country-by-country information such as
the Companies Act 2006 and the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporling) Regulations 2013. We
evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipuation of the country-by-country information
(induding the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to misstatement in
disclosure. Audit procedures performed by the Bank's engagement team and/or supporting auditors included:

*  enquiring with management and, where appropriate, those charged with govemance.

* obtaining an understanding of the relevant laws and regulations, induding the relevant requirement of the
Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013;

* obtaining client schedules and other information used to prepare country-by-country disclosures and agree to
audit work performed and audit evidence; and’

* testing taxes paid.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the
country-by-country information. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the
risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealiment by, for example, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, or through cllusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is Iocat.ed on the FRC's
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Bank's directors in accordance with the Capital
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or*to any other person to whom this report is shown or
into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

The engagement partner responsible for this audit is Amena Shaista.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London
25 April 2023
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